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Ashleigh Loker, Cashier at Campbells Cash

and Carry, Northmead, NSW.

distribution company operating in the grocery and
liquor wholesale distribution industries through its

Metcash Limited is a leading marketing and

ABOUT US

> |GA Distribution

three business pillars:

DUR CORE VALUES

(Independent Grocers of Australia)

> Australian Liquor Marketers
> Campbells Cash & Carry
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THE VEAR'S RIGHLIGHTS

i > Net profit after tax rose 1 1 o3 PENCENNE > Capital reorganisation completed, W@EaSH

| $770.7m* despite sales reduction of 0.7%; now an Austrelian owned cempany;
| g : :

’ - Uperating cash flow remained - Aeguisition of Feedland Asseciated
; @‘@’f@@gg ﬂ 3.8 generated: Limited’s Australian businesses underway.

* Before Metoz goodwill amortisation, on a 52 week comparable basis.

DUR MISSION STATEWMENT

1o e (he marketing and distrituitien leader in food and other
ieSt-moving CONSUmer geeds
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Russell Smith, Branch General Manager and Wayne
Weldon, Operations Manager at Amalgamated
Confectionery in Springwood, Qld.

Strong sales growth

was experienced in the
petrol and convenience
store market resulting in
Campbells’ market share
of the total convenience
market growing to

24 per cent.
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Carlos S. dos Santos, Chairman. Andrew Reitzer, Chief Executive Officer.

2005 has been an important year in the company's
development and in terms of profit and cash flow
generation, it has been a successful year.

The Group’s net profit after tax rose | 1.3 per cent from $98.9m (52 week adjusted) to $110.1m
in the 52 weeks to 30 April 2005, before goodwilt on consolidation of the newly acquired Metoz
Holdings Limited (Metoz) companies, while cash flow from trading rose from $17 1m to $183.6m.
After Metoz goodwili amortisation, profit after tax for the year was $104.9m.

A capital reorganisation has been put in place with a new holding company, Metcash Limited, now
owning Metcash Trading Limited as well as the former parent, Metoz. This means that Metcash

is now an Australian owned public company. Simultaneousty, a bid to acquire the Australian

assets of Foodland Associated Limited (FAL), the Western Australian based wholesale grocer and
supermarket operator, was launched.

There has been strong market support for both the capital reorganisation and the FAL acquisition
and the value of Metcash shares has increased substantially to the benefit of Australian shareholders
as a result.

Financial Results

The results for the year included another strong
performance by the group’s largest division, IGA
Distribution, which posted a 9.6 per cent growth in
earnings before interest and tax to $141.6m. This
came off a sales decrease of | per cent reflecting the
loss of the supply contract with Franklins. Excluding the
Franklins business, the result was a sales growth of 4
per cent (for comparable stores). The increased profit
in the face of a sales decrease was an excellent result.

Campbells Cash & Carry also had a good year, lifting earnings before interest and tax by 17.8 per

centto $17.3m. Strong sales growth was experienced in the petrol and convenience store market,

resulting in Campbells’ market share of the total convenience market growing to 24 per cent. This will

be further strengthened by the recently announced supply agreement with the 350-strong 7-Eleven
stores across Australia, that is expected to add a further $200m per annum to Campbells' sales.

Australian Liquor Marketers experienced a 14.6 per cent drop in earnings before interest and tax
to0 $28.2m. This was largely due to the loss of business with Australian Leisure & Hospitality and

other chain store acquisitions in the liguor market. A large percentage of the Australian Leisure &
Hospitality business was subsequently regained towards the end of the financial year.




Capital Reorganisation

As a consequence of Metoz (formerly Metro Cash & Carry Limited of South Africa) selling its African
business and other assets to a consortium including Metoz management, the only remaining asset

of the listed company was its majority shareholding in Metcash Trading Limited. Metoz shares were
trading at a discount to the underlying value of its Metcash investment and two key shareholders
wished to sell their shareholding in Metoz. During March this vear, schemes of arrangement
incorporating a capital reorganisation were successfully concluded simultaneously in South Africa and
Australia, in accordance with which Metoz shareholders accepted the offer by the new company,
Metcash Limited, to acquire their shares. Metcash Lirmited now owns |00 per cent of Metcash Trading
Limited and is the new holding company. This process removed the uncertainty and concerns arising
from the desire of the Metoz shareholders to sell their shares and provided them with fair value for
their holdings.

As a result of the capital reorganisation, this year's annual report contains the | | months results under
the control of Metcash Trading Limited and one month under Metcash Limited. The statutory reports
for each of the two companies are included in the annual report, but for ease of reference, composite
financial statements for 12 months have also been included. This allows the results of the year to be
reviewed and also facilitates comparison with previous years.

Acquisition of Foodland Associated Limited (FAL)

At the same time that the capital reorganisation was announced, the company also announced a
bid to acquire the Australian assets of FAL. FAL operates a wholesale grocery business in Western
Australia and retail supermarkets in Western Australia, Queensland and northern New South Wales.
Additionally, the company has a major supermarket retailing business in New-Zealand. The Australian
business is seen as complementary to the existing Metcash businesses, two of which do not operate
in Western Australia.

The acquisition of the FAL Australian business will fulfi
Metcash's long held ambition to become the third force
in the Australian retail market. There are substantial a
synergies and economies of scale to be gained from the  asove: zes Baiow Soraman, ALk, Cresemend 0
efficient integration of the FAL Australian operations into |

, . . . BELOW: Peter Lord, Victoria State Manager, IBA, at
Metcash's existing business p||lars_ Cellarbrations store in South Melbourne, Vic.
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The Directors of FAL have recommended 1o their shareholders that

the Australian and New Zealand businesses be sold to Metcash and
Woolworths Limited respectively, through the medium of a Scheme

of Arrangement which is expected to be finalised in October of this year.
On the successful completion of the Scheme of Arrangement, Metcash
will become the owner of the FAL Australian businesses and Woolworths
Limited will own the New Zealand businesses and a small number of FAL
Australian retail supermarkets.

As it is not the company’s philosophy to operate supermarkets or other
stores in competition with its retail customers, the 61 Action stores
acquired from FAL will be divested to existing IGA Distribution customers,
other potential buyers and management and staff.

Future Qutlook

The key operating objectives for the 2006 financial year will be to

maintain the strong growth of the existing Metcash businesses whilst
assuming control of and integrating the FAL Australian business, including,
the operating systems and all merchandising, financial and administrative
functions.

.As a general observation, the three Metcash business pillars sell ‘everyday’

products that are usually not subject to material fluctuations due to the

Grant Gearing, NSW/ACT Distribution Manager,
Blacktown, NSW.

The results for the year
included another strong
performance by the
group’s largest division,
IGA Distribution, which
posted a 9.6 per cent
growth in earnings
before interest and tax
to $141.6m.

country’s economic activity and the availability of discretionary spending.
Thus, in relation to the three existing businesses:

¢ |GA Distribution’s strong marketing and differentiated retail offer should deliver sales and profits
in fine with industry trends.

e Campbells Cash & Carry is expected to benefit from its increased penetration into the
petrol and convenience store market whilst the benefits of its new structure should also start
to flow through.

> ALM, whilst facing a tough competitive environment, is expected to hold its own.

Shareholders will also derive some benefit from the integration of the FAL Australian business.
This will only start to flow in the second half of the 2006 financial year, depending on when
Metcash gets control of the business.

The 2006 financial year should be exciting for the company and its shareholders.

Appreciation

Now that our successful relationship with Metoz has ended, it is timely to record the debt of
gratitude owed to that company for its assistance in turning Metcash Trading Limited around from
the poorly performing company trading as Davids Limited to the strong and vibrant company it is
today. Without the involvement of Metoz, its leadership and the management it provided to the
Australian operations, it is doubtful that the company would have survived.

We also take this opportunity of thanking our fellow directors, employees, customers and
suppliers for their hard work, support and wise counselling during the past year.

Carlos 5. dos Santos Andrew Reitzer
Chairman CEO



Full Year Earnings per Share (cents)

20

PBT and Goodwill amortisation as a per cent of Sales

3.0%

2.5%

2.0%

1.5%

1.0%

0.5%

0.0%

Cost of doing business as a per cent of Gross Profit

100%
95%
90%
85%
80%
75%
70%
65%

60%

1650 1630

i

i
1
i
|

1.53

113

1
1.87

00

02 03

| [“ ﬁé_é 68.06

] L7100
|
|

Metcash Value Added Statement

B Employees
B Shareholders

Government
{_ Reinvested

1 Lenders

20%

$§'000
Revenue 7,624,377
Less Expenses / Cost of Goods Sold (6,.984613)
Value Added 526,561
Percentage of
Employees 52% 280,932
Government 14% 73,645
Lenders 2% 8,050
Shareholders 20% 102,924
Reinvested 12% 61,010
100% 526,561
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Operations Summary
Major Activities

>

IGA Distribution’s role is to be ‘The
Champion of the Independent Retailer’.

Marketing and distribution specialists, supply
over 4,500 independent grocery customers

in NSW, Victoria, Queensland and South
Australia.

Providing expertise, tailored to the
Independent Retailer’s requirements. From
the full range of marketing, merchandising,
buying and distribution services to the
1,099 1GA stores and distribution for 658
Foodworks/AUR stores.

Operating eight major distribution centres,
benchmarked to international standards, to
deliver 21,000 SKUs of dry, chilled and frozen
groceries to 4,500 retail grocery customers.

Significant Achievements

>

Sales increased by 4 per cent for
comparable stores.

Increased EBIT of 9.6 per cent to $14.6m.

Recovered from loss of Franklins business
with associated warehouse facilities closed
down and all related costs and overheads
removed.

Opening of 58 new stores, 45 major store
refurbishments and 23 extensions completed
during the year.

Successful consolidation of the IGA network
into Supa IGA and IGA.

26.5 per cent annual growth of corporate
brand SKUs and 54 per cent increase in the
range of fresh produce offered.

Successful repositioning of the 1GA brand
through the ‘Local Heroes’ TV campaign and
co-sponsorship of the ‘Ready Steady Cook’ TY
program.

Future Direction

>

>

>

Successfully integrate the FAL wholesale
distribution system into the IGAD network.

Successfully divest the 61 FAL Action stores
to independent retailers.

Extract all available synergies from the
FAL business.

Further expand the existing customer base
by implementing the 149 retail development
opportunities that are ‘currently on the books’.

Complete the IGA multi-store owner
‘lock~in" program to secure the major
portion of the current customer base.

3

FROM LEFT: Derek Lundberg, General Manager Commercial & Warehouse Operations and
Carl Salem, IGAD National Merchandise Manager, review stock profit deals. Silverwater, NSW.

During 2004, the Franklins supply contract was
terminated. For the first time in recent years, this
resulted in a decrease in the IGA Distribution
sales base. On a 52 week comparable basis, sales
declined by | per cent compared to the previous
year. The result was also impacted by zero food
inflation during the year. However, when the
sales of comparable stores are examined a 4 per
cent increase in volume was achieved. This was
a credible result in the light of market conditions.

Despite the lower level of sales, earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) grew by 9.6 per

cent {again on a comparable 52 week basis) to $141.6m. This was achieved by a number

of factors, including continuing to grow income lines at a higher rate than the sales increase,
maintaining direct cost relationships and minimising fixed cost increases. Importantly, all costs
and overheads related to the lost Franklins business were removed and associated warehouse
facilities closed down. The speed with which these actions were taken helped to minimise the
effect of the lost volume on the bottom line.

Reductions in the cost of doing business continued with further productivity gains being
obtained from the ‘voice pick’ system, which is now also being implemented at all dry and
perishable distribution centres. At the same time, customer service levels increased from the
previous high levels.




LEADING INDEPENDENTS FORWARD
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| | . | Customers’ retall square
Customers’ retail square metreage increased again with the completion of 58 new . !“ . s
stores, 45 major store refurbishments and 23 extensions. This is @ major engine for M@tr@ég@ UWCT@@S@@ @g@ﬂn Wﬂth
sales gromh and' custonjers are as§isted with their exp;nsions with the provision of th@ @@mpﬂ@ﬂ()m ©f 58 AEW Sﬁ@ﬁ“@g
planning and design advice, help with equipment selection and, where necessary,
financial assistance to fund the developments. A further |49 developments have

been identified — these will be implemented over the next two years ensuring
future sales growth.

IGA Distribution has a number of multi store owners and their volume is an
important part of the sales base, providing anchor volumes that enable the overall
business to remain competitive and provide independent retailers with competitive
prices and marketing programs. To secure the multi store volumes for the future a
variety of mechanisms are being utilised. One approach was announced during the
year, the planned acquisition of a 26 per cent interest in the equity of Ritchies Stores
Pty Ltd. Ritchies operates 36 Supa IGA stores in Victoria and New South Wales.
This equity investment will mainly be utilised by Ritchies to fund the development
of 25 new stores over the next five years. Not only has the investment secured the
retention of the Ritchies volume for the benefit of all IGA Distribution’s independent
customers but it is also fuelling future growth.

The IGA network was consolidated into Supa IGA and 1GA stores during the year.
Additionally, the brand was repositioned with the launch of the new ‘Local Heroes'
TV commercials and part sponsorship of the new Channel 10 show, ‘Ready Steady
Cook'. These programs are reinforcing the positive image of IGA with consumers.

Acquisition of the Foodland Associated Limited Australian business is expected to
take place in the second half of the 2006 financial year. IGA Distribution will focus
on maintaining current business, whilst integrating the FAL Western Australian
business into the network and implementing IGA Distribution programs. New
owners will be found from our existing customer base, Western Australian
independent retailers and FAL management and staff for the 61 Action stores that
will be acquired. The speedy and effective integration of the FAL Australian business
into IGA Distribution will be necessary to ensure the process is seamless and all FROM LEFT: Trevor Wilson, National Retail Operations Manager and Jonathan
synergies are realised. Carlile, IGA Nationa! Business Development Manager. Silverwater, NSW.
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The brand was
repositioned with
the launch of
Heroes' TV
commercials and
part sponsorship of
the new Channel
10 show, ‘Ready
Steady Cook'.

FROM LEFT: Andrew Divaris, GM IGA Marketing; Celia Abood. IGA Marketing Coordinater; Kylie Gollan,
Senior IGA Marketing Coordinator and Michael Dempsey, IGA National Brand Manager. Silverwater, NSW.
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Operations Summary

Major Activities

>

Broad range liquor wholesaler,
supplying over 13,000 hotels, liquor
stores, restaurants and other licensed
premises throughout Australia and
New Zealand.

Provides retailers with a one stop shop
that allows them to receive all their
liquor supplies in one delivery, on one
invoice; in full, on time, every time,
together with strong marketing support
and a wide variety of retail services.

Operates out of 24 distribution centres
throughout Australia and New Zealand.

Includes a specialist on-premise
liquor supply and support division
to the on-premise sector including
bars, restaurants and hotels through
Harbottle On-Premise.

Significant Achievements

>

Strong growth in sales of 8.6 per cent
in the ‘on premise’ market.

Growth of Independent Brands
Australia to 1,157 retail liquor stores
and 228 hotel outlets consolidated
under the Cellarbrations, Cheeers and
LiquorWise brands.

Moved to two specially designed
warehouses in South Australia and
Queensland (16,000 m2) — delivering
higher service levels and reduced costs.
Productivity improvements in

four major warehouses with the
implementation of Voice Pick.

Regained the ALH Queensland Business.

Acquired Novocastrian in New South
Wales.

Future Direction

>

Continue to encourage banner
rationalisation through the growth of
Independent Brands Australia and the
Cellarbrations, Cheeers and LiquorWise
brands.

Maximise support for all hotel and
bottle shop banners to increase their
buying strength and improve their
retail offer.

/ : R
i / | e f
FROM LEFT: Customer Ashwin Deo from Liquid and Mary Swann, Account Manager, Allied Liquor,

Auckland, New Zealand.

Due to the loss of the ALH business during the year
and acquisition of key customers by the two chains,
sales were 0.5 per cent below last year (ona 52
week comparable basis). However, if these losses
are excluded, sales increased by 3.2 per cent during
the year. Towards the end of the financial year, it was
announced that the Queensland ALH business had
been regained. On an annualised basis, this will add
$132m to sales volume.

As a conseguence of the lower volumes and the high level of competition in the market place,
earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) were 4.6 per cent lower at $28.2m. Competition and
margin pressure have not diminished and are expected to remain for the foreseeable future.

Membership of Independent Brands Australia (IBA) continues to show good growth and now
stands at |,157 retail liquor stores and 228 hotel outlets. The development of IBA is part of the
program being undertaken by ALM and its liquor store customers to consclidate |2 banners into
the three brands, namely, ‘Cellarbrations’, ‘Cheeers’ and 'LiquorWise'. The targeted membership
of 1,200 independent liquor retailers within the brands by the end of calendar 2005 has almost
been achieved.

Customer Service levels were maintained above industry standards. Two new warehouses were
constructed in Queensland and South Australia and are the most modern liquor warehouses in
Australia. These, together with the implementation of "Voice Pick’ in the Division’s four major
warehouses, will improve productivity and reduce the cost of doing business whilst enhancing
customer service,

Further gains were made in the on premise market segment, that includes restaurants and clubs.
ALM's specialist unit, ‘Harbottle On-Premise’, increased sales by 8.6 per cent and EBIT by {5.1
per cent during the year. This continues to be an attractive market segment.
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As a further step in extending the distribution network, the Novocastrian business was acquired
during the year. Novocastrian services liguor customers on the Central Coast, Newcastle and mid
north coast areas of New South Wales.

For the 2006 financial year, key actions will be focussed around growing IBA and providing strong
support for external banners.

For independent liquor retailers to survive against the strengths of the two retail chains, it is
essential that they drive critical mass through banner consolidation. This process will be continued
with IBA during the year, providing retailers with an improved retail offer supported by strong
marketing and better buying.

Strong support will be provided to external banners. This will include buying support, the
provisions of retail services, technology and IT, and high service levels.

Progress is expected to be made in expanding distribution volumes by warehousing and
distributing a greater share of suppliers’ volumes and reducing their direct distribution. The ALM
distribution network and customer base will provide a low cost and effective afternative to supplier
direct distribution.

N
‘J\ Wi
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FROM LEFT: Scott Lambert, Store Manager,
Beaumont Street Corkers, Newcastle, NSW
and Michael O'Brian, ALM.

As a further step

in extending the
distribution network,
the Novecastrian
business was acguired
during the year.
Novocastrian services
liguor customers in
the Central Coast,
Newecastle and mid
north coast areas of
New South Wales.

FROM LEFT: Ray Hope, Storeman and Grant Piunti, National Distribution Manager ALM, Crestmead, QId.
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Operations Summary

Major activities

>

42 wholesale cash and carry
warehouses across NSW, Victoria,
Queensland, South Australia and
Northern Territory stocking a

broad range of groceries, liquor,
confectionery and foodservice, serving
more than 78,000 business customers.

4 Convenience Store Distribution
Centres (CSD) and 6 specialist
confectionery wholesale outlets.

Focus on the convenience sector of
the market and servicing customers
who buy in quantities that cannot be
economically serviced through a full
case grocery or liquor distribution
centre.

Significant Achievements

>

Sales increase of 0.2 per cent to
$990m, confectionery growing by
24.7 per cent.

Increased EBIT of 17.8 per cent
to $17.3m.

Increased market share of the
modern petrol and convenience
market to 24 per cent.

Business re-engineered to three
divisions, focussed on market
segments.

Successfully negotiated ‘one stop’
supply agreement with 7-Eleven.

Expanded into WA with the acquisition
of CD’s Confectionery Wholesalers.

Expanded penetration of Northern
Territory with acquisition of Alice
Springs business.

Future Direction

>

Continue to grow market share in
the Modern Petrol and Convenience
market.

Complete national confectionery
wholesale network.

Expand ‘one stop’ supply agreements
with other Modern Petrol and
Convenience market operators.

10
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John Nasaris, Branch Manager, with customer, Campbells Cash & Carry, Northmead, NSW.
The 2005 financial year was another successful

one for Campbells Cash & Carry with sales growing
by a further 0.2 per cent to $990m (on a 52 week
comparable basis). Importantly, the sales increase
masks a change in the mix of business with the
important primary categories growing by | .7 per
cent. Within this, confectionery sales increased

by 24.7 per cent for the year. The Primary sales
categories now represent more than 50 per cent
of total sales volume. The product mix change and
further reductions in the cost of doing business
helped to generate an increase in earnings before

interest and tax (EBIT) of 17.8 per centto $17.3m.

During the year, the Campbells business was re-engineered to enable greater focus on the three
main market segments as follows:

Campbells Cash & Carry
* Major Metropalitan Markets: To be served by 25 Cash & Carry branches focussed on strong
promotions, a wide range and a high proportion of ‘Cash & Carry’ business customers;

Campbells Wholesale Distribution
* Rural and Country Markets: To be served by |7 Wholesale Distribution branches focussed on
delivering in full, on time a wide range of products to large geographic areas;



%’VWW

C Store Distribution

¢ Modern Petrot and Convenience Markets: To be serviced by four Convenience Store
Distribution branches and 6 Specialist Confectionery Wholesalers serving the needs of the

$1.6b Modern Petrol and Convenience market with a wide range of products and a low cost,

one-stop supply service of all their needs.

With the acquisition of CD's, a Perth based confectionery wholesaler, the national network of
confectionery ‘route trade' distributors is almost complete. Growth in this business segment is
reflected in the sales increase of 24.7 per cent for confectionery during the vear.

The national ‘footprint' of wholesale distribution outlets was strengthened by the acquisition
of the Independent Grocers outlet in Alice Springs. This joins the Darwin business of the
same name acquired in the previous year and establishes a strong wholesaling presence in the
Northern Territory.

The four CSD warehouses continue to increase market penetration with market share of the
total convenience markets (tiers 1-3) now at 24 per cent. The benefits of this network for
‘one stop shopping’ for convenience stores has been demonstrated by the supply agreement
executed with 7-Eleven. When fully operational, this supply agreement will generate
approximately $200m per annum in sales.

For the coming financial year business focus will continue to be on growing market share in the
petrol and convenience market and confectionery route market.

FROM LEFT: Noel Higgins, Branch General Manager and Gloria Gibbs, Warehouse Supervisor at CD's

Confectionery Wholesalers, WA,

<
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Robyn Wessling, Customer Service Officer, with customer,
at Amalgamated Confectionery, Springwood, Qld.

b A - :i,”

FROM LEFT: Peter Edwards, Operations Manager and
Peter Brown, Despatch Officer, Independent Grocers,
Alice Springs, NT.

With the acquﬁsi@@ﬁ@
CD's, a Perth basec
confectionery whol

complete. Growth
this business segrment”
is reflected in the sales
increase of 24.7 per cen
for confectionery duiring
the year.
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HE BUARI

CARLOS S. DOS SANTOS cA(sA)
Non-Executive Chairman

Member of the Remuneration & Nomination
Committee

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
4 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Carlos dos Santos is the Chief Executive

of Metoz Holdings Limited (Metoz) (formerly
Metro Cash & Carry Limited) which, until April
this year, was the parent company of Metcash
Trading Limited. In addition, he is Chief Executive
of Metcash Trading Africa (Proprietary) Limited,

a company that was owned by Metoz and that
trades in |2 countries across Africa and the

Far East. He has had 35 years industry experience.

FAICD
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman

Chairman of the Remuneration & Nomination
Committee

(TED) MARRIS AT F INST. D, FAIM,

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
28 March 1994

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Ted Harris served as Managing Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Ampol Group
from 1977 to 1987. He was Chairman of
Austratian Airlines from 1987 to 1992, Currently
Mr Harris is Chairman of Arena Management
(Sydney Entertainment Centre), Thakral Holdings,
Australian Radio Network and St. Vincent's Clinic
Foundation. He is Deputy Chairman of APN
News & Media, a Member of the International
Advisory Board of INP News & Media, Life
Governor of the Melanoma Foundation and a Life
Member of the Australian Sports Commission.

He is a former Commissioner of the ABC and was
a member of the executive board of the Sydney
Oflympics 2000 Bid Company.

NDREW REITZER 8.Comm MBL
CEO Metcash Group of Companies

Date of Appointrent to Metcash Trading Limited:
4 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Andrew Reitzer has 27 years experience

in the retailAvholesale industry. Previous positions
at Metro Cash & Carry include Group Operations
Director, heading operations in Russia and Israel,
Marketing Director, IT Director and managing
various operating divisions.



PETER L. BARNES MBA (Melbourne),
B.Comm (Hons)
Non-Executive Director

Member of the Audit Risk & Compliance
Committee

Member of the Remuneration & Nomination
Committee

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
12 November 1999

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Peter Barnes is Chairman of Samuel Smith

& Sons Pty. Ltd. — (Yalumba Wines), a Director
of News Corporation and Ansell Ltd. Mr

Barnes was formerly an executive with Philip
Morris International Inc. He held several senior
management positions in Australia and overseas
— including Managing Director Lindeman Holdings
Ltd and President, Asia Region, based in Hong
Kong.

BERNARD J. KALE B (Sh)
Executive Director

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
8 November 2000

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:

18 April 2005

Mr Hale was formerly a Director of Metro Cash
8: Carry Limited of South Africa.

Mr Hale has 30 years of IT industry experience,
23 of which have been within the Metro Cash

& Carry organisation. Previous positions held in
Metro include Operations Director [T, Group IT
Director, Group Cperations Director (Domestic)
and Corporate Group IT Director.

He was appointed Chief Information Officer of
Metcash Trading Limited on | December 2002.
Prior to being appointed to his current role he
served as a non-executive director of Metcash
Trading Limited.

MIKE JABLONSKI
Group Merchandise Director

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
4 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:

I8 April 2005

Mr Jablonski has 33 years experience in the

Food Industry. Previous positions include: 1984
Merchandise Executive-Foods of OK Bazaars,
1987 — 1991 Merchandise and Marketing Director
of Score Foed Holdings Ltd, 1992 — 1996 Deputy

Group Merchandise Director of Metro Cash &
Carry, 1996 — 1998 Director of Distribution and
Retail Development of Metro Cash & Carry. 1998
to date — Mr Jablonski is the Group Merchandise
Director of Metcash and he is responsible for the
Group's Merchandise, Supplier relationships, and
the income derived thereof.

EDWIN JANKELOWITZ B.Comm, CA (SA)
Finance Director

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
22 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Qualified as a Chartered Accountant (SA) in 1966.
From July 1967 to November 1979 with Adcock
Ingram Ltd in Head Cffice — promoted over time
to Group Company Secretary and then Finance
Director.

Consulting January 1980 to March 1983
— Business management and tax.

Caxton Ltd 1983 — 1997 - Finance Director;
Managing Director; Chairman. Chairman of other
publicly quoted companies.

Metcash Trading Limited — 1998 to date — Finance
Director.

Mr Jankelowitz has spent over 31 years in
corporate offices of listed companies with
excellent corporate governance reputations. He
was a member of the Income Tax Special Court
in South Africa for 20 years (1977 — 1997).

LoU JARDIN
CEQ IGA Distribution

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
24 May 2002

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Jardin has extensive industry experience,
including owning and operating independent
supermarkets and holding senior positions within
a chain store environment, as well as warehouse
and distribution operations. He held a senior
position with Coles Myer for | | years before
joining Metcash in [997 as the National Manager
of Company owned stores. In 1998, Mr Jardin
moved to Queensland as the State General
Manager until his current appointment to the role
of CEQ IGA Distribution.

RICHARD A.LONGES BA (Sydney), LLB
{Sydney), MBA {(NSW)
Solicitor {non-practising)

Non-Executive Director
Chairman of the Audit Risk & Compliance Committee

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
4 January 2000

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Richard Longes has been a director of a number
of public companies and a member of various
government bodies and enquiries for 20 years.

He is currently Deputy Chairman of Lend Lease
Corporation Limited and a director of Boral Limited,
Investec Bank (Australia) Limited, the National Institute
of Dramatic Art and Bangarra Dance Theatre.

Mr Longes was formerly Chairman of General
Property Trust and a co-founder and principal of the
corporate advisory and private equity firm, Wentworth
Assodiates, and prior to that a partner of Freehill
Hollingdale & Page, solicitors.

V. DUDLEY RUBIN CA (SA), H Dip BDP, MBA
Non-Executive Director
Member of the Audit Committee

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
4 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Dudley Rubin is a director of Metoz Holdings
Limited (Metoz) (formerly Metro Cash & Carry
Limited) which, untit April this year, was the parent
company of Metcash Trading Limited. In addition, he
is a director of Metcash Trading Africa (Proprietary)
Limited, a company that was owned by Metoz and
that trades in 12 countries across Africa and the Far
East. He has had 22 years experience in the industry.

MIKE WESSLINK B.Sc (Chem. Eng.) Syd, MBA
{(UNSW))
CEO Australian Liguor Marketers

Date of Appoirtment to Metcash Trading Limited:
24 May 2002

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Wesslink joined ALM in March 1998. He has
worked in the liquor industry for over 31 years
having previously held the Chief Executive position at
Tooheys Limited and The Swan Brewery Company
Limited. More recently, Mr Wesslink worked as
Managing Director of Amcor Containers Packing, Asia
in managing and establishing packaging operations
throughout Asia, particularly in China and Singapore.
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| Edwin Jankelowitz, Andrew Reitzer, Lou Jardin,
Johri Randafl, Mike Wesslink, Ken Bean, Bernard
Hali, Mike Jablonski.

FROM LEFT: David Johnston, Peter Dubbelman,

ANDREW REITZER 8.Comm MBL
CEO Metcash Group of Companies

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
4 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:

18 April 2005

Mr Andrew Reitzer has 27 years experience

in the retail/ wholesale industry. Previous
positions at Metro Cash & Carry include Group
Operations Director, heading operations in Russia
and Israel, Marketing Director, |T Director and
managing various operating divisions.

KEWN BEAN ma, Grad Dip Bus, Dip. Acc.

Chief Executive, Group Logistics and
Corporate Development

Mr Ken Bean has over 34 years experience in
the retail wholesale industry. Previously Ken was
General Manager of Coles Myer Logistics Pty
Ltd and was also responsible for Coles Myer
Asia’s buyer offices. Ken has also held senior
roles in corporate development as well as
finance and administration. He also has significant
industrial property development and construction
experience and is currently a member of the
Logistics Association of Australia.



b

PETER DUBBELMARN mBA (Metb)

" CEOQ, Campbells Cash & Carry

Appointed CEO of Campbells and C Store
Distribution in June 1998. He has over 21 vears
experience in fast moving consumer goods
distribution at wholesale, primarily in multi-site
general management and operations.

Peter has successfully initiated major growth of
the wholesale business through the establishment
of an effective network of Campbells and

C Store Distribution warehouses which service
the hospitality, liquor and convenience sectors in
Australia. Over the last three years an effective
national network of specialist confectionery
wholesale outlets has been established which
provides Campbells with a 25 per cent share

of the confectionery route trade.

BERNARD J. HALE BTh (SA)
Executive Director

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
8 November 2000

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 Aprit 2005

Mr Hale was formerly a Director of Metro Cash
& Carry Limited of South Africa. Mr Hale has 30
years of IT industry experience,

23 of which have been within the Metro Cash

& Carry organisation. Previous positions held in
Metro include Operations Director IT, Group IT
Director, Group Operations Director (Domestic)
and Corporate Group IT Director.

He was appointed Chief Information Officer of
Metcash Trading Limited on | December 2002,
Prior to being appointed to his current role he
served as a non-executive director of Metcash
Trading Limited.

MIKE JABLONSKI
Group Merchandise Director

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
4 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
|& April 2005

Mr Jablonski has 33 years experience in the
Food Industry. Previous positions include: 1984
Merchandise Executive—Foods of OK Bazaars,
1987 — 1991 Merchandise and Marketing
Director of Score Food Holdings Ltd, 1992

— 1996 Deputy Group Merchandise Director of
Metro Cash & Carry, 1996 — 1998 Director of
Distribution and Retail Development of Metro

Cash & Carry. 1998 to date — Mr Jablonski

is the Group Merchandise Director of
Metcash and he is responsible for the Group’s
Merchandise, Supplier relationships, and the
income derived thereof.

EDWIN JANKELOWITZ B.Comm, CA (SA)

Finance Director

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
22 May 1998

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Qualified as a Chartered Accountant (SA) in
1966. From [uly 1967 to November 979 with
Adcock Ingram Ltd in Head Office — promoted
over time to Group Company Secretary and
then Finance Director.

Consulting January 1980 to March 1983

— Business management and tax.

Caxton Ltd 1983 — 1997 ~ Finance Director;
Managing Director; Chairman. Chairman of other
publicly quoted companies.”

Metcash Trading Limited — 1998 to date
— Finance Director.

Mr Jankelowitz has spent over 31 years in
corporate offices of listed companies with
excellent corporate governance reputations. He
was a member of the Income Tax Special Court
in South Africa for 20 years (1977 — 1997).

LOU JARDIN
CEO IGA Distribution

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
24 May 2002

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:
18 April 2005

Mr Jardin has extensive industry experience,
including owning and operating independent
supermarkets and holding senior positions within
a chain store environment, as well as warehouse
and distribution operations. He held a senior
position with Coles Myer for || years before
joining Metcash in 1997 as the National Manager
of Company owned stores. In 1998, Mr Jardin
moved to Queensland as the State General
Manager until his current appointment to the role
of CEQ IGA Distribution.

DAVID JOHNSTON m.Bus (Employment
Law), AFAHRI, JP
Chief Human Resources Officer

Mr Johnston joined Metcash in December 2001 .
He has had 27 years experience in Human
Resources with some of Australia's leading FMCG
companies including Cadbury Schweppes and
Simplot Australia at Senior Executive level. He has
designed and implemented successful programs
in Executive development and implemented
major Culture Change initiatives at a national and
international level.

JOKN RANDALL B.Ec, FCPa, FCIS, MAICD
Company Secretary

Mr Randall joined the company in 1997,
Previously Chief Financial Officer of Metal
Manufactures Limited and Overseas
Telecormmunications Corporation Limited.
President of the Accounting Foundation,
University of Sydney, a former National President
of the Group of 100, NSW President and
National Board member of CPA Australia.

MIKE WESSLINIK (8.Sc (Chem. Eng.) Syd,
MBA (UNSW)}

CEOQ Australian Liquor Marketers

Date of Appointment to Metcash Trading Limited:
24 May 2002

Date of Appointment to Metcash Limited:

18 April 2005

Mr Wesslink joined ALM in March |998.

He has worked in the liquor industry for over

31 years having previously held the Chief
Executive position at Tooheys Limited and The
Swan Brewery Company Limited. More recently,
Mr Wesslink worked as Managing Director of
Amcor Containers Packing, Asia in managing and
establishing packaging operations throughout Asia,
particularly in China and Singapore.

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005 15




=)
[l
=
(rd
=

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
$°000 $°000 $°000 §'000 $°000
INCOME STATEMENT
Net sales 6,993,660 7,173,897 6,695,519 5,769.379 5,378,293
Earnings before amortisation, interest and taxation 192,283 183,842 152,704 17,481 91,072
Earnings before interest and taxation 170,519 163,241 133,549 98915 69,101
Inter=st 1,455 7,590 7,503 9,689 15,058
Ope -ating profit before tax 163,806 155,651 126,046 89,226 57,043
BALANCE SHEET
Metcash shareholders equity 763,588 470,155 427,102 343,634 354,004
Net “angible assets per share (cents) (56) 36 29 16 (12)
Inter=st bearing debt to equity (%) 54 I5 29 51 66
SHARE STATISTICS
Fully paid ordinary shares 739,129,828 636,761,358 630,748,848 604,199,148 485,086,863
Weighted average ordinary shares 675,509,174 633,572,081 620,622,370 531914131 484,302,348
Conerting preference shares - - - - 151,761,855
Basic earnings per ordinary share (cents) 16 6 I3 9 4
Divicends per ordiﬁaw share (cents) 14 I 8.6 5 [.5
Dividends per CPS (cents) - - - 8.43 9
OTH iR STATISTICS
Number of employees 4316 4317 4,202 4,156 57220

FROM LEFT: Vicki Pantazis, ALM Area Manager and

Mark Mead, Bottle Shop Manager — Warners at the Bay,

New castle, NSW.
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YEAR ENDED 30 APRIL 2005

The composite financial results reported below reflect the combined consolidated data of Metcash Trading Limited and its subsidiaries (MTT) for the
period | May 2004 to 7 April 2005 and the consolidated data of Metcash Limited and fts subsidiaries (MTS) for the period 7 April 2005 to 30 April 2005.
The previous year's comparatives relate to Metcash Trading Limited. The information has been presented in this way as the Directors believe it gives the
users a more useful comparison.

CONSOLIDATED
2005 2004
52wks 53wks
MTT&MTS MTT
$'000 $'000
Sales revenue 6,993,660 7,173,857
Cost of sales (6,853,457) (7.012,408)
GROSS PROFIT 140,203 161,489
Other revenues from ordinary activities 517514 450,480
Share of net profits (losses) of associate and joint venture accounted for using the equity methed 273 665
Selling, general and administration expenses (260,458) (225,123)
Borrowing costs expensed (8,050) (7,918)
Warehouse & Distribution expenses (225,676) (223,942)
PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 163,806 155,651
INCOME TAX EXPENSE RELATING TO ORDINARY ACTIVITIES (58,869) (53,899)
PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER INCOME TAX EXPENSE 104,937 101,752
NET PROFIT 104,937 101,752
NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS OF METCASH LIMITED 104,937 101,752
Net exchange difference on translation of financial report of foreign controlled entity 1,347 (481)
Share lssue Costs MTT (6,739) -
Share Issue Costs MTS (12,193) -
TOTAL REVENUES, EXPENSES AND VALUATION ADJUSTMENTS ATTRIBUTABLE
TO MEMBERS OF METCASH LIMITED AND RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY (17,585) (481)
TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN THOSE RESULTING FROM
TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS AS OWNERS 87,352 101,271
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CORPORATE BOVERNANGE

The Directors support and adhere to the principles of corporate governance. In supporting these principles, the Directors acknowledge the need for
the h ghest standards of behaviour and accountability.

The Board

The principal functions of the Board include:

*  Charting the direction, strategies and financial objectives of the Company:

¢ Monitoring implementation of those strategies and the operaticnal and financial performance and risk of each of the Company's activities;
* Feviewing major capital expenditure, acquisitions, divestments and funding;

* Feviewing performance, remuneration and succession of senior management;

*  Monitoring compliance with legal regulatory requirements, including occupational health and safety laws, product safety and the protection of the
environment;

* Monitoring the Company’s relationships with its stakeholders and compliance with ethical standards and the Company's Code of Conduct.

The 3oard’s Charter can be found on the company's web site (www.metcash.com) under the heading “Corporate Governance”.

Nominations to the Board

The composition of the Board is monitored {both with respect to size and membership) to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of skills
and experience.

When a vacancy exists, or when it is considered that the Board would benefit from the services of a new Director with particular skills, the
Remuneration & Nomination Committee selects a panel of candidates with appropriate expertise and experience. This may be supplemented with
advice from external consultants if necessary. The Board, on the Committee's recommendation, then zppoints the most suitable candidate who must
stand for election at the next general meeting of shareholders.

Directors are not appointed for a fixed term but, under the Company’s Constitution, must be re-elected each three years by rotation and are subject
to A5X Listing Rules and Corporations Act provisions

Board Composition (ASX Guidelines Principle 2)

Metcash has an overriding objective that the Board should consist of Directors who provide a mix of industry experience and knowledge and the overall
skill and wisdom to enable the Company to grow for the benefit of all shareholders and stakeholders. The Board places a priority on selection of
Directors for their ability to display independence of mind which will enable them to make decisions impartially and for the benefit of all shareholders.
The Board is conscious that at times this may mean that Board membership does not precisely conform to the ASX Guidelines for composition.

For Jetalls of the skills, experience and expertise of the individual directors, please refer to page 12, headed ‘The Board’, of this report.
The Board of Metcash Limited is currently constituted as follows:

¢ 2 Non-executive Directors, including the Chairman, who were representatives of the former majority shareholder. These Directors have
extensive knowledge and experience of grocery wholesaling and marketing. As they were executives of Metoz Holding Limited, the former
majority shareholder, within the last three years, they do not meet the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Governance Guidelines
definition of independent.

* 3 Independent Directors, holding key positions that include chairing the Board committees of Audit Risk & Compliance and Remuneration &
Nomination. They provide an external perspective and checks & balances for the interests of all shareholders.

* 6 Executive Directors, each of whom is responsible for key activities of the company. Their membership of the Board enables direct access to
key executives by the Independent Directors such that Board discussions and decisions are held on a fully informed basis and it enables the Non-
executive Directors to obtain greater personal knowledge of key executives, aiding the management succession process. It also avoids the
situation, common in a number of corporate collapses, where the Chief Executive Officer was the sole management spokesman on the Board.

The Board of Metcash Limited does not conform to Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) Corporate Gavernance Principle 2, in relation to board
composition in two respects:

I. The Board does not have a majority of independent Directors; and
2. The Chairman (Carlos dos Santos) has an association with the former majority shareholder as described above.

Overall, the Board of Metcash Limited believes that it has the capacity and does bring independent judgement to ear on decision-making. As shareholders
of MMetcash Limited are entitled to be assured as to the belief, the Board last year commissioned Cameron Ralph Pty Ltd, a consultancy speciafising

in toard performance, to conduct a review of the capacity of the Metcash Board to act in that way. Their findings are summarised under the heading
‘Incependent Review of Board Effectiveness’.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE conrmuen

The Board believes that the presence of the Executive Directors adds considerable knowledge and expertise to the operations of the Board, and that
the Board's mode of operation and processes ensure that the presence of the Executive Directors does not limit the ability of the independent
Directors to contribute.

Meither Mr Harris, Mr Barnes nor Mr Longes are substantial shareholders of the company or associated with a substantial shareholder of the
company. They have not been employed by the company in an executive position, are not material suppliers or customers of the group, have no
material contractual relationship with the group, have no interest, business or other relationship, nor have they served on the board for a period
which could be perceived to materially interfere with the director’s responsibility to act in the best interests of the company.

Mr Harris has been a director of Metcash Trading Ltd since 1994. The Board considers Mr Harris’ tenure to have provided valuable leadership
continuity and experience and that this does not in any way limit his ability to act in the best interests of the company. Mr Barnes is Chairman of
Samuel Smith & Sons Pty Ltd and a Director of Ansell Limited, suppliers to the Company, however the level of purchases involved is not considered
material.

Independent Review of Board Effectiveness

Board Performance consultants Cameron Ralph Pty Ltd were engaged last year to conduct an independent review of the Board's effectiveness and in
particular, its capacity to act independently and in the interests of all shareholders. A review was not conducted in the current year as the July 2004
review is judged to be still current. The following summary* of their findings is provided by Cameron Ralph.

“The Cameron Ralph review noted the unique context for Metcash as a large wholesale grocery and liquor company
operating in Australia, with a majority shareholder, Metro Cash and Carry Limited.

Cameron Ralph considered materials provided by the company, interviewed each of the directors and reviewed board
papers and decision processes for several key decisions over the past two years.

Cameron Ralph is satisfied that the Board of Metcash (in its current compaosition) has combined both people and processes
in a manner that enables it to act effectively and to apply independent judgment to actions and decisions. We found that the
presence of the Affiliated and Executive Directors adds to board effectiveness through depth of expertise, without
diminishing the input from the Independent Directors.

Aspects of the culture and group dynamics which contribute to the Board's effectiveness include:

a. high degree of integrity, courage, and diligence of Non-executive Directors
b. high level of industry knowledge amongst the Non-executive Directors

c. open and vigorous culture

d. no inappropriate pressure from majority shareholder

The processes which produce this result include properly constituted and well-functioning committees of the Non-
executive Directors, effective use of the Deputy Chair, full access by Non-executives to company executives,

Cameron Ralph observed that the ability of the Metcash Board to continue to bring independent judgment to bear in
decision-making depends on the current composition, culture, systems and processes. Cameron Ralph made some
recommendations aimed at protecting this capacity for independence of judgment into the future.”

* Cameron Ralph has agreed to the inclusion of this summary in this form. The review was concluded in july 2004 and was confined to the
independence aspect of governance risk. It is not relevant to credit risk or investment decisions.

Independent Professional Advice

The Board has a policy of enabling directors to seek independent professional advice at the company's expense. The Board will review in advance
the estimated costs for reasonableness, but will not impede the seeking of advice.
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Audlit Risk & Compliance Committee

The membership of the Audit Risk & Compliance Committee consists of the following Non-Executive Directors.

Meniber Qualifications Meetings Held Meetings Attended
R A Longes (Chairman) BA. LLB, MBA 3 3
P L 3arnes B Comm (Hons), MBA 3 3
V D idley Rubin CA (SA), HDIP BDP MBA 3 3

The function of the Audit Risk & Compliance Committee is to advise on the establishment and maintenance of a framework of internal control,
effective management of financial and other risks, compliance with laws and regulations and appropriate ethical standards for the management of
Metzash. It also gives the Board additional assurance regarding the quality and reliability of financial information prepared for use by the Board in
dete rmining policies or far inclusion in the financial staternents.

The principal terms of reference of the Audit Risk & Compliance Committee are:

¢ The effective management of financial and other risk through ensuring that systems and management processes are in place to identify and
manage operational, financial and compliance risks. Specific areas of review include:

*  Financial risk and exposure

*  Occupational Health & Safety

* Environmental issues

* HACCP

* integrity of Information Technology systems

The Board reviews the effectiveness of risk management policies and procedures by:

*  Undertaking, annually, a comprehensive strategic and budget review of the Group's activities;

* Reviewing monthly financial performance against budget and updated forecasts at least quarterly

¢ Reviewing the internal audit of the Group’s financial controls, taxation compliance and adherence to policies and regulations; and
* Reviewing annually the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s insurance program.

* The provision of refiable management and financial reporting. This is done by reviewing and assessing the:

- Quality and timing of management reporting to the Board to enable internal and external reporting of the company’s risks, operations and
financial condition;

— Accounting policies and practices against generally accepted accounting principles and the requirements of the Corporations Law, Australian
Accounting Standards and Australian Stock Exchange requirement;

— Half-yearly and annual financial statements,

¢ Compliance with lavss and regulation by monitoring developments and changes in the various rules, laws and regulations relating to the
company's business operations, the responsibilities of directors and reviewing the extent to which the Board and the company are meeting their
obligations and to ensure that all requirements are met.

*  The maintenance of an effective and efficient audit function. This is achieved by:
— Recommending tc the Board the appointment of external and internat auditors;
— Reviewing the effectiveness of the external and internal audit functions;
— Ensuring audit scopes are adequate and cover areas of anticipated risk;
— Review audit findings and management response;
~ Review the independence of the external auditor;
— Ensure auditors have the necessary access to company information and staff to fulfil their obligations.

The Committee’s Charter can be found on the company's web site (www.metcash.com) under the heading “Corporate Governance”.
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Code of Ethics/Conduct
The Company has a Code of Conduct that applies to Directors and all employees. Subjects covered by the Code include:

»  Equal employment opportunity, discrimination and harassment;

*  Security of Company records and assets and confidentiality guidelines

»  Conflict of interest, acceptance of gifts, entertainment and services;

* Fraud, corruption and irregular transactions;

* Legal compliance;

* Honest ethical behaviour;

*  Environmental protection, safe working environment.

The Code can be found on the company’s web site (www.metcash.com) under the heading “Corporate Governance”.

Compliance with the Code is checked through the Company’s processes including internal audit, security, Hurman Resources and OH &S. New staff
members are required to attend an induction program that includes behaviour guidelines. Additionally, the Company's staff appraisal process includes
employees’ performance against ‘Key Behavioural Indicators' as well as ‘Key Performance Indicators'.

The Company also has a Share Trading Policy and a Continuous Disclosure Policy, copies of which can be found on the company's web site

(www.metcash.com) under the heading “Corporate Governance”.

Remuneration & Nomination Committee

Members of the Committee, and attendance at meetings, is shown below:

Member Qualifications Meetings Held Meetings Attended
A E (Ted) Harris, AC (Chairman) F INST D., FAIM, FAICD 4 4
C dos Santos CA (SA) 4 4
P L Barnes B Comm (Hons), MBA 4 4

Responsibilities of the Committee include:

* Advise the Board on remuneration of the CEO and senior management;

* Advise the Board on performance linked compensation for management;

*  Oversee the administration of the Metcash Employee Option Plan;

¢ Advise the Board on directorship appointments, performance of the CEO

* Implement processes to assess the effectiveness of the Board and its Committees.

The Charter of the Committee can be found on the company’s web site (www.metcash.com.} under the heading "Corporate Governance”.
A formal review of the board’s effectiveness was undertaken during the year 2004 by Cameron Ralph Pty Ltd.

In relation to key executives, the company maintains a performance evaluation process which measures them against key performances indicators
and key behaviour indicators. This is performed formally once a year with quarterly reviews.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANGE conmmuen

Reinuneration Policy

The Company remuneration policy can be found on the Metcash Limited website (www.metcash.com) under the heading of Corporate
Governance. It is summarised in the Directors’ Report, together with details of the emoluments of the most highly paid executive officers of the
corripany.

Non-Executive Directors Remuneration

A retirement benefit is paid to non-executive directors for past service. The benefits are in accordance with Section 7.3(g) and (h) of the Company's
Coristitution and Section 200 of the Corporations Law.

On appointment, the Ccmpany entered into an agreement with non-executive directors that a benefit will be paid on their retirement as follows:
¢ Aretiring allowance equal to one half of the Director’s remuneration during the period of service as a Director of the company;
¢ No allowance is paid unless the Director has served for at least three years;
¢ The maximum aflowance that can be paid is an amount equal to the lesser of:

¢ Three times the remuneration earned by the Director in the 12 months immediately prior to the date of retirement; and

¢ The total emoluments of the director during the three years ending on the date of retirement.
This payment does not comply with Recommendation 9.3 of the Corporate Governance Council's Principles of Good Practice, which states that:
“Non-executive directors should not be provided with retirement benefits other than statutory superannuation.”

Thic recommendation was considered by Directors. No benefit could be seen to the Company in the alternative approach of freezing and accruing
exising entitlements and increasing directors’ fees to compensate for future accruals. It was decided to continue the existing arrangements and pay
directors a retirement benefit on the basis shown above, whilst providing full disclosure.

Based on remuneration earned over the past three years, the following amounts would be paid as a retirement benefit had directors resigned at
30 ,April 2005.

Mr A E Harris $294.733
Mr R A Longes $205 551
Mr P L Barnes $205,551

Non-executive directors do not participate in the Company's bonus or share option schemes.

Termination Entitlements

As . consequence of advice taken which identified the benefits to the company of entering into formal employment contracts with Executive
Directors and covering some inadequacies in contracts with other executives, contractual arrangements were agreed with the Chief Executive
Cffizer, the Chief Financial Officer and other key members of the management team.

The remuneration arrangements set out in the contracts are consistent with market practice in their totality (as advised by Hay Group), who have
take n into consideration that, except at the discretion of the Board, any shori-term or long-term incentive opporiunity lapses under the circumstances
of termination and redundancy, and the termination and redundancy payments are based on fixed remuneration only. Key components are summarised
as follows:

Termination of employment

Chisf Executive Officer

I. At the company’s instigation I'5 months written notice or payment in lieu
2. At the employees instigation 3 months written notice
3. Redundancy IS months TEC* as per |. above, plus 9 months TEC*

All other executive directors, key executives

I At the company’s instigation 9 months written notice or payment in lieu
2. At the employees instigation 3 months written notice
3. Redundancy 9 months TEC* as per [. above, plus 6 menths TEC*

* TEC = Total employment cost
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DIRECTORS” REPORT

Your directors submit their report for the year ended 30 April 2005.

DIRECTORS

The names and details of -he company's directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows. Directors were in office
for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Narnes, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities
Car os S dos Santos (Chairman)

A E (Ted) Harris, AC (Deputy Chairman)
Andrew Reitzer (CEQ)

Michael R Jablonski

Edwin M Jankelowitz

V Dudley Rubin

Peter L Barnes

Richard A Longes

Bernard | Hale

Joac Louis S Jardim (Lou Jardin)

Michael Wesslink

For qualifications and experience of Directors, please refer to “the Board” section of this financial report.

Interests in the shares and options of the company and related bodies corporate
As a: the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of Metcash Limited were:

Ordinary Shares Options over
Ordinary Shares

A E Ted) Harris, AC 374,838 -
And-ew Reitzer 1,820,000 680,000
Michiael R Jablonski - 850,000
Edwin M Jankelowitz 760,000 340,000
Peter L Barnes 151,041 -
Richard A Longes 112,500 -
Berrard | Hale - 850,000
Joao Louis S Jardim 140,000 520,000
Michael Wesslink 364,374 540,000
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Cents
Basic: earnings per share 6.3
Dilued earnings per share l6.1
DIVIDENDS
Cents $000
Dividends paid in the vear:
Interim for the year
— or ordinary shares in December 2004 55 35,142
— or ordinary shares in March 2005 4.0 29,563
64,705
Finai for 2004 shown as recommended in the 2004 report
— or ordinary shares 5.0 38,219
38,219
102,924
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate structure
Metcash Trading Limited is a companiy fimited by shares that is incorporated and dorniciled in Australia. Metoz Holdings (South Africa) was the ultimate
parent entity until the Company was acquired by Metcash Limited, which is now the ultimate parent entity.

Nature of operations and principal activities
The principal activities during the year of entities within the consolidated entity were the wholesale distribution of groceries, liquor and
associated products.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of those activities during the year,

Employees
The consolidated entity employed 4,36 employees as at 30 April 2005 (2004: 4,317 employees).

REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Group Overview
A review of the operations during the year, and the results of those operations, appears in the foregoing Chairman's and
Chief Executive Officer’s (CEO) report.

Summarised operating results are as follows:

2005
Revenues Results
$'000 $000
Business segments
Food Distribution 4,292,033 141,621
Cash & Carry Distribution 990,112 17,308
Liquor Distribution 2,285,197 28,240
7,567,342 187,169
Consolidated entity adjustments (55,895) (18.,105)
Consolidated entity sales and operating profit 7,511,447 169,064

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

No significant changes in the state of affairs of the company occurred during the financial year, not otherwise disclosed in the Chairman's and CEO's report.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

Metcash announced on 25 May 2005 that it had reached agreement with Foodland Associated Lid {(FAL) to acquire the Australian business of FAL
excluding 19 Action stores and 3 Action development sites which will be acquired by Woolworths. Metcash will therefore acquire, on a debt free basis,
FALs West Australian Franchise and Supply division, Action Retail division (excluding Woolworths Actions Stores), and all other FAL Australian assets.
Metcash is offering $780m in cash (or $6.61 per FAL share) or $859m in Metcash shares (or $7.29 per FAL share), It is expected the transaction will be
implemented by way of a scheme of arrangement. Documents are expected to be sent to FAL shareholders by FAL during September with the acquisition
becoming effective in October.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS

Information with respect to likely developments is set out within the report of the Chairman and CEO elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental

Metcish considers environmental management an integral part of our corporate responsibility. The implementation of a National Environmental Strategy
has involved the recent undertaking of a national assessment to identify those activities, products and services of Metcash that may have an environmental
impact. The intention of this assessment is to provide a framework for action and for setting environmental objectives and goals and establishing a
disciplined management process for achieving targeted performance levels.

Footl Safety

Metcash continues to operate an effective education and training program to ensure staff at all warehouses comply with all FSANZ Food Standards Code
requirements including the National Food Safety Standards and state Food Act regulations. This includes the ongoing management and continuous
improvement of the food safety training and management system based on HACCP (Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point) risk management
principles that have been progressively implemented over all Metcash warehouses since 2001,

Anncal third party “certified” audits have assisted Metcash to ensure its sites are operating to the highest standard in food safety by identifying and managing
food safety risks and maintaining an effective continuous improvement culture. Throughout 2004 and 2005, Metcash has continued this HACCP based
system of food safety management achieving |00% HACCP Certification across all the existing Metcash sites which is well above national food safety
stanclards required for distribution warehouses.

In 20104/2005 a second full review of Metcash's QA management systems at Metcash Head Office also achieved ongoing HACCP Certification. This
includes a review of the management of Corporate brand specifications, approval of suppliers, product recalls, customer complaints, product label data
management and internal protocols against FSANZ Food Standards Code requirements.

Metcash becamne a signatory to the National Packaging Covenant (NPC) in November 2001. During the year there was an extensive reduction in
card>oard waste by the utilisation of plastic tote bins across the C store distribution sites as well as significant increase in the amount of recycled cardboard
& plastic packaging in all Metcash sites,

In 2004/2005, Metcash also continued to assist in the co-ordination of the ARA Code of Practice for Shopping Bags across the Independent retailer
netviork. The IGA Distribution group was able to support the Retail sector’s reduction of plastic shopping bags by 27% and continues to develop
marleting and in-store initiatives that encourages a further reduction to the December 2005 target of a 50% reduction across the national Supermarkets.

OCUCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY

People are the most impertant part of our business. Metcash acknowledge the need to maintain vigilance towards safety and to be proactive in identifying
new ways to improve performance through actively engaging our people in ‘Managing Safety Together'. Over the past twelve months Metcash has
renewed this commitment with significant investment in the development and commencement of a National safety management strategy that aims to
exceed legislative compliance and reduce workplace injuries.

Group Performance

No. of reported injuries 23% increase
No. of hours lost 4% decrease

Severity rate 0% decrease
No. of claims 15% decrease
Duration rate 259% decrease

Due: to a purposefully targeted focus across the business on reporting injuries to effectively identify and control risk, the number of reported incidents has
incrzased. Reductions in all other areas demonstrate effectiveness in controlling the management of injuries.

This is a pleasing performance and highlights the successful implementation of the new OHS strategy across the group.
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WORKFORCE ENGAGEMENT

For all of us at Metcash, engagement means the alignment of employees' efforts and contributions to those of the business and of shareholders. It is about
constant communication, regular and frequent team briefs and understanding and perhaps more importantly, 'doing something about” what concerns
employees in their day-to-day activities.

Engagement at all levels of the workforce is one key to Metcash's on-going success. Re-enforced by work/life balance policies such as the highly successful
“Pro-Fit", which targets activities and programs designed to enrich the well being of all employees, Metcash continues to acknowledge and value the
contributions of all its employees.

The second climate survey was conducted during 2005 and whilst results are still being compiled at the time of writing, preliminary results show that
employees appreciate the opportunity to voice their feelings about Metcash and particularly the company's willingness to strive for continuous
improvement. Metcash is regarded by employees as a good employer and a great place to work. This is particularly pleasing given the restructuring in
some parts of the business and the continued and unrelenting pressure from our competitors.

With all of the challenges that the FAL integration brings to the business, there is a high degree of confidence in the ability of employees to meet those
challenges and becorme a true "third force” on the grocery wholesaling and retailing sector.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

() The Constitution of the Company permits the grant of an indemnity (to the maximum extent permitted by law) in favour of each Director, the
Company Secretary, past Directors and Secretaries, and all past and present Executive Officers. The Company has entered into Deeds of indemnity
and Access with FJ Conroy, CP Curran, |R Fleming, TS Haggai, DW] Bourke, RS Allan, J} David and Sir Leo Heilscher together with all of the current
directors and certain other officers of the Company. This indeminity is against any liability to third parties (other than related Metcash Trading
companies), by such officers unless the liability arises out of conduct involving a fack of good faith, The indemnity also includes costs or expenses
incurred by an officer in unsuccessfully defending proceedings relating to that person's position.

(i) During the financial year, the Company has paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract of insurance insuring officers (and any persons
who are officers in the future) against certain liability incurred in that capacity. Disclosure of the total amount of the premiums and the nature of the
liabilities in respect of such insurance, is prohibited by the contract of insurance,

DIRECTORS’ AND OTHER OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS

Remuneration policy

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors, the
chief executive officer and the executive team. The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments of
such officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder
benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and executive team. Such officers are given the opportunity to receive their base emolument in a variety
of forms including cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be
optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the company.

To assist in achieving these objectives, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of executive directors’ and officers’ emoluments to the
company’s financial and operational performance. All senior executives have the opportunity to qualify for participation in the Management Bonus Scheme
which provides for an annual cash bonus to be paid where specified financial performance criteria are achieved. In addition, an option plan has been
implemented providing all employees (under the Employee Option Plan, which also covers senior executives), with the opportunity to participate in the
future success of the Company. Details regarding the issue of share options under these two Plans are provided in the notes to the financial statements.

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emolument of each director of the company and each of the five executive officers of the
company and the consolidated entity receiving the highest emolument for the financial year are disclosed in note 30 of the annual report.
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DIRZCTORS' MEETINGS

The numbers of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the number of meetings attended by each
direc:or were as follows:

Meetings of Committees

Directors’ Meetings Remuneration Audit
Nunber of meetings held: i3 4 3
Number of meetings attended:
Carlos S dos Santos 12 4
A E (Ted) Harris, AC 13 4
Andrew Reitzer I3
Mickael R Jablonski I3
Edw n M Jankelowitz 13
V Dudley Rubin I3
Pete- L Barnes 13 4
Richird A Longes I
Berrard | Hale 13
Joao Louis S Jardin 12
Michael Wesslink I3
Notes

Add tionally, the Australian based non-executive directors met with the executive directors twice during the year, between board meetings,
to review operations.

Cornmittee membership
Dur ng the year, the company had an Audit Risk & Compliance Committee and a Remuneration & Nomination Committee. Members acting on the
corr mittees of the board during the year were:

Aucit Risk & Compliance Remuneration & Nomination
RA. Longes (¢} A.E. Harris, AC (¢)

PL. Barnes C.S. dos Santos

V.D Rubin PL. Barnes

Notes

() Designates the chairman of the committee.

For details of the committees, their charters and current membership, please refer to the section under “Corporate Governance”.

ROUNDING

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is applicable) under the
opt on available to the company under ASIC Class Crder 98/0100. The company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

TAX CONSOLIDATION

Effective | May 2004, for the purpose of income taxation, Metcash Trading Limited and its 100% owned subsidiaries have formed a tax consolidated group.
Me nbers of the group have entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly-owned subsidiaries on a pro-rata
bass. In addition the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity defautt on its tax payment
obligations.

CCRPORATE GOVERNANCE

In r2cognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Metcash Trading Limited support and have adhered to the
principles of corporate governance. The company's corporate governance statement is contained in the Corporate Governance section of this annual report.

Signed in accordance with a resclution of the directors.
Andrew Reitzer
Director

Sydney, 22 July 2005
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Metcash Trading Group

Metcash Trading Limited

2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000
Sales revenue 2 6,993,660 7,173,897 -
Cost of sales (6,853,457) (7,012,408) - -
Gross Profit 140,203 161,489 - -
Other revenues from ordinary activities 2 517,514 450,480 105,619 72,233
Share of net profits of associates and joint venture
accounted for using the equity method 2 273 665 - -
Warehouse & Distribution expenses (225,676) (224,001) - -
Borrowing costs expensed 3 (8,050) (7.918) - -
Selling, general & administration expenses (255,200) {(225,064) (939) (1,055)
Profit from Ordinary Activities
Before Income Tax Expense 169,064 155651 104,680 71,478
Income Tax Expense Relating
to Ordinary Activities 4 (58,869) (53.899) (54) (54)
Profit from Ordinary Activities
after Income Tax Expense 110,195 101,752 104,626 71,124
Net Profit 110,195 101,752 104,626 71,124
Net Profit Attributable to
Members of Metcash Trading Limited 23 110,195 101,752 104,626 71,424
Net exchange difference on translation of
financial report of foreign controlled entity 23(c) 1,347 (481 - -
Share Issue Costs 22(b) (11,040) - - -
Total Revenues, Expenses and Valuation
Adjustments Attributable to Members
of Metcash Trading Limited and Recognised
Directly in Equity (9,693) (481) ~ -
Total Changes in Equity other than those
resulting from Transactions with Owners
as Owners Attributable to Members of
Metcash Trading limited 100,502 101,271 104,626 71,124
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 16.3 6.1
Diluted earnings per share {cents per share) 16.1 15.8
Franked dividends per share (cents per share) 5 I15.5 9.6

The Statement of Financial Performance is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Current Assets
Cash zssets
Receivables
Inventories
Other

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Receivables

Invest nents accounted for using the equity method
Other financial assets

Property, plant and equipment

Defer-ed tax assets

Intangible assets

Other

Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Payatles
Interest-bearing liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Provisions

Tota! Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Non Interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities
Provisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Equty

Pareit entity interest
Zontributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated Losses

Tota parent entity interest in equity

Total Equity

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
143,904 33,651 135,435 20,002
6 1,566,289 658,365 1,336,626 243,307
7 402,014 400,987 - -
8 9,707 8,238 7,280 1,145
2,121,914 1,101,241 1,479,341 264,454
9 29,814 9,655 - -
10 2,450 [ 112 - -
I 4,121 840 476,900 476,882
13 129,073 130,174 4,103 4170
4 5,472 2,584 - -
14 244,295 243,092 - -
15 13,568 - - -
428,793 387,457 481,003 481,052
2,550,707 },488,698 1,960,344 745,506
6 744,927 884,055 137,454 109,939
|7 7,995 52,567 - 45,000
4 21,103 13617 - -
18 30,977 32,380 - -
805,002 982,619 137,454 154939
|9 560,810 - 560,810 -
20 402,469 16,576 385,000 -
21 18,838 19,348 - -
982,117 35,924 945,810 -
1,787,119 1,018,543 1,083,264 154,939
763,588 470,155 877,080 590,567
22 846,976 562,163 846,976 562,163
23 13,939 12,592 57613 57,613
23 (97,327) (104,600) (27,509) (25,209)
763,588 470,155 877,080 590,567

763,588 877,080

470,155

590,567

The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $°000 $'000 $000 $'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 8,281,009 8,240,393 e 1,233
Payments to suppliers and employees (7,995,986) (7,961,457) (873) (987)
Dividend received - 198 104,500 71,000
Interest received 6,595 328 - -
Borrowing costs (8,050) (7,918) - -
Income tax paid (54,271) (40,651) - -
Goods & Services tax paid (100,007) (100,232) - -
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 24(a) 129,290 130,661 104,746 71,246
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 9,643 3,686 - -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (32,238) (29,657) - -
Proceeds on sale of retail stores - 2,224 - -
Payment of deferred acquisition costs (3,941) - - -
Payment on acquisition of subsidiaries/business (32,161) (34.827) - -
Loans to other entities (40,159) (59) (908,164) (98,024)
Net Cash Flows used in Investing Activities (98,856) (58.633) (508, 164) (98.024)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issue of CULS 747,747 - 747,747 -
Proceeds from issue of CUPS 50,000 - 50,000 -
Metoz Holdings acquisition funding (1,097,503) - - -
Dividends paid to members of parent entity (102,924) (60,783) (102,924) (60,783)
Proceeds from borrowings — other 525,000 110,000 - 45,000
Repayments of borrowings — other (305,876) (165,000) (45,000) -
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 295,852 2,561 295,852 2,561
Payment of funding costs (26,824) - (26,824) -
Principal repayments under finance leases (7,000) (7.722) - -
Net Cash Flows from/(used in)
Financing Activities 78,472 (120,944) 918,851 (13,222)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held 108,906 (48.916) 115,433 (40.000)
Add opening cash brought forward 33,651 83,048 20,002 60,002
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 1,347 (481 - -
Closing Cash Carried Forward 24(b) 143,904 33,651 135,435 20,002

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of accounting

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001
which includes applicable Accounting Standards. Other mandatory professional reporting requirements (Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views) have also
been complied with.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.

(b) Changes in accounting policies
The azcounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year,

(<) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising Metcash Trading Limited (the parent entity) and all entities which
Metcash Trading Limited controlled from time to time during the year and at balance date.

Information from the financial statements of controlled entities is included from the date the parent company obtains controf until such time as control
ceases. Where there is loss of control of a controlled entity, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting period
during, which the parent company has control.

Controlled entities acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

The financial statements of controlled entities are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies which may exist,

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full. Unrealised losses

are el minated unless costs cannot be recovered.

(d) Foreign currencies
Translation of foreign currency transactions

Transections in foreign currencies of entities within the consolidated entity are converted to local currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date
of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date (other than monetary items arising under foreign currency contracts where the
exchange rate for that monetary item is fixed in the contract) are translated using the spot rate at the end of the financial year.

Transhation of financial reports of overseas operations

All ovarseas operations are deemed self-sustaining as each is financially and operationally independent of Metcash Trading Limited. The financial reports of
overs:2as operations are transiated using the current rate method and any exchange differences are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are stated at nominal value.

For tr e purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash
withir 2 working days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts,

Bank overdrafts are carried at the principal amount. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues.
() Feceivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectable debts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made
when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written-off as incurred.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. Interest is taken up as income on an accrual basis.

Bills cf exchange and prom ssory notes are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(2 Investments
Listed shares held for trading are carried at cost.

Where listed shares have been revalued, any capital gains tax which may become payable has not been taken into account in determining the revalued
carrying amount. Where it is expected that a liability for capital gains tax exists, this amount is recognised in the profit or loss for the reporting period.

Investments in associates are carried at the lower of the equity-accounted amount and recoverable amount in the consolidated financial report.

All other non-current investments are carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.

(h) Inventories

Inventories of finished goods are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In accordance with industry practice, cost is determined by deducting
from the supplier's invoice price any purchase incentives, allowances, discounts and net marketing income. The method adopted to assign costs to
inventories is first-in, first-out.

Property held for resale are classified as inventory and valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of acquisition and any
subsequent development costs or improvements.

(i) Recoverable Amount

Non-current assets measured using the cost basis are not carried at an amount above their recoverable amount, and where a carrying value exceeds this
recoverable amount, the asset is written down. In determining recoverable amount, the expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present
value using a market determined risk adjusted discount rate of 8.55%.

(j) Property, plant and equipment
Cost and voluation

All classes of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost.

Where assets have been previously revalued, the potential effect of the capital gains tax on disposal has not been taken into account in the determination
of the revalued carrying amount. Where it is expected that a liability for capital gains tax will arise, this expected amount is disclosed by way of note.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land.

Major depreciation periods are:

2005 2004
Freehold buildings: 50 vyears 50 years
Flant and equipment: 5-15 years 5-15 years

(k) Leases
Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and
benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased
item, are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis.

The lease incentive liability in relation to the non-cancellable operating lease is being reduced on an imputed interest basis over the lease term (5 years) at
the rate tmpilicit in the lease.

Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the financial year in which they are incurred.

Finance leases

Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the group are capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as property, plant and equipment under lease, A lease liability of equal value is also recognised.
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1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Leases (continued)

Capitilised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term. Minimum lease payments are
allocated between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability with the interest expense calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and
chargzd directly to the Statement of Financial Performance.

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is capitalised, disclosed as leasehold improvements, and amortised over the unexpired period of
the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.

(1) Intangibles
Paterts and licences

Paterts and licences are carried at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, being 20 years,

Goocwill

Goorwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired at the time of acquisition of a business
or skares in a controlled entity.

Gooiwill is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period during which benefits are expected to be received, up to a maximum of 20 years,

(m) Other non-current assets
Expenditure carried forward

Signiicant items of carry forward expenditure having a benefit or relationship to more than one period are written off over the periods to which such
expenditure relates.

(n) Payables
Liabi ities for trade creditors and other amounts are cartied at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and
services received, whether or not billed to the consolidated entity.

Payasles to related parties are carried at the principal amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is recognised as an expense on an accruals basis.
Deferred cash settiements are recognised at the present value of the outstanding consideration payable on the acquisition of an asset discounted at
prevailing commercial bor-owing rates.

(o) Interest-bearing liabilities

All ioans are measured at the principal amount. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues.

Bills of exchange and promissory notes are carried at the principal amount plus deferred interest.

Finance lease liability is determined in accordance with the requirements of AASB 1008 “Leases”.

(p) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the economic entity has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future sacrifice of economic benefits to

other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events, it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and a reliable
estirnate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

Provisions for Store Lease & Remediations are raised where the economic entity has commitied to the closure of stores. The future lease costs, net of any
inccme from sub leasing, are discounted to their net present value in determining the provision.

Dividends payable are recognised when a legal or constructive obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically following approval of the dividend at a

meeting of shareholders.

(q) Contributed equity
Issuzd and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the company.

Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of Goods

Control of the goods has passed to the buyer.

Interest

Control of the right to receive the interest payment.

Dividends

Control of the right to receive the dividend payment.

(s) Taxes

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated on the accounting profit after
allowing for permanent differences. To the extent timing differences occur between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when
items are taken into account in determining taxable income, the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates, is disclosed as a future
income tax benefit or a provision for deferred income tax. The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried
forward as an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.

Where assets are revalued no provision for potential capital gains tax has been made.

Tax consolidation — Parent Entity

The Australian Group elected to form a tax consolidated sharing group for income tax purposes with effect from | May 2004. Metcash Trading Limited
has entered into a tax funding agreement with the members of the tax consolidation group, effective from that financial year. The agreement is aimed at
achieving an allocation of the Australian group's income tax expense to controlled entities within the tax-consolidated group as if they were operating
on a stand-alone basis. The controlled entities party to the agreement will reimburse Metcash Trading Limited for an amount calculated as if they were
on a stand-alone basis. Similarly, Metcash Trading Limited will reimburse controlled entities for losses when they are utllised to reduce Australian group
tax payable.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except;

— where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
— receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial
Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing
activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows,

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.

(t) Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These benefits include wages
and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and long service leave.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of
the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts. All other employee benefits liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows,
the interest rates attaching to government guaranteed securities which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability are used.

Employee benefits expenses and revenues arising in respect of the following categories:

— wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave, sick leave and other leave entitiements; and
— other types of employee benefits

are charged against profits on a net basis in their respective categories.

The value of the employee share incentive scheme described in note 26 is not being charged as an employee benefit expense.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u) Earnings per share
Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share
dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted for:

—  costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

— the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; and

— other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares;
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(v) Comparatives
Were necessary, comparatives have been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with current year disclosures.

(w) Securitisation

Seuritisation arrangements, where the risks and benefits associated with the securitised assets are retained by the economic entity, are regarded as
financing transactions. Accordingly, the related assets are brought to account and disclosed as securitised and the amounts arising under the financing
arrangement are brought to account as borrowings. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues
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2.  REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

Metcash Trading Group

Metcash Trading Limited

uboi

i
L dald

2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Revenues from operating activities
Revenue from sale of goods 6,993,660 7,173,897 - -
otal revenues from operating activities 6,993,660 7,173,897 - -
Revenues from non-operating activities
Rent 26,587 27,258 246 246
Merchandising income 455,309 412,856 - -
Dividends and distributions
Other corporations - - 104,500 71,000
Interest
Other persons/corporations 6,595 328 - -
Retail income 19,380 6,352 - -
Other income - - 873 987
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 9,643 3,686 - -
Total revenues from non-operating activities 517514 450,480 105,619 72,233
Total revenues from ordinary activities 7.511,174 7,624,377 105,619 72,233
Share of net profits of associates and
joint venture partnership accounted
for using the equity method
Share of associates' profits 10(=) 273 665 - -
273 665 - -
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3.  EXPENSES AND LOSSES/(GAINS)

(a) Iixpenses
Cost of goods sold

Depreciation of non-current assets
Plant and equipment
Buildings

Total depreciation of non-current assets

Amo-tisation of non-current assets
Goodwill
(Other non current assets

Total amortisation of non-current assets

Total depreciation and amortisation expenses

Borrowing costs expensed
Interest expense
Finance lease
Interest and finance charges paid or payable

Total borrowing costs

Total borrowing costs expensed

Bad and doubtful debts — trade debtors
Inventories shrinkage value written off

Ope =ating lease rental
~ minimum lease payments

Total operating lease renta

(b) l.osses/(gains)
Net zain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(c) ‘Specific items
Profi: from ordinary activities before income tax
expense includes the following specific revenues
and :2xpenses whose disclosure is relevant in
explaining the financial performance of the entity:
nterest received on funding for the
'Zapital Reorganisation

38

Metcash Trading Group

Metcash Trading Limited

2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $000 $000 $'000
6,853,457 7,012,408 - -
23,695 19,850 - 2
352 444 67 66
24,047 20,294 67 68
21,763 20,601 - -
7,929 6,896 - -
29,692 27,497 - -
53,739 47791 67 68
1,958 2,032 - -
6,092 5.886 - -
8,050 7918 - -
8,050 7918 - -
6,229 3,627 - -
8,693 9,647 - -
69,382 110,716 - -
69,382 110,716 - -
(2,165) (93) - -
(5.000) - - _
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4.  INCOME TAX

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $°000 $'000 $°000 $°000
The prima facie tax, using tax rates applicable in
the country of operation, on profit differs from
the income tax provided in the financial
statements as follows:
Prima facie tax on profit from ordinary activities 50,719 46,695 31,404 21,354
Tax effect of permanent differences
Rebateable dividends - - (31,350) (21,300)
Amortisation of intangible assets 6,529 6,180 - -
Other items (net) 504 289 - -
Under/(over) provision of previous year LI 735 - -
Income tax expense attributable to ordinary activities 58,869 53,899 54 54
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Provision for income tax — current 21,103 13,617 - -
Future income tax benefit — non-current 5,472 2,584 - -

This future income tax benefit will only be obtained if:

{a) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised;
{b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and

(¢} no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit.

Tax consolidation

From 1 May 2004, for the purposes of income tax, Metcash Trading Limited and its 100% owned Australian controlled entities formed a tax consolidated
group. Members of the group entered into a tax sharing arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly owned controlled entities on
a pro-rata basis. In addition, the agreement provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax
payment obligations. At the balance date the possibility of default is remote. The head entity of the tax consolidated group is Metcash Trading Limited.

Metcash Trading Limited Annual Report 2005 39



i A e =N - U e o = D W AN D ] e e et

30 APRIL 2005

5.  DIVIDENDS PAID

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(a) Dividends paid on ordinary shares
during the year
(i Current year interim
Franked dividends (9.5¢ per share) (2004: 5.0¢) 64,705 31,745 64,705 31,745
(i) Previous year final
Franked dividends (6.0c per share) (2004: 4.6¢) 38,219 29,038 38,219 29,038
Total dividends paid 102,924 60,783 102,924 60,783

(b) Franking credit balance
The amount of franking credits available
for th2 subsequent financial year are:
— franking account balance as at the end
cf the financial year (at 30%) 109,480 4,150
—  franking credits that will arise from the payment

cf dividends as at the end of the financial year 12,100 13,745
121,580 27,895

6.  RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)

Trade debtors — securitised 6(b) 533,969 482,517 - -
Trade debtors — non securitised 6(b) 79,029 178,041 - -
Provision for doubtful debts (8,553) (3.983) - -

604,445 656,575 - -
Cther receivables 6(b) 961,844 1,790 - -

Amo unts other than trade debts receivable
from related parties:
Wholly-owned group
controlled entities

and ultimate parent entity 6(a), 32 - - 1,336,626 243307
1,566,289 658,365 1,336,626 243,307

(a) Related party receivables
Whclly-owned group
— controlled entities
iand ultimate parent entity 32 - - 1,336,626 243,307

- - 1,336,626 243,307

{b) Terms and conditions )
i) Trade debtor terms vary by business unit. At 30 April 2005, 89.95% of trade debtors are required to be settled within 30 days (2004: 98.4%)
and 10.05% of trade debtors have terms extending from 30 days to 60 days (2004 1.6%).

‘i) The economic entity has securitised certain trade receivables from 30 April 1999 by way of granting an equitable interest over those receivables
to a special purpose trust managed by a major Australian bank. The terms of the securitisation require, as added security, that at any time the
book value of the securitised receivables must exceed by at least a certain proportional amount, the funds provided by the trust to the economic
entity as a consequence of securitisation. At the end of the financial year trade receivables of $533,96%,000 (2004: $482,517,000) had been
securitised as disclosed above, with $nil (2004: $45,000,000) of funds received. The resultant security margin exceeded the minimum required
at that date.

(i) Other receivables are non-interest bearing and have repayment terms of less than 12 months.
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7. INVENTORIES (CURRENT)

Metcash Trading Group

Metcash Trading Limited

2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Finished goods
Finished Goods at Cost 409,259 406,880 - -
Provision for obsolescence (7,451) (7,196) - -
401,808 399,684 - -
Other assets held for resale - at cost
Land and Buildings 7(a), (b) 206 1,303 - -
206 1,303 - -~
Total inventories at lower of cost and
net realisable value 402,014 400,987 - -
(@) The Directors consider the Land and Buildings
amounts to be carried at not more than
realisable value
(b) Land held for resale is immaterial to be
separated from Land & Buildings
8. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments 9,707 8.238 7,280 1,145
9,707 8,238 7,280 I,145
9.  RECEIVABLES (NON-CURRENT)
Loans 15,769 8,686 - -
Other receivables 9(@) 14,045 969 - -
29,814 9,655 - -
29,814 9,655 - -

(a) Refer to note 6 for terms and conditions for the above financial asset

WMetcash Trading Limited Annual Report 2005 41




- = et = e _— = -_— = - = ===

3C APRIL 2005

S

=

= e e WY Y e Y

10. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

Metcash Trading Group

Metcash Trading Limited

Other Investments

2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes $000 $'000 $'000 $000
2,450 1412 - -

2,450 12 - -

(a) Interest in Associates

Name

Balance date

Ownership interest held
by consolidated entity

Produze Traders Trust
Abacus Independent Retail Property Trust

(i) Principal activity

Distritution of Fruit & Vegetables; Investment in Retail Property

(i) Share of associates’ profits

Share of associates”:
—  oserating profits before income tax

—  oserating profits after income tax

Share of associates’ net profits

(iii) Carrying amount of investment in associates

Balance at the beginning of financial year

—  share of associates' net profits for the financial year
— dwvidends received from associate

— naw investment in asscciate acquired

Carrying amount of investment in associates
at the end of the financial year

(iv) Share of associates’ assets and liabilities

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net Assets

(v) Fetained profits of the consofidated entity
attributable to associates

Balanze at the beginning of the financial year
Share of associates’ net prefits

Dividands received from associates

2005 2004

% %

30 june 40 40

30 June 25 -

Metcash Trading Group

2005 2004
$°000 $'000
273 665
273 665
273 665
1,12 645
273 665
- (198)
1,065 -
2,450 L2
1,281 981
2,823 553
(2,223) (578)
71 (101
1,710 455
653 186
273 665
- {158)
926 653

Balance at the end of the financial year

Ther: are no contingent liabilities or capital commitments of associates.
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11.  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON-CURRENT)

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $°000 $000 $000 $000
fnvestments at cost comprise:
Shares
Listed 20 20 - -
Unlisted 4,101 820 - (18)
Controlled entities — unlisted 12 - - 476,900 476,500
Total investments 4,121 840 476,900 476,882

12. INTERESTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Percentage of equity interest held

Name Country of incorporation by the consolidated entity
2004 2005
$000 $'000

Australian Liquor Marketers Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

Campbells Cash and Carry Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Clancy's Food Stores Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Cotswrap Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Metcash Export Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

IGA Retail Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Jewel Food Stores Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Jewel Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

M-C International Australia Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Metro Cash & Carry Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Froperty Reference Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Retail Merchandise Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Davids Food Services Pty Lid (a) Australia 100 100

Australian Liquor Marketers (QLD) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Denham Bros Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

Moucharo Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

QW Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

Queensland Independent Wholesalers Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

Regzern (No. 3) Pty Lid (a) Australia 100 100

Regzem (No. 4) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Retail Stores Development Finance Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

Rockblock Pty Ltd (a) Awustralia 100 100

RSDF Nominees Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Bofeme Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

City Ice and Cold Storage Company Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Composite Buyers Finance Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Composite Buyers Pty Limited (a) Australia 100 100

Composite Pty Ltd (2) Australia 100 100

IGA Distribution Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

IGA Distribution (Vic) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Five Star Wholesalers Pty Ltd Australia 100 100

Metcash Holding Pty Limited Australia 100 100

Keithara Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100

Knoxfield Transport Service Pty Lid (a) Australia 100 100

Moorebank Transport Pty Ltd (2) Australia 100 100

Payless Superbarn (NSW) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
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12, INTERESTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Percentage of equity interest held

Nam 2 Country of incorporation by the consolidated entity

2004 2005

$000 $'000
Payless Superbarn (VIC) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
Raintow Supermarkets Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
Mirren (Australia) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Stonemans (Management) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Stonemans Self Service Pty Lid Australia 100 |00
Arrow Pty Limited Australia t00 100
Blue Lake Exporters Pty Ltd Australia 100 (00
Casuarina Village Shopping Centre Pty Lid Australia 100 100
IGA [istribution (SA) Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Metcash Management Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Gaw er Supermarkets Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Metcash Storage Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Green Triangle Meatworks Limited Australia 100 100
Plymaton Properties Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Davids Group Staff Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Australian Liquor Marketers (WA) Pty Ltd (a) Australia 100 100
Jorgensons Confectionery Pty Limited (a) Austrafia 100 100
Tasmran Liquor Company Ltd New Zealand 100 100
Ama gamated Confectionery Wholesalers Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Harvest Liquor Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
IGA Zacific Pty Limited Australia 50 50
IGA Retail Network Limited Australia 100 {00
inde >endent Brands Australia Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Newton Cellars Pty Ltd Australia 100 100
Regeno Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Renriet Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Tash2r No.8 Pty Limited Australia 100 100
Vawn No.3 Pty Lid Australia 50 50
Aust alian Asia Pacific Whelsalers Pty Limited Australia 71 71
Rainsow Unit Trust Australia 100 100
Winr bledon Unit Trust Australia 100 100
Action Holdco Pty Limitec Australia 100 -
GP New Co Pty Ltd Australia 100 -
IGA Community Chest Limited Australia 100 -
Meton New Co Pty Ltd Australia 100 -
NZ Holdco Limited Australia 100 -

(a) Entities subject to class order relief

Pursuant to Class Order 98/1418, relief has been granted 10 all controlled entities, except those marked (a), from the Corporations Law requirements for
preparation, audit and lodgement of their financial reports. As a condition of the Class Order, Metcash Trading Limited and the controlled entities subject
to the Class Order (the "Closed Group”) entered into a Deed of Cross Guarartee on 27 May 1994 or assumption deads dated 7 February 1995 and 20
May 1996. The effect of the deed is that Metcash Trading Limited has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of these controlled
entities. The controlled entities have also given similar guarantees in the event that Metcash Trading Limited is wound up.
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12.  INTERESTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

The consolidated statement of financial performance and statement of financial position of the entities which are members of the “Closed Group”

are as follows:

(i) Consolidated statement of financial performance

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax
Income tax expense relfating to ordinary activities

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense

Net profit
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year
Dividends provided for or paid

Retained profits at the end of the financial year

(i} Consolidated statement of financial position

Current Assets
Cash assets
Receivables
Inventories
Other

Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets

Receivables

Investments accounted for using the equity method
Other financial assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Other

Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Payables
Interest-bearing liabilities
Provisions

Current tax liabilities

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Non interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Provisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Shareholders’ Equity
Contributed equity
Reserves

Accumulated losses

Total Shareholders’ Equity

Closed Group

2005 2004
$000 $'000
143,338 123,337
(50,460) (53.169)
92,878 70,168
92,878 70,168
(178,987) (188,373)
(102,924) (60,782)
(189,033) (178.987)
143,523 33,062
983,962 466,457
265,834 263213
7,749 6362
1,401,068 769,094
28,925 8,757
2,450 -
3,662 (493
119,861 122,947
203,999 216,667
1,779 -
13,568 -
374,244 349,864
1,775,312 1,118,958
371,585 607,089
7252 52,003
25,863 26,743
12,694 10,141
417,394 695976
373,873 -
401,077 14,900
- 1,043
5,788 16,354
790,738 32,297
1,208,132 728273
567,180 390,685
748,705 562,163
7,508 7,509
(189,033) (178,987)
567,180 390,685
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freeho'd land

At cos:

Buildings on freehold land

At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Leasetold improvements

At cost
Accumulated amortisation

Other land and buildings
Total [3nd and buildings

Plant and equipment under lease

At cost
Accurwlated amortisation

Plant & machinery
At cost
Accurulated depreciation

Total lant and equipment

Total »roperty, plant and equipment

Cost

Accurnulated depreciation and amortisation

Total written down amount

(2) Valuations

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited

2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes $'000 $°000 $000 $'000
5,907 5,902 1,200 1,200

13(a) 5,907 5,902 1,200 1,200
14,858 14,858 3,300 3,300
(1,740) (1,422) (397) (330)

13(a) 13,118 13,436 2,903 2,970
9,000 9.000 - -

(933) (790) - -

13(a) 8,067 8210 - -
27,092 27.548 4,103 4,170

46,118 38,449 - -

(21,571) (14.917) - -

24,547 23,532 - -

122,563 116,191 10 10
(45,129) (37,097) (10) {10y

77,434 75,094 - -

101,981 102,626 - -

198,446 184,400 4510 4,510

198,446 184,400 4510 4,510
(69,373) (54,226) (407) (340)

129,073 130,174 4,103 4,170

The fair values of freehold land, and buildings on freehold land have been determined by reference to director valuations, based upon independent

valuations previously obtained. Such valuations are performed on an open market basis, being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged

betw:2en a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the valuation date.

In Ap-il 2003 a directors valuation was performed on the land and buildings that were owned by Metcash Trading Limited and its controlled entities.
The valuation obtained stated the value of the land and buildings to be valued at $28,285,000. Directors believe this valuation is still appropriate as

at end of April 2005.



U o/ U L/ [ N uJuil J J iy uibud N UUuuilo N U UU U LI UVU LD U U N

30 APRIL 2005

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2005
Notes $'000 $000
(b) Reconciliations
Recondiliations of the carrying amounts
of property, plant and equipment at the
beginning and end of the current financial year.
Freehold land
Carrying amount at beginning 5,902 1,200
Additions 5 -
5,907 1,200
Buildings on freehold land
Carrying amount at beginning 13,436 2,970
Additions 34 -
Depreciation expense (352) (67)
13,118 2,903
Leasehold Improvements
Carrying amount at beginning 8,210 -
Amortisation expense (143) -
8,067 -
Plant and equipment under lease
Carrying amount at beginning 23,532 -
Additions 8,801 -
Amortisation expense (7,786) -
24,547 -
Plant and machinery
Carrying amount at beginning 79,094 -
Additions 32,204 -
Disposals (11,529) -
Additions through acquisition of entities/operations 1,360 -
Depreciation expense (23,695) -
77,434 -
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14. INTANGIBLES

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $°000 $'000 $000
Goowill 355,735 332,751 - -
Accumulated amortisation (111,440) (89,659) - -
244,295 243,092 - -

15.  OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Defe:rred debt costs 13,568 - - -
13,568 - - -

16. PAYABLES (CURRENT)

Trace creditors 16(a) 723,037 842,207 - -
Other creditors 16(a) 21,890 41,848 137,454 109,939
744,927 137,454 109,939

884,055

(@) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i) Trade creditors are generally settled within 30 days. The Directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other creditors to approximate

their net fair values.

17. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (CURRENT)

Lease liability 17(2), (b). 25(b) 7,995
Botrowings secured by floating charge
— bills of exchange and promissory notes -

7,567 - —
45,000 - 45,000
7,995 52,567 - 45,000

(a) Secured lease liability — finance lease

(b) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments

(i) Finance leases have an average lease term of 5 years with the option to purchase the asset at the completion of the lease term for the asset's

market value, The average discount rate implicit in the lease is 7.29% (2004 8.7%). Secured lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the

leased asset.

18.  PROVISIONS (CURRENT)

Employes entitlements 26 27,364 26,469 - -
Store Lease and remediation provision 21 1,413 2,405 - -
O her provisions 21 2,200 3,506 - -

30,977 32,380 - -

13. NON INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Convertible, redeemable, subordinated,

unsecured foan notes (CULS) 560,810 - 560,810 -
560,810 - 560,810 -

(a) The above represents 75% of the original CULS issue, which will or may be converted at Metcash's election on maturity date (19 September 2005).
At maturity date, the CULS convert into Metcash Limited shares on a 1:1 basis or the CULS will be redeemed at the issue price plus redemption
premium of 59%. Alternatively, Metcash may extend the maturity date by 3 months and convert them into Metcash Limited shares on a |1 basis

or redeem the CULS at the issue price pius a redemption premium of 7.5%.
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20. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (NON-CURRENT)

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited

2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000

Lease liability 20(a). (b). 25 17,469 16,576 - -

Borrowings

— bank loans 20(b), 34 335,000 - 335,000 -
Borrowings secured by floating charge

- CUPS 20(b), 34 50,000 - 50,000 -

402,469 16,576 385,000 -

(a) Secured lease liability — finance lease 17,469 16,576 - -

———— e — -

(b) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments
(i) Finance leases have an average lease term of 5 years with the option to purchase the asset at the completion of the lease term for the asset’s
market value. The average discount rate implicit in the lease is 7.29% (2004 8.7%). Secured lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the
leased asset,

(i) Bank loans are a 3-year senior unsecured syndicated loan note subscription facility. The Syndicated Facility is to be provided to Metcash by
a syndicate of lenders and has been fully underwritten by ANZ.

(iify CUPS (Convertible Undated Preference Shares) allow for the holder to request conversion, at which time the issuer can choose to convert
them into a variable number of shares in Metcash Ltd or redeem for cash. The issuer can also redeem the CUPS at any time prior to conversion,
A preferential non-cumulative dividend will be payable on the CUPS in arrears.

21. PROVISIONS (NON-CURRENT)

Employee entitiements 26 17,748 17,749 - -
Store lease and remediation provision 1,090 1,599 - -
18,838 19,348 - -

(a) Movement in provisions

(i) Store lease and remediation provision (current/non-current)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 4,004 -
Amount utilised during the year (1,501) -
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 2,503 -

(i) Other provision (current/non-current)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year 3,506 -
Arnount utilised during the year (1,306) -
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year 2,200 -

22. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

(a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares fully paid 846,976 562,163 846,976 562,163

846,976 562,163 846,976 562,163
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22. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)
2005 2004
Number Number
of Shares $'000 of Shares $'000
(b) Movements in shares on issue
Beg nning of the financial vear 636,761,358 562,163 630,748,848 559,602
Issuzd during the year
— Isiue of 89,850,000 ordinary shares at 300 cents per share 89.850,000 269,550 - -
— less transaction costs - (6.739) - -
— lIsiue of 6,967,370 ordinary shares at 300 cents per share 6,967,370 20,904 - -
- Brercise of employee options
— 2,135,690 ordinary shares at 44 cents per share 2,135,690 954 - ~
— Brercise of employee options
— 838,920 ordinary shares at 43.1 cents per share 838,920 362 - -
- Bxercise of employee options
— 1,556,490 ordinary shares at 153.8 cents per share 1,556,490 2,394 - -
— Brercise of employee options
- 1,020,000 ordinary shares at 165.6 cents per share 1,020,000 1,689 - -
- Brercise of employee options
— 3,588,270 ordinary shares at 44 cents per share - - 3,588,270 1,515
- Brercise of employee options
— 2,368,440 ordinary shares at 43.1 cents per share - - 2,368,440 1,021
— Iscue of 55,800 ordinary shares at 44 cents per share - - 55,800 25
Trar saction costs - (4,301 - -
End of the financial year 739,129,828 846,976 636,761,358 562,163
2005 2004
Options over ordinary shares: Number Number
(c) Share Options
Opening balance 19242210 26,606,790
Issued during the period 850,000 278,900
Exercised during the period — Employee options (5,529,900) (5,956,710)
Corverted to Metcash Limited (12,324,700) -
Expired during the period (2,237,610) (1,686,770)
Cloting balance - 19,242,210
Issued subsequent to period end - 2,500
Exercised subsequent to pericd end - (117,500)
Outstanding at date of Directors' report - 19,127,210

(d) Terms and conditions of contributed equity

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale

of al surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.
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23. RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS

Notes

Metcash Trading Group

2005
$°000

2004
$°000

Metcash Trading Limited

2005
$'000

2004
$'000

Capital profits reserve 23(a)
Asset revaluation 23(b)
Foreign currency translation 23(c)

12,777

1,162

12777

(185)

4,770
52,843

4770
52,843

13,939

12,592

57,613

57.613

Retained profits 23(d)

(97.327)

(104,600)

(27.509)

(29,209)

(a) Capital profits
(it Nature and purpose of reserve

The capital profits reserve is used to accumulate
realised capital profits. The reserve can be used
to pay dividends or issue bonus shares.

(i) Movements in reserve

Balance at beginning of year

12,777

12,777

4,770

4770

Balance at end of year

12,777

12777

4,770

4770

(b) Asset revaluation
(i) Nature and purpose of reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record
increments and decrements in the value of
non-current assets. The reserve can only be
used to pay dividends in limited circumstances,

(i) Movements in reserve

Balance at beginning of year

52,843

52,843

Balance at end of year

52,843

52,843

(c) Foreign currency translation
(i} Nature and purpose of reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used

to record exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of self-sustaining
foreign operations.

(i) Movements in reserve

Balance at beginning of year
Gain/(loss) on translation of overseas
controlled entities

(185)

1,347

296

(481)

Balance at end of year

1,162

U8

(d) Accumulated losses
Balance at the beginning of year
Net profit attributable to members
of Metcash Trading Limited

(104,600)

110,195

(145,569)

101,752

(29.209)

104,626

(39,550)

71,124

Total available for appropriation
Dividends provided for or paid

5,597
(102,924)

(43.817)
(60,783)

75415
(102,924)

31,574
(60,783)

Balance at end of year

(97.327)

(104,600)

(27.509)

(29.209)
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24. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
(a) Reconciliation of the net profit after tax
to the net cash flows from operations
Net profit 110,195 101,752 104,626 71,124
Non-Cash Items
Depreciation and Amortisation of non-current assets 24,191 20,294 67 68
Amortisation of goodwill 29,549 27,497 - -
Nei profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,165) (93) - -
Sha e of associates' net profits (273) (665) - -
Div dends received from associates - 198 - -
Chinges in assets and liabilities
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 30,536 91,761) 6,188 (45,792)
Decrease/(increase) in inventory 7,452 (31,331 - -
Movement in income tax balances 4,599 11,918 - -
Incrzase in prepayments (1,469) (2,576) (6,135) (25)
(Decrease)/increase in payables and provisions (73,325) 95,428 - 45,871
Net cash flow from operating activities 129,290 130,661 104,746 71,246
(b) Reconciliation of cash
Casn balance comprises:
— ¢cesh on hand 143,904 33,651 135,435 20,002
Closing cash balance 143,904 33,651 135,435 20,002
(c) Financing facilities available
At r2porting date, the following financing
facilities had been negotiated and were available:
Tote! facilities
— Working capital including bank overdraft 130,900 15,000 130,900 15,000
- Revolving Syndicated Loan 825,000 - 825,000 -
— Securitisation finance and loans 250,000 250,000 150,000 150,000
- Lease finance facility 22,500 22,500 - -
— Indemnity Guarantee facility 21,600 19,500 21,600 19,500
— Foreign currency dealing limit - [.107 - [.107
Facilities used at reporting date
— Working capital including bank overdraft - - - -
— Rewvolving Syndicated Loan 335,000 - 335,000 -
— Securitisation finance and loans - 45,000 - 45,000
— Lease finance facility 17,153 19,641 - -
— Indemnity Guarantee facility 18,991 17,305 18,991 17,305
— Fcreign currency dealing limit - 257 - 257
Facilties unused at reporting date
—Working capital including bank overdraft 130,900 15,000 130,900 15,000
— Rewvolving Syndicated Loan 490,000 - 490,000 -
— Securitisation finance and loans 250,000 205,000 150,000 105,000
~ Lease finance facility 5,347 2,859 - -
- Indemnity Guarantee facility 2,609 2,195 2,609 2,195
— Fcreign currency dealing limit - 850 - 850
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24. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(d) Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities
Finance Lease Transactions

During the financial year the economic entity acquired plant and equipment by means of finance leases. The acquisitions are not reflected in the staterent
of cash flows and amount to $8,321,000 (2004: $8,872,000)

{e) Acquisition of Controlled Entity
(i) On4 July 2004 a controlled entity acquired the business assets and liabilities of Alice Springs (CCC) for a cash consideration of $6,259,000
(i) On 26 july 2004 a controlled entity acquired the business assets and liabilities of Stedmans Gladstone (CCC) for a cash consideration of $999, 100

(i) On 15 December 2004 a controlled entity acquired the business assets and liabilities of Stedmans Bundaberg (CCC) for a cash consideration
of $840,000

(iv) On 15 December 2004 a controfled entity acquired the business assets and liabilities of Coast & Country — Townsville (CCC) for a cash consideration
of $2,910,000

{v) On |6 December 2004 a controlled entity acquired 100% of the equity of NZ HoldCo Limited for a cash consideration of $1

(vi) On 8 February 2005 a controlled entity acquired 100% of the equity of GP New Co. Limited for a cash consideration of $3,680,000

{vil) On 28 February 2005 a controlled entity acquired 100% of the equity of Melton New Co. Limited for a cash consideration of $3.300,000

(vii) On 3 April 2005 a controlled entity acquired the business assets and liabilities of Novocastrian (ALM) for a cash consideration of $7,700,000
(ix) On 3 April 2005 a controlled entity acquired the business assets and liabilities of CD's Wholesale (CCC) for a cash consideration of $6,271,000

(x) On 7 April 2005 a controlled entity acquired 100% of the equity of Action HoldCo Pty Limited for a cash consideration of $1

$°000
Consideration
-- cash paid 31,959
31,959
Details of the aggregate cash flows and the aggregate assets and liabilities at the dates of acquisition were as follows:
- inventories 8,480
- property, plant and equipment [,360
9,840
- ¢reditors and provisions (868)
— fair value of net tangible assets 8,972
- goodwill arising on acquisition 212,987
31,959
Net cash effect
Cash consideration paid 31,959
Cash paid for purchase of controlled entity as reflected in the consolidated financial report 31,959
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25. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

(a) apital expenditure commitments
Estim ated capital expenditure contracted for

at reporting date, but not provided for, payable:
—not later than one year

— later than one year and not later than five years
— later than five years

(b) l.ease expenditure commitments
(i) Operating leases (non-cancellable):
Minirnum lease payments
- na': later than one year
— later than one year and net later than five years
— later than five years
— aggrregate lease expenditure contracted
for at reporting date

Aggragate expenditure cornmitments comprise:
— Store lease and remediation provision

Aggragate lease expenditure contracted
for a: reporting date

(if) Finance leases:
— not later than one year
— later than one year and not later than five years
— later than five years
— tolal minimum lease payments
— future finance charges
- lezse liability
- current liability
- non-current liability

Tota lease liability accrued for:
Currant
—finance leases

Non -Current
— finance leases

Metcash Trading Group

Metcash Trading Group

2005 2004 2005 2004

Notes $000 $'000 $'000 $000
25(d)

55,242 59,749 - -

170,436 194,41 | - -

140,318 183,164 - -

365,99 437324 - -

25(e) (2,200) (3,507) - -

(2,200) (3.507) - -

(2,200) (3.507) - -

363,796 433817 - -

9,639 9273 - -

15,312 16,460 - -

5,763 2623 - -

30,714 28356 - -

(5.250) (4.213) - -

25,464 24,143 - -

7,995 7,567 - -

17,469 16,576 - -

25,464 24,143 - -

7,995 7,567 - -

7.995 7.567 - -

17,469 16,576 - -

17,469 16,576 - -

25,464 24,143 - -
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25. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS (continued)

Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $°000 $'000 $000 $'000
(c) Operating Leases Receivable
Certain properties under operating lease have been
sublet to third parties. The future lease payments
expected 1o be received at the reporting date are:
- not later than one year 21,390 17,331 - -
— later than one year and not later than five years 62,064 52,940 - -
— later than five years 57,538 42.122 - -
140,992 112,393 - -

Notes

(d) Operating leases have an average lease term of 5 years and an implicit interest rate of 7%. Assets which are the subject of operating leases are
primarily Land, Buildings and Forklifts. Contingent rentals are payable to reflect movements in the Consumer Price Index on certain leases and to
reflect the turnover of certain stores occupying the Land and Buildings.

(e) These commitments represent payments due for either vacated lease premises or premises sublet to third parties at a subsidised rental under non-
cancellable operating leases. The commitments have been recognised as a liability as the remaining payments for the premises will provide no further
benefits to the consolidated entity. The payments have been discounted at the rate implicit in the lease.

26. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

Employee Benefits
The aggregate employee benefit liability is comprised of:

Provisions (current) 27,364 26,469 - -
Provisions (non-current) 17,748 17,749 - -
45,112 44,218 - -

Employee Share Scheme

On 23 November 1998, the Employee Option Plan was approved at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Pursuant to this plan, the following

options were issued to employees of the Company, including Executive Directors.

Information with respect to the number of options granted under the employee share incentive scheme is as follows:

2005 2004

Number  Weighted average Number  Weighted average

of options exercise price of options exercise price

Balance at beginning of year 19,242,210 110 26,606,790 [.10
— granted 850,000 2.70 278.900 2.02
— forfeited (2.237,610) 121 (1,686,770) 1.30
— exercised (5,529,900) 0.97 (5,956,710) 0.44
- Converted to Metcash Limited (12,324,700) - - -
Balance at end of year - - 19,242,210 110
[xercisable at end of year - - 2,884,960 0.44
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26.

(a) Options held at the beginning of the reporting period:
The fcllowing table summarises information about options held by employees as at | May 2004:

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (continued)

Weighted average

Number of options Grant date Vesting date Expiry date option price
761,900 26 Mar 1999 26 Mar 2002 26 Mar 2005 0.44
455,900 26 Mar 1999 26 Mar 2003 26 Mar 2005 0.44

1,386,000 26 Mar 1999 26 Mar 2004 26 Mar 2005 0.44
273,360 i1 Aug 2000 1 Aug 2003 Il Aug 2006 0.431
849,400 Il Aug 2000 Il Aug 2004 I'l Aug 2006 0.431
849,400 |1 Aug 2000 Il Aug 2005 |1 Aug 2006 0.431

7,800 25 Nov 2000 25 Nov 2003 25 Nov 2006 0.431
32,800 25 Nov 2000 25 Nov 2004 25 Nov 2006 0.431
32,800 25 Nov 2000 24 Nov 2005 25 Nov 2006 0.43]
- |5 Dec 2000 15 Dec 2003 |5 Dec 2006 0.431
8,000 |5 Dec 2000 15 Dec 2004 15 Dec 2006 0431
8,000 I'5 Dec 2000 15 Dec 2005 I5 Dec 2006 0431

2,040,000 {4 Dec 2001 [4 Dec 2004 14 Dec 2007 1.656
680,000 14 Dec 200 14 Dec 2005 {4 Dec 2007 1.656
680,000 14 Dec 2001 14 Dec 2006 14 Dec 2007 |.656

6,560,610 25 Jan 2002 25 fan 2005 25 Jan 2008 1.538

2,186,870 25 Jan 2002 25 Jan 2006 25 Jan 2008 1.538

2,186,870 25 Jan 2002 25 Jan 2007 25 Jan 2008 1.538
145,500 10 july 2003 10 July 2005 10 July 2008 2.140

48,500 |0 July 2003 10 July 2006 [0 July 2008 2.140
48,500 10 July 2003 10 July 2007 10 July 2008 2.140

(b) COptions granted during the reporting period

The following table sumrna-ises information about opticns granted by Metcash Trading Limited to employees during the year:

2004

2003

Grant date
Vestir g date

Expir« date

Weig tted average exercise price
Gran': date

Vestirig date

Expirs date

Weighted average exercise price

(c) Options exercised

(D
MNumber Grant
of options date
2, 14490 26 Mar 1999
804,720 11 Aug 2000
30,200 25 Nov 2000
1,020,000 4 Dec 2201
4,000 15 Dec 2000
1,356,490 25 Jan 2002

6

2 September 2004

2 Sep 2007 (609%) 2 Sep 2008 (20%)

2 Sep 2009 (20%)
2 September 2010
270

Exercise

date date

26 Mar 2002 26 Mar 2005
'l Aug 2003 Il Aug 2006
25 Nov 2003 25 Nov 2006
14 Dec 2004 14 Dec 2007
I5 Dec 2003 |5 Dec 2006
25 Jan 2005 25 Jan 2008

exercise price

0.44

0.431
0.431
|.656
0.431
1.538

10 July 2003

10 July 2005 (60%;) 10 July 2006 (20%)
10 July 2007 (20%)

10 July 2008

2.14

26 March 2004
26 March 2004
26 March 2005

0.44

Expiry Weighted average Proceeds from
shares issued

930,376
346,834
13,016
1,689,120
1,724
2,393,882

The following table summarises information about options exercised by employees during the year ended 30 April 2005:

Number of
shares issued

2,114,490
804,720
30,200
1,020,000
4,000
1,556,490

Issue Fair value of

date shares issued
various 291
various 291
various 291
various 291
various 291
various 251
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26.

(<) Options exercised

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS (continued)

(ii) The following table surmnmarises information about options exercised by employees during the year ended 30 April 2004

Number Grant Exercise Expiry Weighted average Proceeds from Number of Issue  Fair value of
of options date date date exercise price  sharesissued  shares issued date  shares issued
3,588,270 26 Mar 1999 26 Mar 2002 26 Mar 2005 0.44 1,578,838 3,588,270 various 2.37
2,368,440 {1 Aug2000 (1 Aug2003 11 Aug 2006 0.43 1,020,797 2,368,440  various 2.37

(d) Options converted to Metcash Limited on 7 April 2005:
Weighted average
Number of options Grant date Vesting date Expiry date option price
123,960 [l Aug 2000 I't Aug 2003 Il Aug 2006 0.431
64,480 I'1 Aug 2000 Il Aug 2004 |1 Aug 2006 0.431
782,400 I'l Aug 2000 'l Aug 2005 Il Aug 2006 0.431
32,800 25 Nov 2000 24 Nov 2005 25 Nov 2006 0.431
4,000 15 Dec 2000 15 Dec 2004 I'5 Dec 2006 0.431
8,000 t5 Dec 2000 |5 Dec 2005 15 Dec 2006 0.431
1,020,000 [4 Dec 2001 14 Dec 2004 14 Dec 2007 1.656
680,000 14 Dec 2001 14 Dec 2005 14 Dec 2007 [.656
680,000 14 Dec 2001 14 Dec 2006 [4 Dec 2007 [.656
4,153,920 25 Jan 2002 25 Jan 2005 25 Jan 2008 f.538
1,859,820 25 Jan 2002 25 Jan 2006 25 Jan 2008 1.538
1,859,820 25 Jan 2002 25 Jan 2007 25 Jan 2008 1.538
123,300 10 July 2002 10 July 2005 10 July 2008 2.140
41,100 10 July 2002 10 July 2006 |0 July 2008 2.140
41,100 10 July 2002 10 July 2007 10 July 2008 2.140
510,000 2 Sep 2004 2 Sep 2007 2 Sep 2010 2.700
170,000 2 Sep 2004 2 Sep 2008 2 Sep 2010 2.700
170,000 2 Sep 2004 2 Sep 2009 2 Sep 2010 2.700
(e) Options held at the end of reporting period:
There were no options held by employees as at 30 April 2005
27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Metcash Trading Group Metcash Trading Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Other persons
A controlled entity has guaranteed third
party loans to storeowners amounting to: 1,580 1,580 - -
The Company and certain controlled entities
have granted bank guarantees to third parties
in respect of property lease obligations to the value of: 18,991 17,149 - -

Franklins

Following termination of the Franklins contract in January 2005, Franklins has alleged that Metcash owes it various sums in respect of the supply contract.
Franklins has commenced proceedings seeking as yet unquantified damages in respect of certain of the alleged claims. Metcash does not consider that
Franklins has any valid claim against it. Should Franklins proceed with any of these alleged claims, they will be vigorously defended by Metcash.
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28. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Metcash announced on the 25 May 2005 that it had reached agreement with Foodland Associated Ltd (FAL) to acquire the Australian business of FAL
excluding 19 Action stores and 3 Action development sites which will be acquired by Woolworths. Metcash will therefore acquire, on a debt free basis,
FALs West Australian Franchise and Supply division, Action Retall division (excluding Woolworths Actions Stores, and all other FAL Australian assets.
Metzash is offering $780m in cash (or $6.6! per FAL share) or $859m in Metcash shares (or $7.29 per FAL share). It is expected the transaction will be
imp'emented by way of a scheme of arrangement. Documents are expected to be sent to FAL shareholders by FAL during September with the acquisition
becoming effective in Octaber.

29. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Metcash Trading Group

2005 2004
Notes $000 $'000
The: following reflects the income and share data
used in the calculations of basic and diluted
eariings per share:
Net profit 110,195 101,752
Adjustments:
Earnings used in calculating basic and diluted
earnings per share 10,195 101,752
Number Number
of Shares of Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in calculating basic earnings per share 675,509,174 633,572,081
Efect of dilutive securities:
Share options 8,908,849 1,331,396
Acjusted weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share 684,418,023 644,903,477

32. DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

(a) Details Of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i) Specified Directors

Carlos Dos Santos

Chairman (Non Executive)

A E Harris Deputy Chairman (Non Executive)
R Longes Director (Non Executive)

P Barnes Director {(Non Executive)

D Rubin Director (Non Executive)

A Reitzer CEO

M Jablonski Group Merchandise Director

E Jankelowitz Finance Director

B Hale IT Director

L Jardin CEQ IGA Distribution

M Wesslink CEO Australian Liquor Marketers

(i) Specified executives

K Bean Chief Executive Group Logistics and Corporate Development
P Dubbleman CEO Campbells Cash and Carry

J Randall Company Secretary

D Johnston Chief Human Resource Officer

G Tempany National Group Manager Merchandise and Marketing
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30. DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Primary Post Employment Equity
Salaries Cash Non Monetary Super- Retirement
& Fees Bonus benefits annuation Benefits Options Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
Specified Directors
Carlos Dos Sanios
2005 - - - - - - -
2004 - - - - - - -
A E Harris
2005 108,901 - - - - - 108,901
2004 98,381 - - - - - 98,381
R Longes
2005 71,703 - - 6,454 - - 78,157
2004 61,875 - - 5,569 - - 67,444
P Barnes
2005 71,703 - - 6,454 - - 78,157
2004 61,875 - - 5,569 - - 67,444
D Rubin
2005 - - - - - - -
2004 - - - - - - -
A Reitzer
2005 [,151,540 343,325 2,669 84,947 - - 1,582,481
2004 1,006,048 359,712 62,568 54,045 - - 1,482,373
M Jablonski
2005 523324 74,970 23,000 11,488 - - 632,782
2004 520,329 116,025 - 10,921 - - 647,275
E Jankelowitz
2005 546,324 74,970 - I'1,488 - - 632,782
2004 520,329 116,025 - 10,921 - - 647,275
B Hale
2005 416,181 495,258 - 10,522 - 825,215 1,747,176
2004 406,604 254,933 16,667 10,665 - - 688,869
L Jardin
2005 488,620 85,120 135,846 17,547 - - 727,133
2004 471,353 91,219 - 16,981 - - 579,553
™M Wesslink
2005 415,320 31,233 - 48,072 - - 494,625
2004 349,189 91219 37,680 47,506 ~ - 525,594
Total Remuneration:
Specified Directors
2005 3,793616 [,104,876 161,515 196,972 - 825,215 6,082,194
2004 ©3,495983 1,029,133 116915 162,183 - - 4,804,214
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30. DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (continued)

Primary Post Employment Equity
Salaries Cash Non Monetary Super- Retirement
& Fees Bonus benefits annuation Benefits Options Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
Specified Executives
k Bean
2005 371,277 60,969 - 81,002 - - 513,248
2004 319,908 92,592 39,840 64,211 - - 516,551
F Dubbleman
2005 379,119 65,523 45,904 33,769 - - 524,315
2004 392,279 85,050 - 10,921 - - 488,250
} Randall
2005 324222 53,901 - 78,072 - - 456,195
2004 326,896 85037 - 77,506 - - 489,439
D) Johnston
2005 338,930 49,094 - 26,912 - - 414,936
2004 336,583 76,709 - 14,117 - - 427,409
G Tempany
2005 261,569 37.359 19,000 16,156 - - 334,084
] Kiteley
2004 247,280 110,500 14,389 - - - 372,169
Total Remuneration:
Specified Executives
2005 1675117 266,846 64,904 235911 - - 2,242,778
2004 1,622,946 445,888 54,229 166,755 - - 2,293,818

(i) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

The Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors,
the Chief Executive Officer and the executive team. The Remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of

e noluments of such officers on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring
maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and executive team. Such officers are given the opportunity to receive their
bise emolument in a variety of forms including cash and fringe benefits such as motor vehicles and expense payment plans. It is intended that the
mianner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the company.

To assist in achieving these objectives, the Remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of executive directors and officers emoluments to
the company's financial and operational performance. All senior executives have the opportunity to qualify for participation in the Management Bonus
Stheme which provides for an annual cash bonus to be paid where specified financial performance criteria are achieved. In addition, an option plan
his been implemented providing all employees (under the Employee Option Plan, which also covers senior executives), with the opportunity to
participate in the future success of the Company. Details regarding the issue of share options under these two Plans are provided in the notes to the
financial statements.

(c) Remuneration options: Granted during the year
Durinz the financial year options were granted as equity compensation to certain specified directors as disclosed below. The options were issued free of
charge:. Each option entitles the holder to subscribe to one fully paid ordinary share in the entity at an exercise price of $2.43.

Granted Grant Value per Option Exercise Price  First Exercise  Last Exercise
Number Date at Grant Date $ per Share Date Date
Spec fied Directors
B Hale 510,000 2 Sep 04 0.97 2.43 2 Sep 07 2%p 10
170,000 2 Sep 04 0.97 2.43 2 Sep 08 2Sep 10
170,000 2 Sep 04 0.97 2.43 2 Sep 09 2Sep 10
850.000
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30. DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d) Option holdings of specified directors and specified executives

Balance at Granted as Options Other Balance at Vested at 30 Apr 2005
Beginning of  Remuneration Exercised  Adjustments End of Period Not
Period | May 2004 30 Apr 2005 Total Exercisable Exercisable

Specified Directors

Carlos Dos Santos - - - - - - - -

A E Harris - - - - - - - -

R Longes - - - - - - - -

P Barnes - - - - - - - -

D Rubin - - - - - - - -

A Reitzer 2,100,000 - (1,420,000) - 680,000 - - -

M Jablonski 850,000 - - - 850,000 - - -

E Jankelowitz 850,000 - - - 850,000 - - -

B Hale - 850,000 - - 850,000 - - -

L Jardin 660,000 - (140.000) - 520,000 - -

M Wesslink 680,000 - (140,000) - 540,000 - - -
Specified Executives

K Bean 680,000 - (140,000) - 540,000 - - -

P Dubbelman 560,000 - (160,000) - 400,000 - - -

J Randall 80,000 - - - 80,000 - - -

D Johnston 400,000 - - - 400,000 - - -

G Tempany 60,000 - - - 60,000 - - -
Total 6,920,000 850,000  (2,000,000) - 5,770,000 - - -

(e) Shareholdings of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

Balance at Granted as Options Other Balance at
Beginning of Remuneration Exercised Adjustments End of Period
Period | May 04 (CULS conversion) 30 Apr 2005
Specified Directors
Carlos Dos Santos - - - - -
A E Harris 340,000 - - 34,838 374,838
R Longes 100,000 - - 12,500 112,500
P Barnes 125,000 - - 26,041 151,041
D Rubin - - - - -
A Reitzer 400,000 - 1,420,000 - 1,820,000
M Jablonski - - - - -
E Jankelowitz 600,000 - - - 600,000
B Hale - - - - -
L Jardin - - 140,000 140,000
M Wesslink 425,000 (70,000) 9,374 364,374
Specified Executives
K Bean - - - - -
P Dubbelman 390,350 - 160,000 - 550,350
J Randall 180,000 - 60,000 16 165 256,165
D Johnston - - - - -
G Tempany 2,800 - - - 2,800
Total 2,563,150 - 2,030,000 98,918 4,372,068
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31. AUDITORS’' REMUNERATION

Metcash Trading Group
2005 2004
Notes $°000 $000

Metcash Trading Limited

2005 2004
$000 $000

Amounts received or due and receivable by

Ernst & Young for:

— an audit or review of the financial report of the

entity .and any other entity in the consolidated entity 865,410 842,000
— Other services in relation to the entity and any

other ntity in the consolidated entity:

tax compliance 831,783 700,169
— assu-ance related 32,000 49,000
— other services 252,193 79,732

Amounts received or due and receivable by
Ernst & Young New Zealand for:
—an a.dit or review of the financial report of entities

and ariy other entities in the consolidated entity 49,500 43,410
— tax compliance 10,000 30,409
— other services 15,000 -

2,055,886 1,744,720

All above audit remuneration relates to services for Metcash Limited and Metcash Trading Limited.

32. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Directors
The directors of Metcash Trading Limited during the financial year were:

Carlos S dos Santos A E (Ted) Harris, AC
Andrew Reitzer Michael R Jablonski
Edwir M Jankelowitz V Dudley Rubin
Peter L Barnes Richard A Longes
Bernard | Hale joao Louis S Jardin

Michzel Wesslink

Other related party transactions

Purchases and funding
Manazement fees to the former ultimate controlling entity $587,500 (2004: $750,000)

Mr Barnes is Chairman of Samuel Smith & Sons Pty Ltd and a Director of Ansell Limited, both organisations are suppliers to the entity. However, the total

level of purchases from both companies is less than 1% of Metcash's annual purchases and is not considered material.

With the approval of the Court, Metcash Trading Limited loaned $1,097,503,000 to Metcash Limited in order for Metcash Limited to acquire Metoz

Holdings and its 52.14% interest in Metcash Trading Limited.

Loans
Ultimate controlling entity $306,62 1,000 (2004 NIL)

Ultirnate parent
The ultimate controliing entity is Metcash Limited, a company incorporated in Australia.
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33. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment products and locations

The economic entity predominantly operates in the industries indicated. Food distribution activities comprise the distribution of grocery and tobacco supplies
to retail outlets, convenience stores and hospitality outlets. Liquor distribution activities comprise the distribution of liquor products to retail cutlets and
hotels. Cash and Carry Distribution comprise the distribution of grocery and tobacco supplies via cash and carry warehouses. Geographically the group
operates predominantly in Australia. The New Zealand operation represents less than 10% of revenue, resuits, and assets of the consolidated entity.

$egment accounting policies
The selling price between segments is at normal selling price and is paid under similar terms and conditions as any other customers of the economic entity.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

34(b) Net fair values
At the reporting date, the carrying value of all financial assets and liabilities approximates their net fair values.

(i) The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Recognised financial instruments
Cosh, cash equivalents and short-term investments: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity.

Trade receivables, trade creditors and dividends receivable: The carrying amount approximates fair value.
Short-term borrowings: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity.

Long-term loans receivable: The fair values of long-term loans receivable are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on current incremental
lending rates for similar types of lending arrangements.

Long-term bank borrowings and debentures: The fair values of long-term borrowings are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on current
incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

Non-current investments/securities. For financial instruments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is the current quoted market bid price for an
asset or offer price for a liability, adjusted for transaction costs necessary to realise the asset or settle the liability. For investments where there is no quoted
rnarket price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially
the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows or the underlying net asset base of the investment/security. The net fair value of the unlisted
options is determined to be the difference between the market price and the exerdise price of the underlying shares.

Unrecognised financial instruments
Options over ordinary shares: The fair value of options over ordinary shares is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Concentrations of credit risk

The company minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers from
across the range of business segments in which the group operates. Refer also to Note 33 — Segment Information.

The Economic entity does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty. Major concentrations of credit risk arising from the
economic entity's trade receivables relate primarily to the retail grocery and liquor industries and are substantially based in Australia.

35. IMPACT OF ADOPTING AASB EQUIVALENTS TO IASB STANDARDS

Metcash has commenced transitioning its accounting policies and financial reporting from current Australian Standards to Australian equivalents of
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). As Metcash has a 30 April year-end, priority has been given to considering the preparation of an opening
balance sheet in accordance with AASB equivalents to IFRS as at | May 2004. This will form the basis of accounting for Australian equivalents of IFRS in the
future, and is required when Metcash prepare its first fully IFRS compliant financial report for the year ended 30 April 2006, Set out below is the key areas
where accounting policies will change and may have an impact on the financial report of Metcash:

Goodwill

Under AGAAF, goodwill is amortised over the useful life of the assets acquired, not exceeding 20 years, resulting in charges for amortisation of goodwill.
Under Australian IFRS (AASB 138 Intangibles and AASB |36 Impairment of Assets), goodwill will be allocated to the smallest ‘cash generating unit',
capitalised and be subject to an impairment test. Thus, rather than being amortised over a predetermined period, goodwill will be tested for
impairment on an annual basis. Where impairment is identified, the carrying value of goodwill will be written down and profit reported for the

period reduced accordingly. The impact for the 2005 statement of financial performance would be to reverse the amortisation of goodwill reflected in

the financial resutt of $21.7m.

Deferred taxes

Under AGAAP the tax effect of items of income and expense that are recognised in the statement of financial performance in one period but are taxable
or deductible in other periods are included in the calculation of accounting income tax expense and reflected as deferred tax assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position. Australian IFRS introduces a balance sheet method of accounting for taxation Under this approach, deferred tax is calculated
as the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. Therefore, if an asset was held at valuation with changes in fair value recognised in an asset revaluation reserve, no deferred tax
liability would be recognised under AGAAP but a deferred tax liability would be recognised under Australian IFRS, It is anticipated that there will be no
material effect for Metcash.
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Impilirment of assets

Under AGAAP the recoverable amount of an asset is determined as the amount that is expected to be recovered through cash inflows and outflows from
the continued use and subsequent disposal of the asset, on the basis of discounted or undiscounted future cash flows. For this purpose, Metcash currently
discodnt future cash flows at the weighted average costs of capital and risk free rate respectively. Under Australian IFRS (AASB |36 Impairment of Assets).
‘recoverable amount’ is determined as the higher of net selling value and value in use, determined by discounting cash flows at an asset-specific discount
rate. Reliable estimation of future financial effects of this change in accounting policy is currently impracticable because the conditions under which

impa rment will be assessed are not yet known.

Share base payments

Under Australian IFRS (AASB 2, Share Based Payrments) employers are required to determine the fair value of shares issued to employees as remuneration
and recognise this as an expense in the statement of financial performance. This applies to both option and share based forms of equity based
remuneration. Under AGAAP shares issued to employees as remuneration do not need to be expensed. During the year $139,599 would have been
expensed to the statement of financial performance and will be adjusted against opening retained earnings. Options existing at year end will incur and

addit onal $685,616 experse to the statement of financial performance over the next five years.

Business Combinations
Metcash has used the election allowed under Australian IFRS (AASBI, First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Starxlards) not to apply AASB3, — Business Combinations, retrospectively 1o past business combinations.

Financial Instruments

Under Australian IFRS, financial liabilities are to be recognised initially at fair value (net of transaction costs) and thereafter at amortised cost-determined
using the effective interest rate method. At 30 April 2005 Metcash Trading Limited has brought to account the Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock (CULS)
liabiliy at face value, and separately brought to account the attributable transaction costs ($7,894,000) as deferred debt costs. The financial effect of this
change on the Company’s and the Group's results before taxation to 30 April 2005 is estimated at $1,300,000 decrement.

The amounts disclosed are management'’s best estimates of the quantitative impacts of the changes at the date of reporting the 30 April 2005 financial
report. The actual effects of transition may differ from the estimates disclosed due to:

(a) ongoing work being undertaken by the company’s AIFRS project team;
(b) potential amendments to AIFRS and Interpretations thereof being issued by the standard-setters and IFRIC; and

(c) emerging accepted practice in the interpretation and application of AIFRS and UIG Interpretations.

&8



DIRECTORS” DECLARATION

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Metcash Trading Limited, | state that:
(1) In the opinion of the directors:
(a) the financial statements and notes of the company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) gving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 April 2005 and of their performance for the
year ended on that date; and

(i) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001 ; and
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

(2) This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with section 295A of the
Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 April 2005.

(3) In the opinion of the directors, as at the date of this dedlaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Closed Group
identified in note 12 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject, by virtue of the Deed of Cross
Guarantee,

On behalf of the Board

Andrew Reitzer
Director

Sydney, 22 July 2005
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TO MEMBERS OF METCASH TRADING LIMITED

Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of cash flows, accompanying
notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for Metcash Trading Limited ({the company) and the consolidated entity, for the
year ended 30 April 2005. The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during that year.

The directors of the company are responsibie for preparing a financial report that gives a true and fair view of the financial position and performance
of the company and the consolidated entity, and that complies with Accounting Standards in Australia, in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 .
This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to prevent and detect fraud
and e ror, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the company. Our audit was
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of
material misstaterment. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent
limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material
misstaterments have been detected.

We gerformed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial reporting requirements in Australia, a view
which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consclidated entity’s financial position, and of their performance as
represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:
* examining, on a test bas's, information to provide evidence supporting the amourits and disclosures in the financial report, and

* asuessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the directors.

Whilz we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and extent of our
procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls,

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately reflected in the financial report. These and our
othe - procedures did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness or reasonableness of the business plans or strategies adopted
by tre directors and management of the company.

Ind2pendence

We are independent of the company, and have met the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the
Corporations Act 2001 . (n addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.

Auclit Opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of Metcash Trading Limited is in accordance with:
(2) the Corporations Act 2001 including:
J)  giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Metcash Trading Limited and the consolidated entity as at 30 April 2005 and of their

performance for the year ended on that date; and
i) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001 ; and
piying g p 8

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

Ernct & Young

Gary G Daniels
Partrer

Syd ey

Datz: 22 July 2005
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AST ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. The information is current as at.

Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock (CULS)

(a) Distribution of equity securities

[-1,000 456
1,001-5,000 1,041
5001-10,000 308
10.001-100,000 210
100,001-99,999,599,999 43
Totals 2,058
(b) Twenty largest security holders
Number
Name of securities Percentage
I Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 60,019,631 27.183
2 ) P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 25,957,858 11.757
3 RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <PHC Alc> 22,827,472 10.339
4 National Nominees Limited 20,101,032 9.104
5 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 14,023,027 6.351
6 ANZ Nominees Limited 11,501,910 5.209
7 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited <SMP Accounts> 7,840,734 3.551
8  Westpac Financial Services Limited 5,106,779 2.313
9 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited — GSCO ECSA 4,500,000 2.038
10 Queensland Investment Corporation 3,721,202 [.685
Il 1AG Nominees Pty Limited 3,596,530 |.629
12 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS WSLE 452 Aust Share A/c> 2,931,589 1.328
I3 UBS Nominees Pty Ltd <Prime Broking A/c> 2,717,342 [.231
I4  Pan Australian Nominees Pty Limited 2,470,307 19
IS Brispot Nominees Pty Lid <House Head Nominee No | A/c> 2,036,970 0.923
16 AMP Life Limited 1,987,159 0.900
17 Government Superannuation Office (A/c State Super Fund) 1,876,527 0.850
18 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFSIL Cwith Aust SHS 4 Ajc> 1,853,852 0.840
19 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited — GSCO ECA 1,732,492 0.785
20 Westpac Life Insurance Services Limited 1,722,535 0.780
198,524,948 89.914
Ordinary Shares
(c) Distribution of equity securities
I-1,000 -
1,001-5,000 -
5,001-10,000 -
10,001-100,000 -
100,001-99,999,999,999 2
Totals 2

(d) Substantial Shareholders

Number of Shares

Sectensteeg 2-6 | Exploitatiemaatschappij Bv
Metcash Limited

(e) Voting rights
All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction.

8% redeemable cumulative non-participating preference shares carry one vote per share
but the right to vote is restricted to matters that affect such shareholders.

385,332,000
353,797.828
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ABN 32 112 073 480

Directors

Carlos S dos Santos (Chairman)

A E (Ted) Harris, AC (Deputy Chairman)
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DIRECTORS” REPURY

“Your directors submit their report for the period ended 30 April 2005.

DIRECTORS

The names and details of the company's directors in office during the period and until the date of this report are as follows. Directors were in office for
this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities

Carlos S dos Santos (Chairman) Appointed: 18 April 2005

A E (Ted) Harris, AC (Deputy Chairman) Appointed: 18 April 2005

Andrew Reitzer (CEO) Appointed: 18 April 2005

Michael R Jablonski Appointed: |18 April 2005

Edwin M Jankelowitz Appointed: |8 April 2005

V Dudley Rubin Appointed: 18 April 2005

Peter L Barnes Appointed: {8 April 2005

Richard A Longes Appointed: |8 April 2005

Bernard | Hale Appointed: 18 April 2005

Joao Louis $ Jardim Appointed: |8 April 2005

Michael Wesslink Appointed: 18 April 2005

John Randall Appointed: 3 December 2004; Resigned: 18 April 2005
Paul Kaplan Appointed: |2 January 2005; Resigned: 18 April 2005
Michael Roche Appointed: 3 December 2004; Resigned: |8 April 2005
David Killingback Appointed: 3 December 2004; Resigned: 12 January 2005

For qualifications and experience of current Directors, please refer to “the Board" section of this financial report.

John Randall, BEc, FCPA, FCIS, MAICD
Mr Randall became a Director of Metcash Limited in December 2004 and resigned on 18 April 2005. Mr Randall is also currently the Company Secretary
of Metcash, having joined Metcash in 1997.

Michael Roche

Mr Roche became a Director in December 2004 and resigned on 18 April 2005. Mr Roche is a Managing Director of Deutsche Bank and Co-Head of
Capital Advisory and Debt Products in Australia and New Zealand. Prior to joining Deutsche Bank in 1993, Mr Roche was a director of ANZ Capel Court
and prior to this an Actuary with National Mutual. He has over 20 years of corporate finance experience.

Paul Kaplan

Mr Kaplan became a Director in January 2005. Mr Kaplan is a Director of Momentum Corporate Pty Lid, a boutique investment bank based in Sydney.
Mr Kaplan is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. Prior to joining Momentum Corporate in 2003, Mr Kaplan worked with
Arthur Andersen and Brait Limited (a listed investment bank) as well as being a Director and Chief Operating Officer of Global Micro Solutions Pty Ltd,
a technology services firm.

David Killingback
Mr Kilingback became a Director of Metcash Limited in December 2004 and resigned on 12th January 2005. Mr Killingback is a Director of Deutsche
Bank and head of Consumer & Retail.

COMPANY SECRETARY

John Randall, BEc, FCPA, FCIS, MAICD

John Randall has been company secretary of Metcash since 2000. He joined Metcash in 1997. Previously he was Chief Financial Officer of Metal
Manufactures Limited and Overseas Telecommunications Corporation Limited. President of the Accounting Foundation, University of Sydney, a former
National President of the Group of 100, NSW President and National Board Member of CPA Australia.
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Interests in the shares and options of the company and related bodies corporate

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of Metcash Limited were:

Ordinary Shares Options over
Ordinary Shares

A E (Ted) Harris, AC 374,838 -
Andraw Reftzer 1,820,000 680,000
Michael R Jablonski - 850,000
Edwi1 M Jankelowitz 760,000 340,000
Peter L Barnes 151,041 -
Richard A Longes 112,500 -
Bernard | Hale - 850,000
Joao Louis S Jardim 140,000 520,000
Michael Wesslink 364,374 540,000

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Cents
Basic earnings per share 1.6
Diluted earnings per share 1.5

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Corporate structure
Metcash Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domidiled in Australia.

Nature of operations and principal activities

The company was incorporated on 3 December 2004 as Newco Project X Limited and changed its name to Metcash Limited on 31 March 2005.
Effective 7 Aprit 2005 the Company acquired [00% ownership of Metcash Trading Limited by way of the acquisition of Metoz Holdings, majority owner
of Metcash Trading Limited, and by way of issue of the Company's shares to the other shareholders in Metcash Trading Limited. This annual report should
be read in conjunction with the annual report of Metcash Trading Limited,

Notwithstanding that the Company did not own Metcash Trading Limited before 7 April 2005, this directors report makes reference to the operations of
Metcash Trading Limited prior to and since its acquisition by the Company in order to provide meaningful comment on the developments within the
underlying ongoing business and activities of Metcash Trading Limited - that business is generally referred to herein as "Metcash.”

The principal activities during the period of entities within the consolidated entity were the wholesale distribution of groceries, liquor and associated
products.

Employees
The consclidated entity employed 4,3 16 employees as at 30 April 2005.
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REVIEW AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Group Overview
A review of the operations during the period, and the results of those operations, appears in the foregoing Chairman’s and
Chief Executive Officer’s (CEO) report.

Summarised operating results are as follows:

2005
Revenues Results
$°000 $°000

Business segments

Food Distribution 295164 13.632

Cash & Carry Distribution 77021 2.072

Liquor Distribution 180,557 |,464

552,742 17,168

Consolidated entity adjustments 17,279 (4,465)
Consolidated entity sales and operating profit 570,021 {2,703

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS

No significant changes in the state of affairs of the company occurred during the financial period, not otherwise disclosed in the Chairman’s and
CEO's report.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

Metcash announced on 25 May 2005 that it had reached agreement with Foodland Associated Ltd (FAL) to acquire the Australian business of FAL
excluding 19 Action stores and 3 Action development sites which will be acquired by Woolworths. Metcash will therefore acquire, on a debt free basis,
FAUs West Australian Franchise and Supply division, Action Retail division (excluding Woolworths Actions Stores), and all other FAL Australian assets,
Metcash is offering $780m in cash (or $6.61 per FAL share) or $859m in Metcash shares (or $7.29 per FAL share). It is expected the transaction will be
implemented by way of a scheme of arrangement. Documents are expected to be sent to FAL shareholders by FAL during September with the acquisition
becoming effective in October.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS

Information with respect to likely developments is set out within the report of the Chairman and CEQ elsewhere in this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental

Metcash considers environmental management an integral part of our corporate responsibility. The implementation of a National Environmental Strategy
has involved the recent undertaking of a national assessment to identify those activities, products and services of Metcash that may have an environmental
impact. The intention of this assessment is to provide a framework for action and for setting environmental objectives and goals and establishing a
disciplined management process for achieving targeted performance levels.

Food Safety

Metcash continues to operate an effective education and training program to ensure staff at all warehouses comply with all FSANZ Food Standards Code
requirements including the National Food Safety Standards and state Food Act regulations. This includes the ongoing management and continuous
mprovement of the food safety training and management system based on HACCP (Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point) risk management
principles that have been progressively implemented over all Metcash warehouses since 200 1.

Annual third party “certified” audits have assisted Metcash to ensure its sites are operating to the highest standard in food safety by identifying and managing
food safety risks and maintaining an effective continuous improvement culture. Throughout 2004 and 2005, Metcash has continued this HACCP based
systern of food safety management achieving 1009% HACCP Certification across all the existing Metcash sites which is well above national food safety
standards required for distribution warehouses.

In 2004/2005 a second full review of Metcash's QA management systems at Metcash Head Office also achieved ongoing HACCP Certfication. This
includes a review of the management of Corporate brand specifications, approval of suppliers, product recalls, customer complaints, product label data
management and internal protocols against FSANZ Food Standards Cede requirements.
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Metcash became a signatory to the National Packaging Covenant (NPC) in November 200 1. During the period there was an extensive reduction in
card >oard waste by the utilisation of plastic tote bins across the C store distribution sites as well as significant increase in the amount of recycled cardboard
& plastic packaging in all Metcash sites.

In 200472005, Metcash also continued to assist in the co-ordination of the ARA Code of Practice for Shopping Bags across the Independent retailer
network. The IGA Distribution group was able to support the Retail sector’s reduction of plastic shopping bags by 27% and continues to develop
marketing and in-store init atives that encourages a further reduction to the December 2005 target of a 50% reduction across the national Supermarkets,

OCGUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY

Pecple are the most important part of our business. Metcash acknowledge the need to maintain vigilance towards safety and to be proactive in identifying
new ways to improve performance through actively engaging our people in ‘Managing Safety Together’. Over the past twelve months Metcash has
renewed this commitment with significant investment in the development and commencement of a National safety management strategy that aims to
excezd legislative compliance and reduce workplace injuries.

Group Performance

No. of reported injuries 23% increase
No. of hours lost 4% decrease
Severity rate 0% decrease
No. of claims 15% decrease
Duretion rate 25% decrease

Due to a purposefully targeted focus across the business on reporting injuries to effectively identify and control risk, the number of reported incidents has
increased. Reductions in all other areas demonstrate effectiveness in controlling the management of injuries.

This is a pleasing performance and highlights the successful implementation of the new OHS strategy across the group.

WORKFORCE ENGAGEMENT

For zll of us at Metcash, engagement means the alignment of employees' efforts and contributions to those of the business and of shareholders. it is about
consant communication, regular and frequent teamn briefs and understanding and perhaps more importantly, "doing something about" what concerns
employees in their day-to-day activities.

Engazement at all levels of the workforce is one key to Metcash's on-going success. Re-enforced by work/life balance policies such as the highly successful
"Pro-Fit", which targets activities and programs designed to enrich the well being of all employees, Metcash continues to acknowledge and value the

contributions of all its employees.

The second climate survey was conducted during 2005 and whilst results are still being compiled at the time of writing, preliminary results show that
employees appreciate the opportunity to voice their feelings about Metcash and particularly the company's willingness to strive for continuous
improvernent. Metcash is regarded by employees as a good employer and a great place to work. This is particularly pleasing given the restructuring in
some: parts of the business and the continued and unrelenting pressure from our competitors.

With all of the challenges that the FAL integration brings to the business, there is a high degree of confidence in the ability of employees to meet those
challenges and become a t-ue "third force” on the grocery wholesaling and retailing sector.

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

(i) ~he Constitution of the Company permits the grant of an indemnity (to the maximum extent permitted by law) in favour of each Director, the
Company Secretary, past Directors and Secretaries, and all past and present Executive Officers. The Company has entered into Deeds of Indemnity
end Access with the current directors and certain other officers of the Company. This indemnity is against any liability to third parties (other than
related Metcash Trading companies), by such officers unless the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The indemnity also includes
costs or expenses incurred by an officer in unsuccessfully defending proceedings relating to that person’s position,

(i) During the financial pe-iod, the Company has paid, or agreed to pay, a premium in respect of a contract of insurance insuring officers (and any
persons who are officers in the future) against certain liability incurred in that capacity. Disclosure of the total amount of the premiums and the nature
«f the liabilities in respect of such insurance, is prohibited by the contract of insurance.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

This report outlines the remuneration arrangements for directors and executives of Metcash Limited.

Remuneration and Nomination committee
Role

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee of the Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for
the Directors, the Chief Executive Cfficer (CEO) and the senior management team.

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of directors and senior managers
on a periodic basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakehelder benefit from the
retention of a high quality board and executive team.

Remuneration Structure

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and senior manager remuneration is separate and distinct.

Non-Executive Director remuneration

Aggregate Directors' remuneration is determined from time to time at a general meeting. The current limit, $500,000, has not been increased since
determination in 1994 on incorporation of the then Davids Limited. A resolution to increase the aggregate remuneration to $1,000,000 is to be put to
shareholders at the | September 2005 Annual General Meeting.

Non-executive Directors are paid an annual fee, which is periodically reviewed to verify that directors’ remuneration is consistent with industry standards.
If necessary, external advice is obtained. Additional amounts are paid to the Chairman and Deputy Chairman to recognise the responsibilities involved with
those positions.

Non-executive Directors do not receive bonuses, and are not entitled to participate in the company's share option scheme.

A retirement benefit is paid to Non-executive Directors for past service. The benefits are in accordance with Section 8.3(h) and (i) of the Company's
Constitution and Section 200 of the Corporations Law.

On appointment, the Company entered into an agreement with Non-executive Directors that a benefit will be paid on their retirement as follows:
° A retiring allowance equal to one half of fhe Director's remuneration during the period of service as a Director of the company;
»  No allowance is paid unless the Director has served for at least three years;
¢ The maximum allowance that can be paid is an amount equal to the lesser of:
— Three times the remuneration earned by the Director in the |12 months immediately prior to the date of retirement; and
— The total emoluments of the director during the three years ending on the date of retirement.

Directors considered whether to continue to provide retirement allowances. No benefit can be seen to the Company in the alternative approach of
freezing and accruing existing entitlements and increasing directors’ fees to compensate for future accruals. It was decided to continue the existing
arrangements and pay directors a retirement benefit on the basis shown above, whilst providing full disclosure.

Senior manager and executive director remuneration

Remuneration Policy

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee recognises that the Group operates in a very competitive environment and that its performance depends
on the quality of its people, To continue to prosper, the Group must be able to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled executives.

The guiding principles of the Group's remuneration policy are to:

*  provide competitive rewards to aftract and retain executive talent;

*  apply demanding key performance indicators to deliver results across the Group and to a significant portion of the total reward;

¢ link rewards to executives to the creation of value to shareholders;

¢ assess and reward executives using financial and non-financial measures of performance;

* ensure remuneration arrangements between executives are equitable and facilitate the deployment of human resources around the Group; and

* limit severance payments on termination to pre-established contractual arrangements which do not commit the Group to making unjustified payments
in the event of non-performance.
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Remuneration and Nomination Committee Memberships and Meetings

The fallowing non-executive Directors were members of the Committee throughout the year:

¢ MrAE (Ted) Harris, AC (Chairman)

*  Mr Peter Barnes

¢ Mr Carlos dos Santos

The Committee did not meet during the year. However, the Remuneration and Nomination Committee of Metcash Trading Limited met four times
during the year.

Advisors

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Human Resources Officer have assisted the committee in its deliberations during the year. In addition Hay
GrouLp and Egan and Associates were retained to provide assistance and advice on market-related remuneration and short, medium and long-term
incentives.

Structure

Servize contracts exist for senior executives including the Chief Executive Officer. They are unlimited in term but capable of termination on |5 months
notic2 in the case of the Chief Executive Officer and 9 months notice in the case of executives who are direct reports to the Chief Executive Officer.
The 'Sroup retains the right to terminate the contract immediately, by making payments equal to the notice period, in lieu of notice. In addition, should
term nation be as a result of redundancy, a further payment of 9 months of fixed remuneration (base salary plus superannuation) is payable to the Chief
Exec tive Officer and 6 months further payment to Executives who are direct reports to the Chief Executive.

The Zhief Executive Officer and Executives who are direct reports to the Chief Executive, may terminate their employment by giving 3 months notice.

The service contracts typically outline the components of remuneration paid to executives but do not prescribe how remuneration levels are reviewed
each year to take account of cost-of-living changes, any change in the scope of the role performed by the executive and any changes required to meet
the rrinciples of the remuneration policy.

Rem uneration is divided into two components. The first is the fixed or base component, which is made up of base salary and superannuation benefits.
The second is the ‘at risk’ component which is subject to Key Performance Indicators (KPls) and performance hurdles and is generally made up of short,
med um and long-term incentives that take the form of cash payments and/or participation in the equity plans. The amount of ‘at risk’ remuneration, if any,
that is earned by an executive is wholly dependent on that executive's and the Group'’s performance against those pre-determined KPIs and performance
hurd es.

Fixed Remuneration

Base salary and benefits

Base salaries are determined by reference to the scope and nature of the individual's role and their performance and experience. Market data is used to
benchmark salary levels. Particular consideration is given to competitive remuneration levels,

Superannuation benefits

Superannuation benefits are delivered in accordance with the Federal Government's Superannuation Guarantee Levy, which currently sits at 9% of fixed
remuneration to a maximum of $147,020 p.a. and for amounts above that at a flat $12,140 p.a.

At risk remuneration

At risk remuneration is delivered at short, medium and long-term incentives and applies to the Group's senior management, which includes the Company
Secrztary. The components of the at risk remuneration are as follows:

¢  Ixecutive management bonus scheme (short-term incentive). This scheme delivers a maximum of 509 of fixed remuneration subject to achievement
of pre-determined KPls relating to Pillar and/or Group financial and individual performance.

*  Options plan (long-term incentive). This plan delivers options to individuals and is subject to achievement of performance hurdies for Executive
Directors based on increase in earnings per share,

Earrings per share growth has been selected as the performance measure as it directly relates to the performance of the company and is not distorted by
external influences as are other measures such as total shareholder value.
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The performance hurdle for options issued to executive Directors in 2001, as agreed by members at the Annual General Meeting held on 3 September
2001, was that, in each of the years in which options became available for exercise, earnings per share for the financial year preceding the tranche exercise
date must be at least equal to a 20% annual increase of earnings per share compounded from the 2001 earnings per share, adjusted for any dilution that
rright occur as a consequence of any afteration to the nurnber of ordinary shares issued. The same hurdie rates were agreed by members at the 2004
Annual General Meeting for options issued to an executive director.

Before options are exercised by executive directors, agreement is obtained from the Remuneration & Nomination Committee who verify that the hurdle
has been achieved with confirmation obtained from the company's external auditors if thought necessary.

Performance hurdles have not been applied to options issued to the five senior managers listed in Note 29 'Directors and Executives Disclosure’ as they
do not have the ability to influence the performance of the company to the same degree as executive directors. They also generally are offered a smaller
number of options than executive directors. The employee option scheme applies to all of the company's employees and it is not considered practicable
for hurdles to apply in all instances. The cut off for hurdles selected by the company is at the executive director level.

'At Risk Remuneration’ and Company Performance

The 'at risk remuneration’, with the short term focus on sales and profit and the long term segment influenced by earnings per share and share price. has
contributed to the growth in the shareholder returns displayed below:

Remuneration Summary

Detailed in Note 29 'Directors & Executives Disclosures’ is the remuneration paid to Directors and the 5 named executives

Shareholder Returns

The ongoing performance of the Group has ensured that returns to shareholders, through both dividends and capital growth has continued. The recently
announced capital reorganisation and takeover of FAL has increased the value of Metcash shares substantially.

MTT/MTS combined 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Earnings per share before Goodwill 19.53 18.86 16.19 14.09 10.40
Earnings per share 16.307 16.10 13.10 8.89 3.93
Dividends per share 10.00 [1.00 8.60 5.00 1.50
Return on Equity 15.80% 22.70 21.10 16.50 9.40
Share price 320 2.50 2.19 2.40 .71

* Influenced by the Capital Re-organisation

Review of Financial condition

As discussed in the Chairman's and CEQ report, the Group undertook a capital reorganisation during the year Metcash Limited acquired the equity of the
Metcash Group previously owned by Metoz Holding Limited (the former Metro Cash & Carry Limited of South Africa). As a result Metcash Limited now
owns 100% (directly or indirectly) of Metcash Trading Limited.

Operating cash flow for the year was strong at $183.6m, up from $171.0m in the previous year, a 7.4% increase.

The strength of the company's balance sheet and future prospects has allowed Metcash Limited to undertake the extensive capital and debt raising
activities required to fund the capital reorganisation and the FAL takeover. Metcash management remained committed to prudent balance sheet and capital
management initiatives to ensure shareholder value is maximised.

Risk Management

The Metcash Group takes a proactive approach to risk management. The Audit Risk and Compliance Committee has the responsibility to advise on the
establishment and maintenance of a framework of internal control, effective management of financial and other risks, compliance with laws and regulations
and appropriate ethical standards for the management of Metcash. A more detailed analysis of the Risk Management process undertaken by Metcash is
contained in the '‘Corporate Governance’ section of the report.
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CE® and CFO Declaration
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have provided a declaration which states

(a) With regard to the integrity of the financial statements of Metcash Limited for the period to 30th April 2005:

0

(i)

(i)

The financial statements and associated notes comply in all material respects with the accounting standards as required by Section 296 of the
Corporations Act 2001;

The financial statements and associated notes give a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the financial position as at 30th April 2005 and
performance of the company for the period months then ended as required by Section 297 of the Corporations Act 2001;

In our opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

(b) With regard to the financial records and systems of risk management and internal compliance and control of Metcash Limited for the period ended
30th April 2005:

0
(i}

(iin

(iv)

The finandial records of the company have been properly maintained in accordance with Section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001,

The statements made in (a) above regarding the integrity of the financial statements are founded on a sound system of risk management and
internal compliance and control which, in all material respects, implements the policies adopted by the Board of Directors;

The risk management and internal compliance and control systems of the company relating to financial reporting, compliance and operations
objectives are operating efficiently and effectively, in all material respects.

Subsequent to 30th April 2005, no changes or other matters have arisen that would have a material effect on the operation of risk
management and internal control and control systems of the company.

Auditor Independence and Non-Audit Services

Tre directors received te following declaration from the Auditor of Metcash Limited.

[

ﬂERNgﬁ_& V@UNG o Ernst & Young Centre 2 Tel 6129248 5555 .

680 George Street Fax 6129248 5959 i
Sydney NSW 2000 DX Sydney Stock

Australia Exchange 10172 [

GPO Box 2646
Sydney NSW 2001

Auditors’ Independence Declaration to the Directors of Metcash Limited [

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Metcash Limited for the financial period ended 30
Aprill 2005, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of

professional conduct. r

Ermnst & Young

Gary G Daniels
Partner
18 July 2005

Liability limited by the Accountants Scheme, approved
under the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW).
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Non-Audit Services

The following non-audit services were provided by the entity’s auditor, Ernst & Young. The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services
ic compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit
service provided means that auditor independence was not compromised.

Ernst & Young received or are due to receive the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services:

Tax Compliance Services — Australia $831,783
— New Zealand $10,000
Assurance related $32,000
Transaction Advisory Services $120,000
Other Services - Australia $132,198
- New Zealand $15,000

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

Prior to 7 April 2005, there were |3 directors’ meetings, 4 remuneration and nomination committee meetings, 3 audit risk and compliance meetings held
by Metcash Trading Limited.

Committee membership
As at the date of this report, the company had an Audit Risk & Compliance Committee and a Remuneration & Nomination Committee. Members on the
committees are:

Audit Risk & Compliance Remuneration & Nomination
R.A. Longes (c) AE. Harris, AC ()

PL. Barnes C.S. dos Santos

V.D. Rubin PL. Barnes

Notes

() Designates the chairman of the committee.

For details of the committees, their charters and current membership, please refer to the section under “Corporate Governance”.

ROUNDING

The amounts contained in this report and in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is applicable) under the
option available to the company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The company is an entity to which the Class Order applies.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

in recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the directors of Metcash Limited support and have adhered
to the principles of corporate governance. The company's corporate governance statement is contained in the Corporate Governance section of this
annual report.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Andrew Reitzer
Director

Svdney, 22 july 2005
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Metcash Group

Metcash Limited

2005 2005

Notes $'000 $'000
Sale; revenue 2 514,762 -
Cos: of sales (506,968) -
Grass Profit 7,794 -
Other revenues from ordinary activities 2 55,259 -
Share of net profits of associates and joint venture
accounted for using the equity method 2 40 -
Warehouse & distribution expenses (18,222) -
Borrowing costs expensed 3 (2,139) -
Selling, general & administration expenses (30,029) -
Profit from Ordinary Activities
before Income Tax Expense 12,703 -
Income Tax Expense Relating
to Ordinary Activities 4 (6,071) -
Profit from Ordinary Activities
after Income Tax Expense 6,632 -
Net Profit 6,632 -
Net: Profit Attributable to Members
of Metcash Limited 22 6,632 -
Total Changes in Equity Other Than
Those Resulting from Transactions with
Owners as Owners Attributable to
Members of Metcash Limited 6,632 -
Basi: earnings per share (cents per share) [.6
Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 1.5

The Statement of Financial Performance is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements,
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Current Assets
Cash assets
Receivables
Inventories

Other
Total Current Assets

Non-Current Assets
Receivables

Investments accounted for using the equity methed

Other financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets

Intangible assets

Other

Total Non-Current Assets

Total Assets

Current Liabilities
Payables
Interest-bearing liabilities
Current tax liabilities
Provisions

Total Current Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities
Mon Interest-bearing liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities
Frovisions

Total Non-Current Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Net Assets

Equity
Parent entity interest
Contributed equity
Reserves
Retained profits
Total parent entity interest in equity

Total Equity

The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Metcash Group

Metcash Limited

2005 2005

Notes $'000 $'000
189,607 -

648,006 -

402,015 -

9,707 -

1,249,335 -

8 29814 -
9 2,450 -
10 4,121 2,242,229
12 129,073 -
4 5,472 -
13 1,771,818 -
|4 13,568 -
1,956,316 2,242,229

3,205,651 2,242,229

) 826,879 906,621
16 7,995 -
4 22,156 -
|7 30,977 -
888,007 906,621

18 373,873 -
|9 402,469 -
20 18,838 -
795,180 -

1,683,187 906,621

1,522,464 1,335,608

21 1,518,599 1,335,608
2 2.767) -
22 6,632 -
1,522,464 1,335,608

1,522,464 1,335,608

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005
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PERIOD ENDED 30 APRIL 2005

Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005

Notes $'000 $°000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts from customers 708,636 -
Payments to suppliers and employees (514,769) -
Inter 2st received 1,364 -
Borrowing costs (1,501) -
Income tax paid (18) -
Goo Is & Services tax paid (14,522) -
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 23(z) 179,190 -
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proc zeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 7,575 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (6,648) -
Cast acquired from acquisition of subsidiaries/business 1,199,359 -
Payment on acquisition of subsidiaries/business (1,105,184) (1,097,503)
Loars (to)ffrom other entities (66,198) 1,097,053
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 28,904 -
Cash Flows used in Financing Activities
Refu~d of CULS (10,282) -
Proczeds from issue of CUPS 50,000 -
Repeyments of borrowings — other (70,876) -
Proczeds from issue of ordinary shares
priot to 7 April 2005 13,125 -
Payment of funding costs (808) -
Net Cash Flows used in Financing Activities (18,841) -
Net Increase in Cash Held 189,253 -
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 354 -
Closing Cash Carried Forward 23(b) 189,607 -

The Staterment of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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30 APRIL 2005

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of accounting
The Company was incorporated on 3 December 2004. The financial report covers the period 3 December 2004 to 30 April 2005. Accordingly there are
no prior year comparatives.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 200
which includes applicable Accounting Standards. Other mandatory professional reporting requirements {Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views) have also
been complied with.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
(b) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are those of the consolidated entity, comprising Metcash Limited (the parent entity) and all entities which Metcash
Limited controlled from time to time during the period and at balance date.

Information from the financial statements of controlled entities is included from the date the parent company obtains control until such time as control
ceases. Where there is loss of control of a controlled entity, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the reporting period
during which the parent company has control.

Controlled entity acquisitions are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.

The financial statements of controlled entities are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies which may exist.

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated in full. Unrealised losses

are eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered.

(c) Foreign currencies
Translation of foreign currency transactions

“Transactions in foreign currencies of entities within the consolidated entity are converted to local currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the date
of the transaction.

Foreign currency monetary items that are outstanding at the reporting date (other than monetary items arising under foreign currency contracts where the
exchange rate for that monetary item is fixed in the contract) are translated using the spot rate at the end of the financial period.

Translation of financial reports of overseas operations

All overseas operations are deemed self-sustaining as each is financially and operationally independent of Metcash Limited. The financial reports of cverseas
operations are translated using the current rate method and any exchange differences are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand and in banks and short-term deposits are stated at nominal value.

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments readily convertible to cash
within 2 working days, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

Bank overdrafts are carried at the principal amount. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues.
(e) Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectable debts. An estimate for doubtful debts is made
when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written-off as incurred.

Receivables from related parties are recognised and carried at the nominal amount due. Interest is taken up as income on an accrual basis.
Bills of exchange and promissory notes are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

() Investments

Listed shares held for trading are carried at cost.

Where listed shares have been revalued, any capital gains tax which may become payable has not been taken into account in determining the revalued
carrying amount, Where it is expected that a liability for capital gains tax exists, this amount is recognised in the profit or loss for the reporting period.

Investrments in associates are carried at the lower of the equity-accounted amount and recoverable amount in the consolidated financial report.

All other non-current investments are carried at the lower of cost and recoverable amount.
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1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Inventories

Inveritories of finished goods are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. In accordance with industry practice, cost is determined by deducting
from the supplier’s invoice price any purchase incentives, allowances, discounts and net marketing income. The method adopted to assign costs to

inver tories is first-in, first-out.

Proparty held for resale are classified as inventory and valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of acquisition and any
subse:quent development costs or improvements,

(h) Recoverable Amount

Non-current assets measured using the cost basis are not carried at an amount above their recoverable amount, and where a carrying value exceeds this
recoverable amount, the asset is written down. In determining recoverable amount, the expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present
value using a market determined risk adjusted discount rate of 8.55%.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Cost and valuation

All classes of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost.

Where assets have been previously revalued, the potential effect of the capital gains tax on disposal has not been taken into account in the determination
of thee revalued carrying amount. Where it is expected that a liability for capital gains tax will arise, this expected amount is disclosed by way of note.

Deprzciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land.

Major depreciation periods are:

Freehold buildings: 50 years
Plant and equipment: 5—15 years
(j) l.eases

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and
benefits incidental to ownership.

Operting leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased
item. are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis.

The ease incentive liabllity in refation to the non-cancellable operating lease is being reduced on an imputed interest basis over the lease term (5 years) at
the rate implicit in the lease.

Conlingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Finar ce leases

Leases which effectively transfer substantially all of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item to the group are capitalised at the
present value of the minimum lease payments and disclosed as property, plant and equipment under lease. A lease liability of equal value is also
reconised.

Capialised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term. Minimum lease payments are
allocited between interest expense and reduction of the lease liability with the interest expense calculated using the interest rate implicit in the lease and
charged directly to the Statement of Financial Performance.

The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is capitalised, disclosed as leasehold improvements, and amortised over the unexpired period of
the l2ase or the estimated useful lives of the improvements, whichever is the shorter.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Intangibles
Patents and licences

Patents and licences are carried at cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives, being 20 vears.

Coodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired at the time of acquisition of a business

or shares in a controlled entity.

Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line basis over the period during which benefits are expected to be received, up to a maximum of 20 years.

(I) Other non-current assets
Expenditure carried forward

Significant items of carry forward expenditure having a benefit or relationship to more than one pericd are written off over the periods to which such
expenditure relates.

(m) Payables
Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and
services received, whether or not billed to the consolidated entity.

Payables to related parties are carried at the principal amount. Interest, when charged by the lender, is recognised as an expense on an accruals basis.
Deferred cash settlements are recognised at the present value of the outstanding consideration payable on the acquisition of an asset discounted at
prevailing commercial borrowing rates.

(n) Interest-bearing liabilities

All loans are measured at the principal amount. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues.

Bills of exchange and promissory notes are carried at the principal amount plus deferred interest.

Finance lease liabitity is determined in accordance with the requirements of AASB 1008 “Leases”.

(o) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the economic entity has a legal, equitable or constructive obligation to make a future sacrifice of econornic benefits to

other entities as a result of past transactions or other past events, it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obiigation.

Provisions for Store Lease & Remediations are raised where the economic entity has committed to the closure of stores. The future lease costs, net of any
income from sub leasing, are discounted to their net present value in determining the provision.

Dividends payable are recognised when a legal or constructive obligation to pay the dividend arises, typically following approval of the dividend at a
meeting of shareholders.
(p) Contributed equity

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the company.

Any transaction costs arising on the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of the share proceeds received.

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005  B7
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(q) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised 1o the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

Sale of Goods

Control of the goods has passed to the buyer.

Interest

Cortrol of the right to receive the interest payment.

Dividends

Cortrol of the right to receive the dividend payment.

(r) Taxes

Tax-effect accounting is applied using the liability method whereby income tax is regarded as an expense and is calculated on the accounting profit after
allowing for permanent differences. To the extent timing differences occur between the time items are recognised in the financial statements and when
items are taken into account in determining taxable income, the net related taxation benefit or liability, calculated at current rates, is disclosed as a future
incomne tax benefit or a provision for deferred income tax. The net future income tax benefit relating to tax losses and timing differences is not carried
forvvard as an asset unless the benefit is virtually certain of being realised.

Where assets are revalued no provision for potential capital gains tax has been made,
Gocds and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

~ where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

— receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial

Position.

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing
act vities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows.

Cemmitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority.
(s) Employee benefits

Provision is made for emiployee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the reporting date. These benefits include wages

and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and long service leave.

Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and any other employee benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of
the: reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future
cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. In determining the present vafue of future cash outflows,
the: interest rates attaching to government guaranteed securities which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability are used.

Employee benefit expenses and revenues arising in respect of the following categories:

- wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave, sick leave and other leave entitlements: and
— other types of employee benefits

are charged against profits on a net basis in their respective categories.

The value of the employee share incentive scheme described in note 25 is not being charged as an employee benefit expense.
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1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t) Earnings per share
Basic EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share
dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

Diluted EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted for:

— costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends;

- the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; and

- other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares;
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element.

(u) Securitisation

Securitisation arrangements, where the risks and benefits associated with the securitised assets are retained by the economic entity, are regarded as

financing transactions. Accordingly, the related assets are brought to account and disclosed as securitised and the amounts arising under the financing
arrangement are brought to account as borrowings. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues
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2. REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005
Notes $000 $'000
Revenues from operating activities
Reveriue from sale of goods 514,762 -
Total revenues from operating activities 514,762 -
Revenues from non-operating activities
Rent 2,041 -
Merchandising income 41,788 -
Interest
Other persons/corporations 1,367 -
Retall income 2,488 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 7,575 -
Total -evenues from non-operating activities 55,259 -
Total revenues from ordinary activities 570,02i -
Share of net profits of associates and
joint venture partnership accounted
for using the equity method
Snare of associates' profits @) 40 -
40 -

h)
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3.  EXPENSES AND LOSSES/(GAINS)

(a) Expenses
Cost of goods sold

Depreciation of non-current assets
Plant and equipment
Buildings

Total depreciation of non-current assets

Amartisation of non-current assets
Goodwill
Other non current assets

Total amortisation of non-current assets

Total depreciation and amortisation expenses

Borrowing costs expensed
Interest expense
Finance lease
interest and finance charges paid or payable

Total borrowing costs expensed

Bad and doubtful debts — trade debtors
Inventories shrinkage value written off

Operating lease rental
— minimum lease payments

Total operating lease rental

(b) Gains
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Metcash Group Metcash Limited

2005 2005
Notes $°000 $'000

506,968 -

2,002 -
35 -

2,037 .

7,026 -
648 -

7,674 -

9,71) -

140 -
1,999 -

2,139 -

17 -

8,693 -

5,590 -

5,590 ~

(4.279) -

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005
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4.  INCOME TAX

Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005
Notes $'000 $000
The prima facie tax, using tax rates applicable
in the country of operation. on profit differs
from the income tax provided in the
financial statements as follows:
Primez. facie tax on profit from ordinary activities 3,872 -
Tax effect of permanent differences
Amortisation of intangiole assets 2,108 -
Other items (net) ¢l -
incorne tax expense attributable to ordinary activities 6,071 -
Defarred tax assets and liabilities
Prov sion for income tax — current 22,156 -
Futurre income tax benefit — non-current 5,472 -

This future income tax benefit will only be obtained if:

(@) ‘uture assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised;
(b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and

(c) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the consolidated entity in realising the benefit.

5.  RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)
Metcash Group Metcash Limited

2005 2005
Notes $'000 $'000

Trade debtors — securitised 5(@) 533,969 -
Trade debtors — non securitised 5(a) 79,029 -
Provision for doubtful debts (8,553) -

604,445 -
Other receivables 5(a) 43,561 -

648,006 -

(a) Terms and conditions
(i) Trade debtor terms vary by business unit. At 30 April 2005, 89.95% of trade debtors are required to be settled within 30 days and 10.05% of trade
debtors have terms extending from 30 days to 60 days.

(i) The economic entity has securitised certain trade receivables by way of granting an equitable interest over those receivables to a special purpose trust
managed by a major Australian bank. The terms of the securitisation require, as added security, that at any time the book value of the securitised
receivables must exceed by at least a certain proportional amount, the funds provided by the trust to the economic entity as a consequence of
securitisation. At the end of the financial period trade receivables of $533,969,000 had been securitised as disclosed above, with $nil of funds
received. The resultant security margin exceeded the minimum required at that date.

(iiir Other receivables are non-interest bearing and have repayment terms of less than |2 months.
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6.  INVENTORIES (CURRENT)

Finished goods
Finished goods at cost
Provision for obsolescence

Other assets held for resale at cost
Land and buildings

Total inventories at lower of cost and
net realisable value

(2) The Directors consider the land and
buildings amounts to be carried at not more
than realisable value.

(b) Land held for resale is immaterial to be
separated from land and buildings.

7.  OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Prepayments

8.  RECEIVABLES (NON-CURRENT)

Loans
Qther receivables

(@) Refer to note 5(a) for terms and conditions

Notes

Metcash Group

2005
$'000

Metcash Limited

2005
$'000

409,260
(7451)

401,809

6(2). (b)

206

206

402,015

9,707

9,707

8(a)

15,769
14,045

29,814

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005
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9.  INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

Metcash Group

Metcash Limited

Other Investments

2005 2005
Notes $000 $'000
2,450 -
2,450 -

Interest in Associates

Name

Balance date

Ownership interest held
by consolidated entity

Produze Traders Trust
Abacus Independent Retail Property Trust

(i) Principal activities

Distrittion of Fruit & Vegetables; Investment in Retail Property

Notes

2005 2004
$'000 $'000
30 june 40 -
30 Jure 25 -

Metcash Group

2005
$'000

(it) Share of associates’ profits

Share of associates’:
— operating profits before income tax

40

— operating profits after income tax

40

Share of associates' operating profits and
extraordinary items after income tax

40

Share of associates’ net profits

40

(iii) Carrying amount of investment in associates

Acqui ed through Metcash Trading Limited
— share of associates’ net profits for the period

2,410
40

Carry ng amount of investment in associates
at the end of the financial period

2,450

{iv) Snare of associates’ assets and liabilities

Current assets
Non-zurrent assets
Current liabilities
Non-zurrent liabilities

1,281

2,823

(2.223)
(71

Net /ssets

1,710

(v) Retained profits of the consolidated
entity attributable to associates

Acquired through Metcash Trading Limited
Share of associates’ net prefits

886
40

Balanze at the end of the period

There are no contingent liabilities or capital commitments of associates.
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10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (NON-CURRENT)

Investments at cost comprise.

Shares
Listed
Unlisted
Controlled entities — unlisted

Total investments

Metcash Group

Metcash Limited

2005 2005

Notes $000 $'000
20 -

4,101 -

Il - 2,242,229
4,121 2,242,229

11.  INTERESTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Name

Metcash Trading Limited
Austrafian Liquor Marketers Pty Limited
Campbells Cash and Carry Pty Ltd
Clancy's Food Stores Pty Lid
Cotswrap Pty Ltd
Metcash Export Services Pty Ltd
Davids Supermarkets Pty Lid
IGA Retail Services Pty Ltd
Jewel Food Stores Pty Ltd
Jewel Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd
M-C International Australia Pty Ltd
Metro Cash & Carry Pty Ltd
Property Reference Pty Ltd
Retail Merchandise Services Pty Ltd
Davids Food Services Pty Ltd
Australian Liquor Marketers (QLD) Pty Lid
Denham Bros Pty Limited
Moucharo Pty Lid
QIW Pty Limited
Queensland Independent Wholesalers Pty Limited
Regzem (No. 3) Pty Ltd
Regzem (No. 4) Pty Ltd
tetail Stores Development Finance Pty Limited
Rockblock Pty Ltd
RSDF Nominees Pty Ltd
Australis Marine Services (Australia) Pty Ltd
Bofeme Pty Ltd
City lce and Cold Storage Company Pty Ltd
Composite Buyers Finance Pty Ltd
Composite Buyers Pty Limited
Composite Pty Ltd
David Boehm Pty Ltd
IGA Distribution Pty Ltd
IGA Distribution (Vic) Pty Ltd
Five Star Wholesalers Pty Ltd
Metcash Holding Pty Limited
Keithara Pty Ltd

Country of Incorporation

Percentage of equity interest
held by the consolidated entity

2005

%

Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia |00
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100
Australia 100

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005
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11. INTERESTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Narne

Knoxfield Transport Service Pty Ltd
Moorebank Transport Pty Ltd

Paylzss Superbarn (NSW) Pty Ltd

Payl=ss Superbarn (VIC) Pty Ltd

Rair bow Supermarkets Pty Ltd

Mirren (Australia) Pty Ltd

Stor emans (Management) Pty Ltd

Stor emans Self Service Pty Ltd

Arrcw Pty Limited

Blue Lake Exporters Pty Ltd

Casarina Village Shopping Centre Pty Ltd
IGA Distribution (SA) Limited

Met:zash Management Pty Lid

Gawder Supermarkets Pty Ltd

Met:ash Storage Ltd

Gre:n Triangle Meatworks Limited
Pasadena Properties Pty Lxd

Pasadena Retail Pty Ltd

Plympton Properties Pty Ltd

Seaford Supermarket Pty 1td

Dav ds Group Staff Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd
Australian Liquor Marketers (WA) Pty Ltd
Jorgensons Confectionery Pty Limited
Tasman Liguor Company Ltd
Amalgamated Confectionery Wholesalers Pty Ltd
Hanvest Liquor Pty Ltd

IGA Pacific Pty Limited

IGA Retail Network Limited

Indesendent Brands Australia Pty Limited
Nevton Cellars Pty Ltd

Rege:no Pty Limited

Rennet Pty Limited

Tashzr No.8 Pty Limited

Vawin No.3 Pty Ltd

Aust-alian Asia Pacific Whclsalers Pty Limited
Rainsow Unit Trust

Wirr bledon Unit Trust

Action Holdco Pty Limited

GP New Co Pty Ltd

IGA Community Chest Limited

Melton New Co Pty Ltd

NZ Holdco Limited

Metoz Holdings Limited

Pinnacle Holdings Limited

Wickson Corporation NV

Soetznsteeg 2-6| Exploitatiemaatschappij BY

Country of Incorporation

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
New Zealand
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
South Africa
Jersey
Netherlands
Netherlands

Percentage of equity interest
held by the consolidated entity

2005
%

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
|00
100
100
100
100
100

50
100
100
t00
100
100
100
100

71
100
100
100
100
t00
100
100
100
100
100
100
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12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005
Notes $'000 $°000
Freehold land
At cost 5,907 -
12(a) 5,907 -
Buildings on freehold land
At cost 14,858 -
Accumulated depreciation (1,740) -
[ 2(a) 13,118 -
Leasehold improvements
At cost 9,000 -
Accumulated amortisation (933) -
[2(a) 8,067 -
Other land and buildings
Total fand and buildings 27,092 -
Plant and equipment under lease
At cost 46,118 -
Accumulated amortisation (21,571) -
24,547 -
Plant & machinery
At cost 122,563 -
Accumulated depreciation (45,129) -
77,434 -
Total plant and equipment 101,981 -
Total property, plant and equipment
Cost 198,446 -
Accumulated depreciation and amortisation (69,373) -

Total written down amount 129,073 -

(a) Valuations

The fair values of freehold land, and buildings on freehold land have been determined by reference to director valuations, based upon independent
valuations previously obtained. Such valuations are performed on an open market basis, being the amounts for which the assets could be exchanged
between a knowledgeable willing buyer and a knowledgeable willing seller in an arm's length transaction at the valuation date.

In April 2003 a directors valuation was performed on the land and buildings that were owned by Metcash Trading Limited and its subsidiaries.
The valuation obtained stated the value of the land and buildings to be valued at $28,285,000. Directors believe this valuation is still appropriate
as at 30 April 2005.
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12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Notes

Metcash Group

2005
$'000

Metcash Limited

2005
$000

{b) Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment at the beginning and end

of the current financial year period

Freehold land

Carrying amount at beginning
Add tions through acquisit on cof entities/operations

5,907

Buildings on freehold fand

Carrying amount at beginning
Add tions through acquisition of entities/operations
Degreciation expense

5,907

13,153
(35)

13,118

Leaszhold Improvements

Carrying amount at beginning
Add tions through acquisition of entities/operations
Amortisation expense

8,079
(12)

8,067

Plan: and equipment under lease

Carrying amount at beginning

Add tions

Additions through acquisition of entities / operations
Amortisation expense

647
24,548
(648)

24,547

Plan and machinery

Carrying amount at beginning

Additions

Additions through acquisition of entities / operations
Depreciation expense

13. INTANGIBLES

Gocdwill
Acct mulated amortisation

6,648
72,788
(2,002)

77,434

1,778,844
(7.026)

1,771,818

14. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Deferred debt costs

13,568

13,568
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15. PAYABLES (CURRENT)

Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005
Notes $'000 $'000
Trade creditors 15(2) 723,037 -
Other creditors 15(@2) 103,842 906,621
826,879 906,621
Aggregate amounts payable to related parties:
Crther related parties
— additional related parties 31 - 906,621
- 906,621

(a) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments:

(i  Trade creditors are generally settled within 30 days. The Directors consider the carrying amounts of trade and other creditors to approximate
their net fair values.

16. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (CURRENT)
Lease liability 16(2), (b), 24 7,995 -
7,995 -

(@) Secured lease liability — finance lease

(b) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments

0] Finance leases have an average lease term of 5 years with the option to purchase the asset at the completion of the lease term for the asset's
market value. The average discount rate implicit in the lease is 7.2% . Secured lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the leased asset.

17. PROVISIONS (CURRENT)

Employee entitlements 25 27,364 -
Store Lease and remediation provision 1,413 -
Other provisions 2,200 -

30,977 -

18. PAYABLES (NON-CURRENT)

Convertible, redeemable, subordinated,
unsecured loan notes (CULS) 373,873 -

373,873 -

(a) The above represents 50% of the criginal CULS issue, which may be converted at Metcash'’s election on maturity date (19 September 2005).
At maturity date, CULS will be converted into Metcash Limited shares on a [ basis or CULS will be redeemed at the issue price plus redemption
premium of 5%. Alternatively, Metcash may extend the maturity date by 3 months and convert them into Metcash Limited shares on a [:1 basis
or redeem the CULS at the issue price plus a redemption premium of 7.5%.

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005 29
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19. INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES (NON-CURRENT)

Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005 ‘
Notes $°000 $'000 :
Lease liability 15(2), (b), 24 17,469 -
Borrowings
— bank loans 33, 19(b) 335,000 -
Borrowings secured by floating charge
- CUPS 33, 19(b) 50,000 -
402,469 -
(8) Secured lease liability — finance lease 17,469 -

(b) Terms and conditions relating to the above financial instruments

(0 Finance leases have an average lease term of 5 years with the option to purchase the asset at the completion of the lease term for the asset's
market value. The average discount rate implicit in the lease is 7.2%. Secured lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the leased asset.

(i) Bank loans are a 3-year senior unsecured syndicated loan note subscription facility. The Syndicated Facility is to be provided to Metcash Group
by a syndicate of lenders and has been fully underwritten by ANZ.

@ity CUPS (Convertible Undated Preference Shares) allow for the holder to request conversion, at which time the issuer can choose to convert
them into a variable number of shares in Metcash Limited or redeem for cash. The issuer can also redeem the CUPS at any time prior to
conversion. A preferential non-cumulative dividend will be payable on the CUPS in arrears.

20. PROVISIONS (NON-CURRENT)

Employee entittements 25 17,748 -
Store lease and remediation provision 1,090 -
18,838 -

(a) Movement in provisions
(i) Store lease and remediation provision (current/non current)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial period - -

Additions through acquisition of entities / operations 4,004 -
Amount utilised during the period (1,501) -
Carrying amount at the end of the financial period 2,503 -

(ify  Other provision (current/non current)

Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial period - -

Additions through acquisition of entities / operations 3,506 -
Amount utilised during the period (1,306) -
Carrying amount at the end of the financial period 2,200 -

21. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

(a) Issued and paid up capital
Ordinary shares fully paid 1,335,608 1,335,608

1,335,608 1,335,608

{b) Convertible debt securities
Convertible, redeemable, subordinated,

unsecured loan notes (CULS) 182,991 -
182,991 -
Total Contributed Equity 1,518,599 1,335,608
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21. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)

2005
Number of shares $'000
(c) Movements in shares on issue
Issued during the period
—  Conversion of shares from
Metcash Trading Limited at $3.27 per share 353,797 828 1,156,918
—  Less transaction costs - (4,300)
- Conversion of CULS 73,597,405 186,937
—  Less transaction costs - (3,947)
End of the financial period 427,395,233 1,335,608
2005
Options over ordinary shares: Number
(d) Share Options
Options over ordinary shares:
Opening balance -
Converted from Metcash Trading Limited 12,324,700
Closing balance 12,324,700
Issued subsequent to period end -
Outstanding at date of Directors' Report 12,324,700

(e) Terms and conditions of contributed equity
Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the company, to participate in the proceeds from the sale
of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held.

The CULS at note 21(b) are mandatorily convertible to Metcash Limited shares on |9 September 2005 on a 11 basis.

22, RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS

Metcash Group Metcash Limited

2005 2005
Notes $000 $'000
a) Foreign currency translation 0] (2,767) -
(2,767) -

b) Retained profits
Net profit attributable to members of Metcash Limited 6,632 -
Total available for appropriation 6,632 -
Balance at end of period 6,632 -

{i) Nature and purpose; the foreign currency transaction reserve is used to record excharige differences arising from the transfation of the financial statements
of self-sustaining foreign operations.
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23. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005

Notes $'000 $000
{a) Reconciliation of the net profit after
tax to the net cash flows from operations
Net profit 6,632 -
Non-Cash Items
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 2,684 -
Amor isation of goodwill 7,026 -
Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (4,279) -
Share of associates' net profits (40) -
Divide:nds received from associates - -
Charges in assets and liabilities
Decrease in trade and other receivables 45,378 -
Increzse in inventory (13,765) -
Movement in income tax balances 6,053 -
Decrease in prepayments 1,025 -
Increese in payables and provisions 128,476 -
Net cash flow from operating activities 179,190 -
(b) Feconciliation of cash
Cash balance comprises:
— cash on hand 189,607 -
Closing cash balance 189,607 -
(c) Financing facilities available
At reporting date, the following financing facilities
had teen negotiated and were available:
Total “acilities
— Werking capital including bank overdraft 130,900 -
— Revolving Syndicated Loan 825,000 -
— Securitisation finance and loans 250,000 -
— Lease finance facility 22,500 -
— Ind2mnity Guarantee facility 21,600 -
- Foreign currency dealing limit - -
Facilites used at reporting date
-~ Woerking capital including bank overdraft - -
— Revolving Syndicated Lozn 335,000 -
— Securitisation finance and loans - -
— Leese finance facility 17,153 -
— Indzmnity Guarantee facility 18,991 -
— Foreign currency dealing limit - -
Facilities unused at reporting date
— Working capital including bank overdraft 130,900 -
— Revolving Syndicated Loan 490,000 -
— Securitisation finance and loans 250,000 -
— Leese finance facility 5,347 -
- Indemnity Guarantee facility 2,609 -

— Foreign currency dealing fimit - -
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23. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continues)

(d) Acquisition of Controlled Entity
() On 7 April 2005 Metcash Ltd acquired 100% of the equity of Metoz Holdings and its proportional interest in Metcash Trading Limited for a cash
consideration of $1,097,503,000

$'000
Consideration
- cash paid 1,097,503
1,097,503
Details of the aggregate cash flows and the aggregate assets and liabilities
at the dates of acquisition were as follows:
- cash 45,703
— trade debtors 382
- Metoz equity in Metcash Trading Limited 392,827
438,912
- creditors and provisions (3951
- Income Tax Provision (1.052)
— fair value of net tangible assets 433,909
- goodwill arising on acquisition 663,594
1,097,503
Net cash effect
Cash consideration paid 1,097,503
Cash included in net assets acquired (45,703)
Cash paid for purchase of controlled entity as reflected in the consolidated financial report 1,051,800

Metcash Limited acquired |00% of Metcash Trading Limited through the above cash transaction and through the issue of Metcash Limited shares
in exchange for the balance of Metcash Trading Limited shares not held by Metoz Holdings.
24. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2005
Notes $°000 $000
(a) Capital expenditure commitments
Estimated capital expenditure contracted for at
reporting date, but not provided for, payable:
not later than one year - -
later than one year and not later than five years - -
later than five years - -
(b) Lease expenditure commitments
(i) Operating leases (non-cancellable): 24(d)
Minimum lease payments
- not later than one year 55,242 -
— later than one year and not later than five years 170,436 -
— later than five years 140,318 -
- aggregate lease expenditure contracted for
at reporting date 365,996 -
Aggregate expenditure commitments comprise:
- Store lease and remediation provision 24{e) (2,200) -
(2,200) -
(2,200) -
Aggregate lease expenditure contracted
for at reporting date 363,796 -
Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005 103 L
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24. EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS continued

Notes

Metcash Group

2005
$000

Metcash Limited

2005
$°000

(i) =inance leases:

— nct later than one year

— later than one year and ~ot later than five years
— later than five years

9,639
15,312
5,763

— total minimum lease payments
— futare finance charges

30,714
(5.250)

— lezse liability

25,464

- current liability
- non-current liability

7,995
17,469

25,464

Total tease liability accrued for:
Current

— finiance leases

7,995

Non- Current

—finince leases

7,995

17,469

17,469

{c) Operating Leases Receivable

Certain properties under operating lease have been
sublet to third parties. The future lease payments
expe cted to be received at the reporting date are:
— nat later than one year

— lateer than one year and not later than five years

— later than five years

25,464

21,390
62,064
57,538

140,992

Notes

(d) Operating leases have an average lease term of 5 years and an implicit interest rate of 7%. Assets which are the subject of operating leases are
srimarily Land, Buildings and Forklifts. Contingent rentals are payable to reflect movements in the Consumer Price Index on certain leases and to
‘eflect the turnover of certain stores occupying the Land and Buildings.

(e) These commitments represent payments due for either vacated lease premises or premises sublet to third parties at a subsidised rental under non-
zancellable operating leases. The commitments have been recognised as a liability as the remaining payments for the premises will provide no further

senefits to the consolidated entity. The payments have been discounted at the rate implicit in the lease.
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25. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

Employee Benefits

The aggregate employee benefit liability
is comprised of:

Provisions (current)

Provisions (non-current)

Employee Share Scheme

On 23 November 1998, the Employee Option Plan was approved at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of Metcash Trading Limited. Pursuant

Metcash Group

Metcash Limited

2005 2005

Notes $°000 $'000
27,364 -

17,748 -

45,112 -

to this plan, the following options were issued to employees of the Company, including Executive Directors.

Information with respect to the number of options granted under the employee share incentive scheme is as follows:

Balance at beginning of period

- Converted from Metcash Trading Limited
- forfeited

- exercised

Balance at end of pericd

Exercisable at end of period

2005

Number of options

Weighted average

exercise price

12,324,700

1.29
12,324,700 1.29
[.30

5,374,360

(a) Options held at the beginning of the reporting period:

The following table summarises information about Metcash Limited options held by employees as at 3 December 2004:

Number of options Grant date

Vesting date

Expiry date
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25.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS

(b) Options held as at the end of the reporting period:
The following table summarises information about options held by the employees as at 30 April 2005: (All options were converted from Metcash Trading
Limited on 7 April 2005):

Weighted average

Number of options Grant date Vesting date Expiry date option price
123,960 Il Aug 2000 i1 Aug 2003 Il Aug 2006 0.161
64,480 Il Aug 2000 Il Aug 2004 [ Aug 2006 0.161

782,400 11 Aug 2000 I'l Aug 2005 I'l Aug 2006 0.161
32,800 25 Nov 2000 24 Nov 2005 25 Nov 2006 0.161
4,000 |5 Dec 2000 IS5 Dec 2004 I'5 Dec 2006 0.161
8,000 15 Dec 2000 I5 Dec 2005 15 Dec 2006 0.161
1,020,000 14 Dec 2001 14 Dec 2004 14 Dec 2007 1.385
680,000 14 Dec 2001 14 Dec 2005 14 Dec 2007 1.385
680,000 |4 Dec 2001 14 Dec 2006 [4 Dec 2007 1.385
4,153,920 25 Jan 2002 25 Jan 2005 25 Jan 2008 1.268
1,859,820 25 Jan 2002 25 [an 2006 25 fan 2008 [.268
1,859,820 25 Jan 2002 25 Jan 2007 25 Jan 2008 1.268
123,300 10 July 2002 [0 July 2005 10 July 2008 1.870
41,100 [0 July 2002 10 July 2006 10 July 2008 1.870
41,100 10 July 2002 10 july 2007 [0 July 2008 [.870
510,000 2 Sep 2004 2 Sep 2007 2 Sep 2010 2.430
170,000 2 Sep 2004 2 Sep 2008 2 Sep 2010 2.430
170,000 2 Sep 2004 2 Sep 2009 2 Sep 2010 2.430

26.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other persons
A controlled entity has guaranteed third party loans
to sioreowners amounting to:

Metcash Group

Metcash Limited

The Company and certain controlled entities have

grarited bank guarantees to third parties in respect

2005 2005

Notes $'000 $°000
1,580 -

18,991 _

of rroperty lease obligations to the value of:

Franklins

Following termination of the Franklins contract in January 2005, Franklins has alleged that Metcash owes it various sums in respect of the supply contract.

Franklins has commenced proceedings seeking as yet unquantified damages in respect of certain of the alleged claims. Metcash does not consider that
Frankiins has any valid claim against it. Should Franklins proceed with any of these alleged claims, they will be vigorously defended by Metcash.

27.

Metcash announced on the 25 May 2005 that it had reached agreement with Foodland Associated Ltd (FAL) to acquire the Australian business of FAL

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

excluding 19 Action stores and 3 Action development sites which will be acquired by Woolworths. Metcash will therefore acquire, on a debt free basis,
FAL's West Australian Franchise and Supply division, Action Retail division {excluding Woolworths Actions Stores, and all other FAL Australian assets.
Metcash is offering $780m in cash (or $6.61 per FAL share) or $859m in Metcash shares (or $7.29 per FAL share). It is expected the transaction will be

implemented by way of a scheme of arrangement. Documents are expected to be sent to FAL shareholders by FAL during September with the acquisition
becoming effective in October.
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28. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Metcash Group

2005
Notes $°000
The following reflects the income and share data
used in the calculations of basic and diluted earnings
per share:
Net profit 6,632

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in calculating basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive securities:

Share options

Convertible, redeemable, subordinated,
unsecured loan notes (CULS)

427,395,233

7,463,643

16,430,215

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share

451,289,091

29.

DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES

Information below relates to Metcash Limited for 2005 and Metcash Trading Limited for 2004 and 2005.

(a) Details Of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(

(i)

Specified Directors

Carlos Dos Santos
A E Harris

R Longes

P Barnes

D Rubin

A Reitzer

M Jablonski

E Jankelowitz

B Hale

L Jardin

™M Wesslink
Specified executives
K Bean

P Dubbleman

} Randall

D Johnston

G Tempany

Chairman (Non Executive)
Deputy Chairman (Non Executive)
Director (Non Executive)
Director (Non Executive)
Director (Non Executive)

CEO

Group Merchandise Director
Finance Director

IT Director

CEO IGA Distribution

CEQO Australian Liquor Marketers

Chief Executive Group Logistics and Corporate Development
CEO Campbells Cash and Carry

Company Secretary

Chief Human Resources Officer

National Group Manager Merchandise and Marketing

Metcash Limited Annual Report 2005
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29. DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Remuneration of Specified Directors and Specified Executives

(i) Directors’ remuneration for the period ended 30 April 2005

Specified Directors
Carfos Dos Santos
2005
2004
A E Harris
2005
2004
R Longes
2005
2004
P Barnes
2005
2004
D Rubin
2005
2004
A Reitzer
2005
2004
M Jabtonski
2005
2004
E Jankelowitz
2005
2004
B Hale
2005
2004
L Jardin
2005
2004
™M Wesslink
2005
2004

Total Remuneration:

Specified Directors
2005
2004

Primary Post Employment Equity

Salary Cash Non Monetary Super- Retirement Options

& Fees Bonus benefits  annuation Benefits Granted

$ $ $ $ $ $

108,901 - - - - -
98,381 - - - - -
71,703 - - 6,454 - -
61,875 - - 5,569 - -
71,703 - - 6,454 - -
61,875 - - 5,569 - -
[,151,540 343,325 2,669 84,947 - -
1,006,048 359.712 62,568 54,045 - -
523,324 74,970 23,000 11,488 - -
520,329 116,025 - 10,921 - -
546,324 74,970 - 11,488 - -
520,329 116,025 - 10,921 - -
416,181 495,258 - 10,522 - 825,215
406,604 254,933 16,667 10,665 - -
488,620 85,120 (35,846 17,547 - -
471,353 91,219 - 16,981 - -
415320 31,233 - 48,072 - -
349,189 91,219 37,680 47,506 - -
3,793,616 1,104,876 161,515 196,972 - 825215
3,495,983 1,029,133 116,915 162,183 - -

Options
Exercised

$

Total

2,631,800

318,880

321,860

3.272,540

John A Randall, Paul Kaplan, Michael Roche and David Killingback were appointed and also resigned as directors during the period.

No remuneration was paid to them.

108

108,901
98,381

78,157
67 444

78,157
67,444

4,214,281
1,482,373

632,782
647,275

632,782
647,275

1,747,176
688,869

1,046,013
579,553

816,485
525,594

9,354,734
4,804,214
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29. DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (continued)

(i) Remuneration of the 5 named executives who receive the highest remuneration for the period ended 30 April 2005

Primary Post Employment Equity
Salary Cash Non Monetary Super- Retirement Options
& Fees Bonus benefits annuation Benefits Exercised Total
$ $ $ $ $ $ $
Specified Executives
K Bean
2005 371,277 60,969 - 81,002 - 320,460 833,708
2004 319,908 92,592 39,840 64,211 - - 516,551
P Dubblerman
2005 379,119 65,523 45,904 33,769 - 372,300 879,115
2004 392,279 85,050 - 10,921 - - 488,250
J Randall
2005 324222 53,901 - 78,072 - 133,920 590,175
2004 326,896 85,037 - 77,506 - - 489,439
D Johnston
2005 338,930 49,094 - 26,912 - - 414,936
2004 336,583 76,709 - 14,117 - - 427,409
G Tempany
2005 261,569 37,359 19,000 16,156 - - 334,084
| Kiteley
2004 247,280 110,500 14,389 - - - 372,169
Total Remuneration:
Top 5 Executives
2005 1,675,117 266,846 64,904 235911 - 827,240 3,070,018
2004 1,622,946 449,888 54,229 166,755 - - 2,293,818

(c) Options granted as part of remuneration for the period ended 30 April 2005
During the financial period options were granted by Metcash Trading Limited as equity compensation to certain specified directors as disclosed below. The
options were issued free of charge. Each option entitles the holder to subscribe to one fully paid ordinary share in the entity at an exercise price of $2.43.

Granted Grant Value per Option Exercise Price  First Exercise  Last Exercise
Number Date at Grant Date $ per Share Date Date
Specified Directors
B Hale 510,000 2 Sep 04 0.97 2.43 2 Sep 07 2S5ep 10
170,000 2 Sep 04 0.97 243 2 Sep 08 25ep 10
170,000 2 Sep 04 0.97 243 2 Sep 09 25ep 10
850,000

Fair value of options: The fair value of each option (0.97¢) has been determined by the use of the Black Scholes model. The fair values are currently not
recognised as expenses in the financial statements. If they were expensed, the impact in the 2005 accounts would have been $11,633.
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29, DIRECTORS & EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d) Option holdings of specified directors and specified executives

Balance at Granted as Options Other Balance at Vested at 30 Apr 2005
Beginning of  Remuneration Exercised  Adjustments End of Period Not
Period 3 Dec 2004 30 Apr 2005 Total Exercisable Exercisable
Specified Directors
Carlos Dos Santos - - - - - - - -
A E Harris - - - - - - - -
R Longes - - - - - - - -
P Barnes - - - - - - - -
D Rubin ~ - - - - - - -
A Reitzer 2,100,000 - (1,420,000) - 680,000 - - -
™ Jablonski 850,000 - - - 850,000 - - -
= Jankelowitz 850,000 - - - 850,000 - - -
3 Hale 850,000 - - 850,000 - - -
_ Jardin 660,000 - (140,000) - 520,000 - - -
M Wesslink 680,000 - (140,000) - 540,000 - - -
Specified Executives
{ Bean 680,000 - (140,000) - 540,000 - - -
> Dubbelman 560,000 - (160,000) - 400,000 - - -
~ Randall 80,000 - - - 80,000 - - -
D Johnston 400,000 - - - 400,000 - - -
5 Tempany 60,000 - - - 60,000 - - -
Total 6,920,000 850,000 (2,000,000) - 5,770,000 - - -
All Metcash Trading Limited options were converted into Metcash Limited options during the year.
(e) Shareholdings of Specified Directors and Specified Executives
Balance at Granted as Options Other Balance at
Beginning of Remuneration Exercised Adjustments End of Period
Period 3 Dec 2004 (CULS conversion) 30 Apr 2005
Specified Directors
Zarlos Dos Santos - - - - -
A E Harris 340,000 - - 34,838 374,838
R Longes 100,000 - - 12,500 112,500
2 Barnes 125,000 - - 26,041 151,041
D Rubin - - - - -
A Reitzer 400,000 - 1,420,000 - 1,820,000
[ Jablonski - - - - -
Iz Jankelowitz 600,000 - - - 600,000
13 Hale - - - - -
I Jardin - 140,000 - 140,000
M Wesslink 425,000 - (70,000) 9,374 364,374
Specified Executives
K Bean - - - - -
1> Dubbelman 390,350 - 160,000 - 550,350
J Randall 180,000 - 60,000 16,165 256,165
19 Johnston —- - - - -
(5 Tempany 2,800 - - - 2,800
Total - 2,030,000 98,918 4,372,068

All Metcash Trading Limited shares were converted into Metcash Limited shares during the year.
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30. AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

Metcash Group Metcash Limited
2005 2004 2005 2004
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:
— an audit or review of the finandial report of the

entity and any other entity in the consolidated entity 865,410 842,000 - -
- Other services in relation to the entity and any

other entity in the consolidated entity:

- tax compliance 831,783 700,169 - -
- assurance related 32,000 49,000 - -
- other services 252,193 79,732 - -

Amounts received or due and receivable by
Emst & Young New Zealand for:
— an audit or review of the financial report of entities

and any other entities in the consolidated entity 49,500 43410 - -

- tax compliance 10,000 30,409 - -
- other services 15,000 - - -
2,055,886 1,744,720 - -

Ail above audit remunerations relates to services rendered for Metcash Limited and Metcash Trading Limited.

31.  RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Directors
The directors of Metcash Limited during the period were:

Carlos S dos Santos A E (Ted) Harris, AC
Andrew Reitzer Michael R Jablonski
Edwin M Jankelowitz V Dudley Rubin
Feter L Barnes Richard A Longes
Bernard | Hale Joao Louis S Jardim
Michael Wesslink John A Randall

Paul Kaplan Michael Roche

David Killingback

Other related party transactions

Purchases and funding
Mr Barnes is Chairman of Samue! Smith & Sons Pty Lid and a Director of Ansell Limited, both organisations are suppliers to the entity. However, the total
lavel of purchases from both companies is less than |9 of Metcash's annual purchases and is not considered material.

Loans
From controlled entity $906,621,000.
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32. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment products and locations

The economic entity predominantly operates in the industries indicated. Food distribution activities comprise the distribution of grocery and
tobzcco supplies to retail outlets, convenience stores and hospitality outlets. Liquor distribution activities comprise the distribution of liquor
products to retail outlets and hotels. Cash and Carry Distribution comprise the distribution of grocery and tobacco supplies via cash and carry
warzhouses. Geographically the group operates predominantly in Australia, The New Zealand operation represents less than [0% of revenue,

restits, and assets of the consolidated entity.
Segment accounting policies

The selling price between segmenits is at normal selling price and is paid under similar terms and conditions as any other customers of the

economic entity.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION — PRIMARY SEGMENT

32.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

33(b) Net fair values
At reporting date, the carrying value of all financial assets and liabilities approximates their net fair values.

(i) The following methods and assumptions are used to determine the net fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Recognised financial instruments
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity.

Trade: receivables, trade creditors and dividends receivable: The carrying amount approximates fair value.
Short-term borrowings: The carrying amount approximates fair value because of their short-term to maturity.

Long-term loans receivable: The fair values of long-term loans receivable are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on current incremental
lending rates for similar types of lending arrangements.

Long-term bank borrowings and debentures: The fair values of long-term borrowings are estimated using discounted cash flow analysis, based on current
incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.

Non-current investments/securities: For financial instruments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is the current quoted market bid price for an
asset or offer price for a liebility, adjusted for transaction costs necessary to realise the asset or settle the liability. For investments where there is no quoted
market price, a reasonable estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current market value of ancther instrument which is substantially
the same or is calculated based on the expected cash flows or the underlying net asset base of the investment/security. The net fair value of the unlisted

opticns is determined to be the difference between the market price and the exercise price of the underlying shares.

Unrecognised financial instruments
Opticns over ordinary shares: The fair value of options over ordinary shares is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.

Concentrations of credit risk

The company minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking transactions with a large number of customers from
across the range of business segmenits in which the group operates. Refer also to Note 32 — Segment Information.

The Zconomic entity does not have any significant exposure to any individual customer or counterparty. Major concentrations of credit risk arising from the
economic entity’s trade receivables relate primarily to the retail grocery and liquor industries and are substantially based in Australia.

34. IMPACT OF ADOPTING AASB EQUIVALENTS TO |ASB STANDARDS

Metcash has commenced transitioning its accounting policies and financial reporting from current Australian Standards to Australian equivalents of

Inter vational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). As Metcash has a 30 April year-end, priority has been given to considering the preparation of an opening
balar ce sheet in accordance with AASB equivalents to IFRS as at 3 December 2004. This will form the basis of accounting for Australian equivalents of
IFRS in the future, and is required when Metcash prepare s first fully IFRS compliant financial report for the year ended 30 April 2006. Set out below is
the key areas where accounting policies will change and may have an impact on the financial report of Metcash:

Goodwill

Under AGAAP goodwill is amortised over the useful life of the assets acquired. not exceeding 20 years, resulting in charges for amortisation of goodwill.
Under Australian IFRS (AASB 138 Intangibles and AASB 136 Impairment of Assets), goodwill will be allocated to the smallest ‘cash generating unit',
capitalised and be subject to an impairment test. Thus, rather than being amortised over a predetermined period, goodwill will be tested for impairment
on an annual basis. Where impairment is identified, the carrying value of goodwill will be written down and profit reported for the period reduced accordingly.
The mpact for the 2005 statement of financial performance would be to reverse the amortisation of goodwill reflected in the financial result of $7.0m.

Reverse Take-over

Under Australian IFRS (AASB 3, Business Combinations) the acquisition by Metcash Ltd of Metcash Trading Ltd will be treated as a reverse acquisition since
the sbstance of the transaction is that the existing public shareholders of Metcash Trading Ltd have, through Metcash Lid, effectively acquired Metoz

Hold ngs. Metcash Trading Ltd will retain operating and financial control and will be treated as the acquirer for accounting purposes. On consclidation by
Metcash Ltd, no goodwill arises on the acquisition by Metcash Ltd of the Metoz Holdings shares and the amount paid in cash by Metcash Ltd to Metoz
Hold ngs shareholders for their shares will be eliminated against shareholder equity. The amount of goodwill to be reversed is $1,524m.
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Deferred taxes

Under AGAAP the tax effect of items of income and expense that are recognised in the statement of financial performance in one period but are taxable
or deductible in other periods are included in the calculation of accounting income tax expense and reflected as deferred tax assets and liabilities in the
statement of financial position.Australian IFRS introduces a balance sheet method of accounting for taxation Under this approach, deferred tax is calculated
as the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. Therefore, if an asset was held at valuation with changes in fair value recognised in an asset revaluation reserve, no deferred tax
liability would be recognised under AGAAP but a deferred tax liability would be recognised under Australian IFRS. It is anticipated that there will be no
material effect for Metcash.

Impairment of assets

Under AGAAP the recoverable amount of an asset is determined as the amount that is expected to be recovered through cash inflows and outflows from
the continued use and subsequent disposal of the asset, on the basis of discounted or undiscounted future cash flows, For this purpose, Metcash currently
discount future cash flows at the weighted average costs of capital and risk free rate respectively. Under Australian IFRS (AASB 136 Impairment of Assets),
‘recoverable amount' is determined as the higher of net selling value and value in use, determined by discounting cash flows at an asset-specific discount
rate. Reliable estimation of future financial effects of this change in accounting policy is currently impracticable because the conditions under which
impairment will be assessed are not yet known.

Share base payments

Under Australian IFRS (AASB 2. Share Based Payments) employers are required to determine the fair vaiue of shares issued to employees as remuneration
and recognise this as an expense in the statement of financial performance. This applies to both option and share based forms of equity based
remuneration. Under AGAAR shares issued to employees as remuneration do not need to be expensed. During the period $11.633 would have been
expensed to the statement of financial performance and will be adjusted against opening retained earnings. Options existing at period end will incur and
additional $685,616 expense to the statement of financial performance over the next five years.

Financial Instruments

Under Australian IFRS, financial liabilities are to be recognised initially at fair value (net of transaction costs) and thereafter at amortised cost-determined
using the effective interest rate method. At 30 April 2005 Metcash Limited has brought to account the Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock (CULS) liability
at face value, and separately brought to account the attributable transaction costs ($7,894,000) as deferred debt costs. The financial effect of this change on
the Company's and the Group's results before taxation to 30 April 2005 is estimated at $1,300,000 decrement.

The amounts disclosed are management’s best estimates of the quantitative impacts of the changes at the date of reporting the 30 April 2005 financial
report. The actual effects of transition may differ from the estimates disclosed due to:

(2) ongoing work being undertaken by the company's AIFRS project team;
(b) potential amendments to AIFRS and Interpretations thereof being issued by the standard-setters and IFRIC; and

(c) emerging accepted practice in the interpretation and application of AIFRS and UIG Interpretations.
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Metcash Limited, | state that:
(1Y In the opinion of the directors:
(a) the financial statements and notes of the company and of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 200/, including:

{i) giving a true and fair view of the company's and consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 April 2005 and of their performance for the
period ended on that date; and

(i) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 200/ ; and
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

(2) This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with section 295A of the
Corporations Act 2001 “or the finandial period ended 30 April 2005.

On bzhalf of the Board

Andraw Rejtzer
Director

Sydnay, 22 july 2005
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TO MEMBERS OF METCASH LIMITED

Scope

The financial report and directors’ responsibility

The financial report comprises the statement of financial position, statement of financial performance, staternent of cash flows, accompanying
notes to the financial statements, and the directors’ declaration for Metcash Limited (the company) and the consolidated entity, for the period
ended 30 April 2005. The consolidated entity comprises both the company and the entities it controlled during that period.

The directors of the company are responsible for preparing a financial report that gives a true and fair view of the financial position and
performance of the company and the consolidated entity, and that complies with Accounting Standards in Australia, in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls that are designed to
prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting policies and accounting estimates inherent in the financial report.

Audit approach

We conducted an independent audit of the financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the company. Our audit was
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the financial report is free of
material misstatement. The nature of an audit is influenced by factors such as the use of professional judgement, selective testing, the inherent
limitations of internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that all material
misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including compliance with Accounting Standards in Australia, and other mandatory financial reporting reguirements in Australia, a view
which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity's financial position, and of their performance as
represented by the results of their operations and cash flows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these procedures, which included:
* examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial report, and

* assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies and disclosures used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s internal controls over financial reporting when determining the nature and extent of our
procedures, our audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

We performed procedures to assess whether the substance of business transactions was accurately reflected in the financial report. These and our
other procedures did not include consideration or judgement of the appropriateness or reasonableness of the business plans or strategies adopted
by the directors and management of the company.

Independence

We are independent of the company, and have met the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements and the
Corporations Act 2001. In addition to our audit of the financial report, we were engaged to undertake the services disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. The provision of these services has not impaired our independence.

Audit Opinion
In our opinion, the financial report of Metcash Limited is in accordance with:

(@) the Corporations Act 2001 including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the financial position of Metcash Limited and the consolidated entity as at 30 April 2005 and of their
performance for the period ended on that date; and
(i) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001 ; and

{b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements in Australia.

Ernst & Young

Gary G Daniels
Partner
Sydney

Date: 22 July 2005
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ASK ADDITIOWAL INFORMATION

Additicnal information required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. The information is current as at
19 July 2005.

(a) Distribution of equity securities
The number of shareholders, by size of holding, in each class of share are:

Size of Holding Number of
Shareholders

[-1,000 2,251

[,001-5,000 6,114

5,001-10,000 2,220

10,001-100,000 1,768

100,001-99,999,999,999 127

Totals 12,480
(b) Tiventy largest shareholders
The niames of the twenty largest holders of quoted shares are:

Number Percentage of

Name of shares  ordinary shares
I Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 83,170,583 19.381
2} P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 57,053,951 13.285
3 National Nominees Limited 50,910,892 I'1.864
4 ANZ Nominees Limited 21,978,247 5.122
5 Cticorp Nominees Pty Limited 17,553,675 4.091
6  Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 17,465,037 4.070
7 Westpac Financial Services Limited 13,824,359 3.22]
8 R3C Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited <PIPOOLED A/c> 12,344,200 2.877
9  HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited-GSCO ECA 9,282,699 2.163
[0 1AG Nominees Pty Limited 4,566,478 1.064
Il Suncorp Custodian Services Pty Limited <AET> 3,863,752 0.900
12 Westpac Life Insurance Services Limited 3,796,822 0.885
I3 Health Super Pty Ltd 3,771,728 0.879
14 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS WSLE 452 Aust Share Afc> 3,487,149 0.813
15 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFSIL Cwith Aust SHS 18 A/c> 3,135,688 0.731
6 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFSIL CFS WS Small Comp A/c> 2,599,821 0.606
[7 ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/c> 2,501.324 0.585
I8 Pan Australian Nominees Pty Limited 2,229,855 0.520
19 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited <CFS Future Leaders Fund A/c> 2210416 0.515
20 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited <SMP Accounts> 2,151,206 0.501

317,907,882 74.082

(c) Substantial Shareholders
The following is extracted from the Company's register of substantial shareholders:

Number of Shares

Lazard Asset Management Pacific Co. 57141344
Comrmonwealth Bank of Australia 46,628,078
Deutsche Bank AG 38,346,317
Merril Lynch & Co Inc. 28,642,537
ING Awustralia Holdings Limited 27,451,201
Macq Jarie Bank Limited 21,850,557

(d) Voting rights
All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction.

8% riedeemable cumulative non-participating preference shares carry one vote per share
but tt e right to vote is restricted to matters that affect such shareholders.
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New issue announcement

Rule 2.7, 3.10.3, 3.10.4, 3.10.5

Appendix 3B

New issue announcement,

and agreement

application for quotation of additional securities

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information
and documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Origin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/99, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

Metcash Limited

ABN

32112 073 480

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the refevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1

*Class of *securities issued or to
be issued

Number of *securities issued or
to be issued (if known) or
maximum number which may be
issued

Principal terms of the *securities
(eg, if options, exercise price and

expiry date; if partly paid
*securities, the amount
outstanding and due dates for
payment; if *convertible

securities, the conversion price
and dates for conversion)

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

651,840 (MTS)

1,200 (MTSAI)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

1/1/2003
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New issue announcement

Do the *securities rank equally in
all respects from the date of
allotment with an existing *class
of quoted *securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

s the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next
dividend, (in the case of a
trust, distribution) or interest
payment

« the extent to which they do
not rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest
payment

Issue price or consideration

Purpose of the issue
(If issued as consideration for the
acquisition of assets, clearly
identify those assets)

Dates of entering *securities into
uncertificated holdings or
despatch of certificates

Number and “class of all
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
2 if applicable)

Yes

$0.44 (1,200)
$0.161 (12,800)
$1.386 (510,000)
$1.268 (127,840)

Exercise of employee options

(651,840)

Reinstate options cancelled

(1,200)

in error

15t June 2005

Number

*Class

428,047,073

Ordinary (MTS)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 2
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New issue announcement

Number *Class

9 Number and “‘class of all | 11,674,060 Options (MTSAI)
*securities not quoted on ASX
(including the securities in
clause 2 if applicable)

10  Dividend policy (in the case of a
trust, distribution poticy) on the
increased capital (interests)

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11 Is security holder approval
required?

12 Is the issue renounceable or
non-renounceable?

13 Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

14 *Class of *securities to which
: the offer relates

15 *Record date to determine
entitiements

16 Will  holdings on different
registers (or subregisters) be
aggregated  for  calculating
entittements?

17 Policy for deciding entitiements
in relation to fractions

18 Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who
will not be sent new issue
documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitlements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7,

19  Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

1/1/2003 Appendix 3B Page 3
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New issue announcement

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee
or commission

Names of any brokers to the
issue

Fee or commission payable to
the broker to the issue

Amount of any handiing fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the
date of the meeting

Date entitlement and
acceptance form and prospectus
or Product Disclosure Statement
will be sent to persons entitled

If the entity has issued options,
and the terms entitle option
holders to participate on
exercise, the date on which
notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do “*security holders sell
their entitlements in full through
a broker?

How do “*security holders sell
part of their entitlements through
a broker and accept for the
balance?

9
&/\KUG 7 2005/2)
3 ¢
7 Y

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

32 How do “security holders
dispose of their entitlements
(except by sale through a
broker)?

33  *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34  Type of securities

(tick one)
(a) Securities described in Part 1
(b) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, parily paid securities that become fully paid,
employee incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of convertible
securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or

documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of
the additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional
*securities held by those holders

36 If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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New issue announcement

Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38

39

40

41

42

Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

Class of *securities for which
quotation is sought

Do the *securities rank equally in
all respects from the date of
allotment with an existing *class
of quoted *securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

+ the date from which they do

e the extent to which they
participate for the next
dividend, (in the case of a
trust, distribution) or interest
payment

+ the extent to which they do
not rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest
payment

Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities,
end of restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify
that other security)

Number and *class of all
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
38)

Number

*Class

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 6

1/1/2003




- A &

New issue announcement

Quotation agreement

1

*Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX's absolute discretion. ASX
may quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

We warrant the following to ASX.

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is
not for an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted
*quotation.

An offer of the *securities for sale within 12 months after their issue
will not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6)
of the Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be
able to give this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply
to any applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be
quoted and that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be
quoted under sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at
the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of
the Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has
been provided at the time that we request that the *securities be
quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act
at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

1/1/2003
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New issue announcement

3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the
warranties in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before
*quotation of the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on
the information and documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and
complete.

It

Sign here: Date: 7" June 2005
(Birestor/Company Secretary)

Print name: ... JOHN RANDALL...........

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Metcash Limited
ABN 32 112 073 480

4 Newington Road
Silverwater

NSW 2128 Australia

PO Box 6226

Silverwater Business Centre
NSW 1811 Australia

Ph: 61 2 9741 3000

Fax: 6129741 3999

29" July 2005

Company Announcements Officer
Australian Stock Exchange Limited
Level 10

20 Bridge Street

Sydney NSW 2000

Dear Sir/Madam

Re: Annual Report 2005

Following pages are the Notice of Meeting for the Annual General Meeting to be held
on 1% September 2005, Explanatory Memorandum and Proxy form for both Metcash
Limited and Metcash Trading Limited. These documents, along with the Annual
Report will be posted to shareholders on Monday 1% August 2005. The 2005 Annual
Report was lodged electronically earlier this afternoon.

Also attached is a covering letter sent only to CULS holders.

Yours faithfully

W\. :

J A Randall
Company Secretary



ALL VCURREIFUINWEINLGE 1.

Registries Limited

PO Box R&7

Rovyal Exchange, Sydney NSW 1223
Australia

Metcash Limited ABN 32 112 073 480 P R OXY FO R M Enquiries (within Australia) 02 9279 0677

(outside Australia) 61 2 9279 0677
Facsimite 61 2 9279 0664

www.registriesitd.com.au

Mark this box with an x if you have made any changes to your
address details (see reverse)

Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

Appointment of Proxy
I/We being a member/s of Metcash Limited and entitled to attend and vote hereby appoint

the Chairman f you are not appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy
of the Meeting O R please write here the full name of the individual or body corporate
(mark with an "X} (excluding the registered Securityholder) you are appointing as your proxy.

or failing the individual or body corporate named, or if no individual or body corporate is named, the Chairman of the Meeting, as my/our proxy 1o act
generally at the meeting on my/our behalf and to vote in accordance with the following directions (or if no directions have been given, as the proxy sees fit)
at the Annual General Meeting of Metcash Limited to be held at Heritage Baliroom, The Westin Sydney, No. | Martin Place, Sydney New South Wales on
Thursday, | September 2005 at 2.30 pm and at any adjournment of that meeting.

.» IMPORTANT: FOR RESOLUTIONS IN ITEMS 4, 5 and é(a) - (f) BELOW

If the Chairman of the Meeting is your nominated proxy, or may be appointed by default, and you have not directed your proxy how
to vote on the resolutions in ftems 4, 5 and 6(a) — (f) below, please place a mark in this box. By marking this box you acknowledge that
the Chairman of the Meeting may exercise your proxy evenif he has an interest in the outcome of thase resolutions and that votes
cast by him, other than as proxy holder, would be disregarded because of that interest. If you do not mark this box, and you have not
directed your proxy how to vote, the Chairman of the Meeting will not cast your votes on the resolutions in items 4, 5 and 6(a) - (f) if
he has an interest in the outcome of those resolutions and your votes will not be counted in computing the required majority if a poll is
called on such resolutions. The Chairman of the Meeting intends to vote undirected proxies in favour of each of the resolutions.

Voting directors to your proxy — please mark [ X | to indicate your directions

ORDINARY BUSINESS Abstai
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ltem 2 (a). To re-elect Edwin Jankelowitz as a director
ltem 2 (b). To re-elect Dudley Rubin as a director

ltem 2 (¢). To re-elect Peter Barnes as a director

OO
.
O

[tem 3 To re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor
SPECIAL BUSINESS For  Against  Abstain
ltem 4. To approve the increase in the maximum aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors

by $500,000 to $1,000,000
ftem 5. To approve the Option Plan and the issue of options under that plan
ltem & (3) To approve the issue of up to 1,200,000 options to Andrew Reitzer under the Option Plan
ltem 6 (b) To approve the issue of up to 650,000 options to Bernard Hale under the Option Plan
ltem 6 (¢} To approve the issue of up to 650,000 options to Michael |ablonski under the Option Plan
ltem 6 (d) To approve the issue of up to 650,000 options to Edwin Jankelowitz under the Option Plan
ltem 6 (e) To approve the issue of up to 650,000 options to Lou Jardin under the Option Plan
item & () To approve the issue of up to 650,000 options to Michael Wesslink under the Option Plan

ltem 7 To adopt the remuneration report

IR |
N [
T

ltem 8. To approve the giving of financial assistance as described in the Explanatory Memorandum

In addition to the intention advised above, the Chairman of the Meeting intends to vote undirected proxies in favour of each of the other items of business. ) ) )
*If you mark the Abstain box for a particular item, you are directing your proxy not to vote on your behalf on a show of hands or on a poll and your votes will not be counted in computing the required
majority on a poll.

PLEASE SIGN HERE This section must be signed in accordance with the instructions overleaf to enable your directions to be implemented.
Indwvidual or Security Holder | Security Holder 2 Security Holder 3

Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary Director Director/Company Secretary
Contact Name Contact Daytime Telephone Number . Date /[ ../




How to complete the Proxy Form

I YOUR ADDRESS

This is your address as it appears on the company's share register. If this information is incorrect, please mark the box and make the correction on the
form. Security holders sponsored by a broker (in which case your reference number overleaf will commence with an ‘x’) should advise your broker of any
changes. Please note, you cannot change ownership of your securities using this form.

2 APPOINTMENT OF A PROXY

If you wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy, mark the box. if the individual or body corporate you wish 1o appoint as your proxy is
someone other than the Chairman of the Meeting please write the full name of that individual or body corporate. If you leave this section blank, or your

named proxy does not attend the meeting, the Chairman of the Meeting will be your proxy. A proxy need not be a security holder of the company. Do

not write the name of the issuer company or the registered securityholder in the space.

3 VOTES ON ITEMS OF BUSINESS

You may direct your proxy how to vote by placing a mark in one of the boxes opposite each item of business. All your securities will be voted in
accordance with such a direction unless you indicate only a portion of voting rights are to be voted on any item by inserting the percentage or number
of securities you wish 1o vote in the appropriate box or boxes. If you do not mark any of the boxes on a given item, your proxy may vote as he or she
chooses. If you mark more than one box on an item your vote on that item will be invalid.

4 APPOINTMENT OF A SECOND PROXY

You are entitled to appoint up to two proxies to attend the meeting and vote on a poll. If you wish to appoint a second proxy, an additional Proxy Form
may be obtained by telephoning the company's share registry or you may copy this form.

To appoint a second proxy you must:

(a) on each of the first Proxy Form and the second Proxy Form state the percentage of your voting rights or number of securities applicable to that form. i
the appointments do not specify the percentage or number of votes that each proxy may exerdise, each proxy may exercise half your votes. Fractions
of votes will be disregarded.

(b) return both forms together in the same envelope.

5 SIGNING INSTRUCTIONS

You must sign this form as follows in the spaces provided:
{ndividual: where the holding is in one name, the holder must sign.
Joint Holding: where the holding is in more than one name, all of the security holders should sign.

Power of Attorney: to sign under Power of Attorney, you must have already lodged this document with the registry. If you have not previously lodged this
document for notation, please attach a certified photocopy of the Power of Attorney to this form when you return it.

Companies: where the company has 2 Sole Director who is also the Sole Company Secretary, this form must be signed by that person. If the
company (pursuant to section 204A of the Corporations Act 2001) does not have a Company Secretary, a Sole Director can also sign
alone. Otherwise this form must be signed by a Director jointly with either another Director or a Company Secretary. Please indicate
the ofiice held by sigring in the appropriate place.

If a representative of a corporate Securityholder or proxy is to attend the meeting the appropriate “Certificate of Appointment of Corporate
Representative” should be produced prior to admission. A form of the certificate may be obtained from the company's share registry.

Lodging a proxy

This Proxy Form (and any Power of Attorney under which it is signed) must be received at an address given below not later than 48 hours before the
commencement of the meeting at 2.30 pm on Thursday, | September 2005. Any Proxy Form received after that time will not be valid for the scheduled
meeting.

DOCUMENTS MAY BE LODGED USING THE REPLY PAID ENVELOPE OR:
IN PERSON  Share Registry — Registries Limited, Level 2, 28 Margaret Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

BY MAIL Share Registry — Registries Limited, PO Box R67, Royal Exchange, Sydney NSW 1223 Australia
BY FAX 61 29279 0664



NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
METCASH LIMITED sens2 112073 480

Notice is given that the 2005 annual general meeting of Metcash Limited
(Company) will be held at the Heritage Ballroom, The Westin Sydney,
No. | Martin Place, Sydney, New South Wales on Thursday

| September 2005 at 2.30 pm:

AGENDA ITEMS
ORDINARY BUSINESS

SPECIAL BUSINESS

Explanatory Memorandum, and such issue
be approved for all purposes, including for the

1 Financial report

To receive and consider the financial report of the

4 Ordinary resolution to increase the purpose of ASX Listing Rule 10.14.”
maximum aggregate remuneration of (%) Approve the issue of options to

Company and the reports of the directers and
auditors for the year ended 30 April 2005.

2 Ordinary resolutions to re-elect
directors who retire by rotation

Sharehoiders are asked to consider, and
if thought fit, to pass each of the following
resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

(a) To re-elect Edwin Jankelowitz as a director

“That Edwin Jonkelowitz, being a director of
the Company who retires by rotation under
rule 8.1(d) of the Company's constitution, and
being efigible, is re-elected as a director of the
Company.”

(b) To re-elect Dudley Rubin as a director

“That Dudley Rubin, being a director of the
Company who retires by rotation under rule
8.1(d) of the Company's constitution, and
being eligible, is re-efected as a director of the
Company.”

(c) To re-elect Peter Barnes as a director

“That Peter Barnes, being a director of the
Company who retires by rotation under rule
8.1(d) of the Company’s constitution, and
being eligible, is re-elected as a director of the
Company.”

3 Ordinary resolution to re-appoint

auditor
To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the
following resolution as an ordinary resolution:

“That Ernst & Young, being qualified to act as
auditor of the Company and having consented
to do so, be re-appointed as the auditor of the
Company with immediate effect.”

non-executive directors

Shareholders are asked to consider, and if
thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an
ordinary resolution:

“That the maximum aggregate remuneration
payable to the non-executive directors of the
Company in a financial year be increased by
$500,000 to $1,000,000 for the purposes of
rule 8.3(a) of the Company’s constitution and
ASX Listing Rule 10.17."

Voting exclusions on the resolution in this item
4 are set out under the heading “Entitlement to
Vote” below.

5 Ordinary resolution to approve the
Option Plan

Shareholders are asked to consider, and if
thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an
ordinary resolution:

“That the Option Plan, the principal terms

of which are summarised in the Explanatory
Memorandum, and the issue of options under
that plan, be approved for all purposes,
including for the purpose of ASX Listing Rule
7.2 Exception 9 {as an exception to ASX
Listing Rule 7.1)."

Voting exclusions on the resclution in this item
5 are set out under the heading "Entitlement to
Vote" below.

6 Ordinary resolution to approve the
issue of options to directors under
the Option Plan

Shareholders are asked to consider, and
if thought fit, to pass each of the following
resolutions as ordinary resolutions:

(a) Approve the issue of options to
Andrew Reitzer

“That Andrew Reitzer be issued up to

P YT N Y R T T Y o T e . Y

Bernard Hale

“That Bernard Hale be issued up to 650,000
options under the Option Plan on the principal
terms summarised in the Explanatory
Memorandurn, and such issue be approved for
all purposes, including for the purpose of ASX
Listing Rule 10.14."

(c) Approve the issue of options to

Michael jablonski

“That Michael Jablonski be issued up to
650,000 options under the Option Plan on the
principal terms summarised in the Explanatory
Memorandum, ond such issue be approved for
all purposes, including for the purpose of ASX
Listing Rule 10.14."

(d) Approve the issue of options to

Edwin Jankelowitz

“That Edwin Jankelowitz be issued up to
650,000 options under the Option Plan on the
principal terms summarised in the Explanatory
Memorandum, and such issue be approved for
all purposes, including for the purpose of ASX
Listing Rule 10.14.”

(e) Approve the issue of options to Lou Jardin

“That Lou fardin be issued up to 650,000
options under the Option Plan on the principal
terms summarised in the Explanatory
Memorandum, and such issue be approved for
all purposes, including for the purpose of ASX
Listing Rule 10.14."

() Approve the issue of opticons to

Michael Wesslink

“That Michael Wesslink be fssued up to
650,000 options under the Option Plan on the
principal terms summarised in the Explanatory
Memorandum, and such issue be approved for
all purposes, including for the purpose of ASX
Listing Rule 10.14.”

Voting exclusions on the resolutions in this item
6 are set out under the heading “Entitlement to

]




T Ordinary resolution to adopt

remuneration report

Shareholders are asked to consider, and if
thought fit, to pass the following resolution as an
ordinary resolution:

“That the remuneration report that forms part
of the directors report of the Company for the
financial year ended 30 April 2005 be adopted.”

The remuneration report is set out on pages 77
to 79 of the 2005 annual report. Please note
that the vote on this resolution is advisory only,

and does not bind the directors or the Company.

8 Special resolution to approve
the giving of financial assistance
under section 260B(2) of the

Corporations Act

Shareholders are asked to consider, and if
thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a
special resolution:

“That for the purposes of section 260B(2) of

the Corporations Act, approval is given for the
financial assistance to be provided by Foodland
and those of its subsidiaries which become the
Company's subsidiaries to Metcash Trading and
other subsidiaries of the Company in connection
with the Share Acquisitions all as described in the
Explanatery Memorandum.”

Explanatory memorandum

Shareholders are referred to the Explanatory
Memorandum accompanying and forming part of
this notice of meeting.

Terms used in this notice, unless ctherwise
defined, have the meaning as set out in the
Glossary in section 9 of the Explanatory
Memorandum.

ENTITLEMENT TO VOTE
1 Snapshot time

It has been determined that under the
Corporations Regulations 7.11.37, for the
purposes of the annual general meeting, shares
will be taken to be held by the persons who
are the registered holders at 7 pm on Tuesday
30 August 2005. Accordingly, share transfers
registered after that time will be disregarded in
determining entitlements to attend and vote at
the meeting.

2 Voting exclusions
The Company will disregard any votes cast on:

= the resolution in item 4 by the directors of
the Company and any of their associates;

+ the resolution in item 5 by the directors
of the Company (except a director who
is ineligible to participate in any employee
incentive scheme in relation to the
Cormnpany) and any of their associates;

* each of the resolutions in item 6 by
the directors of the Company (except a
director who is ineligible to participate in
any employee incentive scheme in relation
to the Company) and, if ASX has expressed
an opinion under rule 10.14.3 that approval
is required for participation in an employee
incentive scheme by anyone else, that
person, and any of their associates,

unless the vote is cast by:

* aperson as proxy for a person who is
entitled to vote in accordance with the
directions on the proxy form; or

* the person chairing the meeting as a proxy
for a person who is entitled to vote, in
accordance with a direction on the proxy
form to vote as the proxy decides.

PROXIES

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote has

a right to appoint a proxy to attend and vote
instead of the shareholder. A proxy need not be
a shareholder and can be either an individual or a
body corporate. If a shareholder appoints a body
corporate as a proxy, that body corporate will
need to ensure that it:

¢ appoints an individual as its corporate
representative to exercise its powers at the
meeting, in accordance with section 250D of
the Corporations Act; and

+  provides satisfactory evidence of the
appointment of its corporate representative.

If such evidence is not received at least 48 hours
prior to the appointed time for the meeting, then
the body corporate (through its representative)
will not be permitted to act as a proxy.

A shareholder that is entitled to cast 2 or more
votes may appoint 2 proxies and may specify

the proportion or number of votes each proxy

is appointed to exercise. If no proportion or
number is specified, each proxy may exercise half
of the shareholder’s votes.

A Proxy Form accompanies this Notice and to
be effective must be received at the Company's
corporate registry:

Registries Limited
PC Box Ré7

Royal Exchange
Sydney NSW 1223

OR by facsimile: +61 2 9279 0664

at feast 48 hours before the appointed time of
the meeting.

By Order of the Board
Dated: 28th July 2005

John Randall
Company Secretary



EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM TO SHAREHOLDERS

Please read the Notice and Explanatory Memorandum carefully.

If you are unable to attend the meeting please complete and return the
enclosed proxy form in accordance with the instructions.




EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM TO SHAREHOLDERS
METCASH LIMITED nsns2 112073 420

This Explanatory
Memorandum has

been prepared to assist
shareholders to understand
the business to be put to
shareholders at the annual
general meeting.

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 Annual financial report
The Corporations Act requires:

* the reports of the directors and auditors; and

* the annual financial report, including the
financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 30 April 2005,

to be laid before the annual general meeting.
Neither the Cerporations Act nor the Company's
constitution requires a vote of shareholders on
the reports or statements (other than the non-
binding vote in respect of the remuneration
report forming part of the directors report — see
the resolution in item 7). However, shareholders
will be given ample opportunity to raise questions
or comments on the reports and statements at
the meeting.

Also, a reasonable opportunity will be given to
members as a whole at the meeting to ask the
Company's auditor questions refevant to the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the auditor's report.

2 Ordinary resolutions to re-elect

directors who retire by rotation
Edwin Jankelowitz, Dudley Rubin and Peter
Barnes each retire by rotation as directors of the
Company and offer themselves for re-election
as directors of the Company in accordance with
rule 8.1(d) of the Company's constitution,

Profiles of directors standing for re-
election

Edwin Jankelowitz

Mr Edwin Jankelowitz has been Finance Director
of the Metcash group since 1998. He has been
an Executive Director of Metcash Trading since
22 May 1998 and of the Company since

18 April 2005.

Mr Jankelowitz qualified as a chartered accountant
in South Africa in [966. From July 1967 to
Naovember 1979 he was with Adcock Ingram Ltd
in head office where he was promoted over time
to Group Company Secretary and then Finance
Director. From January 1980 to March 1983 he
was a consultant in business management and
tax. Ffrom 1983 to 1997 he was with Caxton

Ltd where he worked as Finance Director, then
Managing Director, then Chairman. He has
experience as chairman of other publicly quoted
companies.

Mr Jankelowitz has spent over 31 years in
corporate offices of listed companies with
excellent corporate governance reputaticns.

He was a member of the Income Tax Special
Court in South Africa for 20 years (1977 — 1997).

Dudley Rubin

Mr Dudley Rubin has been a Non-Executive
Director of Metcash Trading since 4 May 1998
and of the Company since |8 April 2005. He
is a member of the Audit Risk and Compliance
Committee.

Mr Rubin is a director of Metoz Holdings
(formerly Metro Cash and Carry Limited), a
South African public company which, until April
this year was the Company's parent company. In
addtion, he is a director of Metcash Trading Africa
(Proprietary) Limited, a company that was owned
by Metoz and that trades in twelve countries
across Africa and the Far East. He has had 22
years' experience in the industry. Mr Rubin is a
resident of South Africa.

Peter Barnes

Mr Peter Barnes has been a Non-Executive
Director of Metcash Trading since 12 November
1999 and of the Company since {8 April 2005.
He is a member of the Audit Risk & Compliance
Committee and the Remuneration & Nomination
Committee.

Mr Barnes is Chairman of Samuel Smith & Sons
Pty Ltd (Yalumba Wines) and a Director of News
Corporation and Ansell Ltd. (Both Samuel Smith
& Sons Pty Ltd and Ansell Ltd are suppliers to the
Metcash group. However, the level of purchases
involved is not considered material.) Mr Bames
was formerly an executive with Philip Morris
International Inc where he held several senicr
management positions in Australia and overseas
— including managing director of Lindeman
Holdings Ltd and President. Asia region, based in
Hong Kong.

Recommendation

The directors (Edwin Jankelowitz, Dudley Rubin
and Peter Barnes not participating) recommend
that shareholders vote in favour of the resolutions
to re-elect each of Edwin Jankelowitz, Dudley
Rubin and Peter Barnes as directors of the
Company.

3 Ordinary resolution to re-appoint

auditor

Ernst & Young (EY) has been the auditor of
Metcash Trading since {998 and is familiar with
the group's business. EY was the Company’s
auditor in relation to the 2005 accounts.

John Randall as shareholder, has nominated EY
as auditor. A copy of the letter of nomination is
displayed in Annexure A below.

EY has consented to act as auditor of the
Company.

Recommendation

The directors recommend that shareholders vote
in favour of the re-appointment of EY as auditor.



SPECIAL BUSINESS

4 Ordinary resolution to increase the
maximum aggregate remuneration of

non-executive directors

Shareholder approval is being sought to increase
the amount fixed by the Company as the
maximum aggregate remuneration for non-
executive directors of the Company for a financial
year.

The current amount fixed by the Company as
the maximum aggregate remuneration for non-
executive directors of the Company for a financial
year is $500,000.

For the purposes of rule 8.3(a) of the Company's
constitution and Listing Rule 10,17, shareholder
approval is sought to increase by $500,000

the maximum aggregate remuneration from
$500,000 to $1,000,000 per annum.

No increase in the maximum aggregate
remuneration has been sought since 1994, when
the $500,000 maximum was set at the time of
Davids Limited's listing.

The higher maximum aggregate remuneration is
being sought to allow the Company the flexibility
to increase the number of non-executive director
appointments, whilst providing accommodation
for future fee increases in line with industry
standards.

As the directors may have an interest in the
outcome of this resolution, they consider

it would not be appropriate tc make a
recommendation to shareholders as to how to
vote in relation to this resolution.

5 Ordinary resolution to approve
the Option Plan

Shareholder approval is being sought to
approve the issue of options under the Option
Plan so that the Company will satisfy Listing Rule
7.2 Exception 9 (as an exception to ASX Listing
Rule 7.1).

Listing Rule 7.1 of the ASX Listing Rules provides
that without the approval of the holders of
ordinary securities, an entity must not issue or
agree to issue equity securities which amount to
more than 15% of its issued share capital in any
rolling 12 month period. However, ASX Listing
Rule 7.2 sets out a number of exceptions to
ASX Listing Rule 7.1, These exceptions include

Exception 9 which is an issue under an employee
incentive scheme if within 3 years before the
date of issue the holders of ordinary securities
have approved the issue of securities under the
scheme as an exception to this rule.

As indicated in section 5.2(b) of the Scheme
Booklet, the Option Plan replicates the terms
and conditions of the Metcash Trading Employee
Option Plan {which was first approved by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of
Metcash Trading held on 23 November 1998)
except that the options issued pursuant to the
Option Plan will be over shares in the Company
and the Option Plan has been updated to reflect
current faw.

Options will be issued to participants in
accordance with the rules of the Option Plan.

A summary of the principal terms of the Option
Plan rules is set out in Annexure B to this
Explanatory Memorandum. A copy of the Option
Plan rules is available on the Company's website
www.metcash.com.

No securities have been issued by the Company
under the Option Plan,

6 Ordinary resolution to approve the
issue of options to directors under
the Option Plan

The Company wishes to issue options under the
Option Plan to certain executive directors of the
Company, being Andrew Reitzer, Bernard Hale,
Michael Jablonski, Edwin Jankelowitz, Lou Jardin
and Michael Wesslink, as part of the strategy

of motivating and retaining key employees and
allowing them to share in the success of the
Company. Each of Andrew Reitzer, Bernard
Hale, Michael Jablonski, Edwin Jankelowitz, Lou
Jardin and Michael Wesslink became a director of
the Company on |18 April 2005.

It is proposed that:

+ upto 1,200,000 options be issued to
Andrew Reitzer under the Option Plan;

* up to 650,000 options be issued to Bernard
Hale under the Option Plan;

* upto 650,000 options be issued to Michael
Jablonski under the Option Plan;

* upto 650,000 options be issued to Edwin
Jankelowitz under the Option Plan;

* up to 650,000 options be issued to Lou
Jardin under the Option Plan; and

* up to 650,000 options be issued to Michael
Wesslink under the Option Plan.

Listing Rule 10.14 of the ASX Listing Rules
requires shareholders to approve the issue of
options to certain persons, including directors of
the Company.

It is proposed that options be issued to Andrew
Reitzer, Bernard Hale, Michael [ablonski, Edwin
Jankelowitz, Lou Jardin and Michael Wesslink
on the terms and conditions of the Option Plan
(a summary of the principal terms of which is
contained in Annexure B to this Explanatory
Memorandum).

In addition, the Board has determined that a
further condition (or performance hurdle) to the
exercise of an option which is connected with the
future performance of the Company will attach
to the options issued to executive directors. The
performance hurdle determined by the Board is
as follows:

In each of the years in which options
become available for exercise, earnings

per share for the financial year preceding

the tranche exercise date must be at least
equal to a 12.5% increase of earnings per
share compounded from the 2005 financial
year earnings per share, adjusted for any
dilution or reducticn that might occur as a
consequence of any material alteration to the
number of shares issued.

The aggregate maximum number of options that
may be acquired by Andrew Reitzer, Bernard
Hale, Michae! Jablonski, Edwin Jankelowitz, Lou
Jardin and Michael Wesslink under the Option
Plan as a consequence of shareholder approval of
the resolutions in item 6 is 4,450,000.

The Exercise Price of each option to be issued
under the Option Plan as a consequence of
shareholder approval of the resolution in item

6 will be the volume weighted average market
price of ordinary shares in the Company for the
five ASX trading days prior to, but not including,
the annual general meeting date of | September
2005.

No options have previously been issued under
the Cpticn Plan by the Company.

Metcash Limited Lxplanatory Mereorandum 3



Details of the options issued to Andrew Reitzer,
Bernard Hale, Michael jablonski and Edwin
Jankelowitz under the Metcash Trading Employee
Option Plan since the last approval are as follows:

Number

Date of
of options Exercise
Name issue received Price
Andrew Reitzer  4/12/01 1,700,000 $1.386
Bernard Hale 02/09/04 850,000  $2.43
Edwin Jankelowitz 14/12/01 850,000 $1.386
Michael Jablonski  14/12/01 850,000 $1.386

Details of all options issued to Michael Wesslink
and Lou Jardin under the Metcash Trading
Employee Option Plan are as follows (note that
no options have been issued to Michael Wesslink
or Lou Jardin since they became directors of
Metcash Trading on 24 May 2002).

Number
Date of
of options Exercise
Name issue received Price
Lou Jardin
26/03/1999 60,000 $0.44
[1/082000 600,000 $0.161
25/0172002 400,000 $1.268
Michael Wesslink
11/08/2000 700,000 $0.161
25/012002 400,000 $1.268

All executive directors of the Company are
entitled to participate in the Option Plan.

It is proposed that the Company will issue the
options to Andrew Reitzer, Bernard Hale, Michael
Jablonski, Edwin Jankelowitz, Lou Jardin and
Michael Wesslink in September or October 2005.

Recommendation

The non-executive directors recommend that
shareholders vote in favour of the resolution to
issue options to Andrew Reitzer, Bernard Hale,
Michael fablonski, Edwin Jankelowitz, Lou fardin
and Michael Wesslink under the Option Plan. The
executive directors are interested in the outcome
of this resolution and therefore do not consider
it appropriate to make a recommendation to
shareholders.

1 Ordinary resolution to adopt the

remuneration report

Shareholders are asked to adopt the Company's
remuneration report. The remuneration report
is set out on pages 77 to 79 of the 2005 annual
report and is also available on the Company's
website www.metcash.com. The remuneration
report:

* describes the policies behind, and structure
of, the remuneration arrangements of
the Company and the link between the
remuneration of employees and the
Company's performance;

*  sets out the remuneration arrangements
in place for each director and for specified
senior executives of the Company; and

+ explains the differences between the bases
for remunerating non-executive directors and
executives, including the executive directors.

A reasonable opportunity for discussion of

the remuneration report will be provided at

the annual general meeting. The vote on the
resolution in item 7 is advisory only, and does not
bind the directors or the Company.

8 Special resolution to approve
the giving of financial assistance
under section 260B(2) of the
Corporations Act

8.1 Background to and reasons for the
resolution

Under section 2608(2) of the Corporations

Act, if a company will be a subsidiary of a listed
domestic corporation (Listed Holding Company)
immediately after an acquisition of shares in

it or its holding company in respect of which

the company gives financial assistance (and
another exemption is not available to permit

the financial assistance to be given) then the
financial assistance must be approved by a special
resolution of the shareholders of the Listed
Holding Company.

Shareholders are asked to consider and, if
thought fit, pass the resolution in item 8 as a
special resolution under section 260B(2) to
permit Foodland and those of its subsidiaries that
become the Company's subsidiaries to financially
assist the Share Acquisitions as described below.

8.2 The Share Acquisitions

On 7 February 2005 Metcash Trading (now a
subsidiary of the Company) made a takeover
offer (Foodland Takeover) for all the shares in
Foodland. The consideration under the Foodland
Takeover was:

¢ $7.18 cash or 2.44 Metcash A Shares; and
* | NZ Share,

per Foodland Share (Original Takeover
Consideration). On 3 May 2005 Metcash
Trading increased the consideration under the
Foodland Takeover to:

s $8.55 cash or 2.79 Metcash A Shares; and
e | NZ Share,
per Foodland Share.

On 25 May 2005 Metcash Trading, Foodland and
Woolworths Limited (Woolworths) announced
that an agreement had been reached between
them whereby Metcash Trading would acquire
Foodland's Australian business (other than
certain Action supermarkets which Woolworths
is to acquire) and Woolworths would acquire
Foodland's New Zealand business and certain
Action supermarket stores pursuant to court
approved schemes of arrangement. The
announced transacticn is anticipated to involve
the following steps:

* Foodland is to first undertake a reorganisation
of the Foodland group so that the assets
that Woolworths is to acquire (as described
above) will be held (either directly or
indirectly) by a newly formed holding
company (Foodland New Zealand) to be
owned by the shareholders in Foodland (the
Foodland Demerger);

* under a second scheme of arrangement
(Transfer Scheme):

*  Metcash Trading is to acquire all the shares
in Foodland in consideration for the payment
or issue to Foodland shareholders of either
cash or Metcash Shares (the Scheme
Consideration); and

*  Woolworths is to acquire all the shares in
Foodland New Zealand in consideration for
the payment of cash and issue of shares by
Woolworths.

The Transfer Scheme is to be conditional on the
Foodland Demerger, but the Foodland Demerger
is not to be conditional on the Transfer Scheme.
The Transfer Scheme can only proceed in its
entirety (that is, the transfers to both Metcash



Trading and Wooclworths must be approved at
the same time by Foodland shareholders). It is
anticipated that the Foodland Demerger and the
Transfer Scheme are each to be voted on by the
shareholders of Foodland in October 2005.

Following the acquisition of shares in Foodland,
the Company and/or Metcash Trading may
undertake (and may be required under its
financing arrangements to undertake) certain
reorganisations that may involve other
subsidiaries of the Company acquiring shares in
subsidiaries of Foodland.

8.3 Funding arrangements

If the Transfer Scheme is successful, the cash
component of the Scheme Consideration is
intended to be funded (in whole or in part) out
of a Syndicated Loan Facility to Metcash Trading
arranged and underwritten by Australia and New
Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ) (the
Syndicated Facility).

8.4 Financial assistance to be provided by
Foodland

lUnder the Syndicated Facility the Company
and/or Metcash Trading will agree to procure
Foodland and (subject to certain exceptions) each
of its subsidiaries following implementation of the
Transfer Scheme to do certain acts and undertake
certain obligations which will, amongst other
things, assist Metcash Trading to complete the
Share Acquisitions. The assistance may include
Foodtand and its subsidiaries:

* entering into a guarantee and indemnity in
respect of the Syndicated Facility;

* making various representations and
undertakings consistent with a facility of
this nature or as required by the financiers
due to the particular circumstances of this
transaction; and

* subordinating intercompany claims against,
transferring assets to, or assuming other
lizbilities of, the Company, Metcash Trading
and other subsidiaries of the Company
and/or making available directly or indirectly
their cash flows or other resources (whether
through dividends, capital distributions, inter-
company loans or otherwise) in order to
enable Metcash Trading to comply with its
payment and other obligations in respect of
the Syndicated Facility.

By entering into the Syndicated Facility and by
giving the assistance described above, Foodland
and its subsidiaries may provide financial
assistance:

I to Metcash Trading to acquire shares in
Foodland; and

2 to subsidiaries of Metcash Trading to acquire
shares in subsidiaries of Foodland.

A resolution approving the provision of financial
assistance by Foodland and its subsidiaries

to Metcash Trading and its subsidiaries was
approved by shareholders of the Company
prior to the Capital Reorganisation (and also by
the ordinary shareholders of Metcash Trading
on 22 March 2005). However, that approval
related only to financial assistance to be given

in connection with the Foodland Takeover,

the Original Takeover Consideration and the
existing Syndicated Facility limit of $825 million.
Since that approval, the announcement on

25 May 2005 has been made and as a result

it has been proposed that the amount of the
Syndicated Facility will be increased to $1,065
million to permit the cash component of the
Transfer Scheme Consideration to be paid (if
the Transfer Scheme is implemented) and that
the permitted uses of the Syndicated Facility will
also be amended to permit it to be drawn upon
to fund the payment of the cash component

of the Scheme Consideration (if the Transfer
Scheme is implemented). Approval for the
financial assistance is therefore being sought from

sharehclders to permit the assistance to be given:

* notwithstanding the increase in the proposed
amount of the Syndicated Facility; and

* where the acquisition proceeds by way of
the Transfer Scheme.

8.5 Other financial assistance

As the Syndicated Facility was also used to
partially fund the Capital Reorganisation,
Foodland and its subsidiaries may, by acceding
to the Syndicated Facility as described above,
also be regarded as having financially assisted the
share acquisitions that took place as part of the
Capital Reorganisation. However, this financial
assistance was approved by the shareholders of
the Company prior to the Capital Reorganisation
and accordingly no further approval from the
Company's shareholders is required. Further
details regarding such financial assistance are
provided in the Scheme Booklet.

8.6 Other Approvals

The shareholders of Foodland and its subsidiaries
will need to unanimously pass resolutions
approving the giving of the financial assistance
described above. It is envisaged that the

passing of these resolutions will occur following
completion of the acquisition of Foodland by
Metcash Trading (by the Transfer Scheme), but
before the financial assistance is given.

As Metcash Trading is expected to remain listed
on the ASX at the time the Share Acquisitions
oceur, its shareholders will also need to pass

a section 260B(2) resolution approving the

giving of financial assistance by Foodland and

its subsidiaries. The annual general meeting

of Metcash Trading shareholders has been
convened and will be held immediately after the
Company’s annual general meeting concludes or
is adjourned. One of the items on the agenda for
that meeting is to consider, and if thought fit, pass
this resolution.

8.7 Impact on the Company’s financial
position

As the financial assistance to be provided by
Foodland and its subsidiaries is in respect of
financial obligations for which the Company
and (subject to certain exceptions) its cther
subsidiaries are (or will at the relevant time
be) already liable, the provision of that financial
assistance is not expected to have any material
impact on the Company's financial position.

If the Transfer Scheme is implemented and the
financial assistance is not provided, the Company
and/or Metcash Trading will be in default of its
obligations under its facilities and its financiers
may exercise their rights to require immediate
repayment of their facilities. As Metcash Trading
would not have sufficient cash reserves to
immediately repay these facilities, such action
would be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Company's financial position.

8.8 Voting

The resolution in item 8 will be decided on a poll
and will be passed if 75% or more of the votes
cast by shareholders voting at the annual general
meeting {either in person or by proxy) are in
favour of the resolution.

All shareholders may vote either for or against
the resolution in item 8.
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ANNEXURE A- LETTER OF NOMINATION OF AUDITOR

22 July 2005

The Board of Directors
Metcash Limited

4 Newington Road
Silverwater NSW 2128

Dear Sir

32 Warrington Ave
East Killara NSW 2071

In accordance with the provisions of section 328B(1) of the Corporations Act, | John Randall, being a member of
Metcash Limited (the Company), hereby nominate Ernst & Young for appointment as auditor of the Company.

A At -

Yours faithfully
John Randall

Metcash Limited Zxplenatory Mermorandum 7
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Registries Limited

PO Box R&7

Royal Exchange, Sydney NSW 1223
Australia

TRADING LIMITED AUSTRALASIA

Metcash Trading Limited ABN 61 000 031 569 P ROXY FO R M Enquiries (within Australia) 02 9279 0677

(outside Australia) 61 2 9279 0677
Facsimile 61 2 9279 0664

www.registriesitd.com.au

Mark this box with an X if you have made any changes to your
address detalls {see reverse)

Securityholder Reference Number (SRN)

Appointment of Proxy
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Joint Holding:

“Power of Attorney:

How to complete the Proxy Form
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form. Security holders sponsored by a broker (in which case your reference number overleaf will commence with an ') should advise your broker of any
changes. Please note, you cannot change ownership of your securities using this form.

2 APPOINTMENT OF A PROXY

If you wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy, mark the box. If the individual or body corporate you wish to appoint as your proxy is
someane other than the Chairman of the Meeting please write the full name of that individual or body corporate. If you leave this section blank, or your

named proxy does not attend the meeting, the Chairman of the Meeting will be your proxy. A proxy need not be a security holder of the company. Do

not write the name of the issuer company or the registered securityholder in the space.

3 VOTES ON ITEMS OF BUSINESS
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Notice is given that the 2005 annual general meeting of Metcash Trading Limited
(Metcash Trading) will be held at the Heritage Ballroom, The Westin Sydney,
No. | Martin Place, Sydney, New South Wales on Thursday | September 2005
at 3.30pm (or as soon as possible after that time as the Metcash Limited annual
general meeting Is concluded or adjourned):

AGENDA ITEMS
ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 Financial renort

To receive and consider the financial report of
Metcash Trading and the reports of the directors
and audtors for the year ended 30 April 2005.

2 Grdinary ressiutions 1o re-glect

directors who retire by rotation
Shareholders are asked to consider, and if
thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as
ordinary resolutions:

(a) To re-elect Edwin jankelowitz as a
director

“That Edwin Jankelowitz, being a director
of Metcash Trading who retires by rotation
under rule 7.1(d) of Metcash Trading’s
constitution, and being eligible, is
re-elected as a Director of Metcash
Trading.”

(b

Rt

To re-elect Dudley Rubin as a director

“That Dudley Rubin, being o director of
Metcash Trading who retires by rotation
under rule 7.1(d) of Metcash Trading’s
constitution, and being eligible, is re-
elected as a Director of Metcash Trading.”

(c) To re-elect Peter Barnes as a director

“That Peter Barnes, being a director of
Metcash Trading who retires by rotation
under rule 7.1(d) of Metcash Trading's
constitution, and being eligible, is re-
elected as a Director of Metcash Trading.”

3 Grdinary resolution to re-appoint

auditor
To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the
following resolution as an ordinary resclution:

“That Ernst & Young, being qudlified to act as
Auditor of the Company and having consented
to do so, be re-appointed as the auditor of the
Company with immediate effect.”

SPECIAL BUSINESS

4 Special resolution 1o approve
the giving of financial assistance
under section 2608(2) of the

Corporations Act

Shareholders are asked to consider, and if
thought fit, to pass the following resolution as a
special resolution:

“That for the purposes of section 2608(2)

of the Corporations Act, approval is given for
the financial assistance to be provided by
Foodland Associated Limited and those of its
subsidiaries which become Metcash Trading's
subsidiaries to Metcash Trading and other
subsidiaries of Metcash Limited in connection
with the Share Acquisitions all as described in
the explanatory memorandum to the notice
which convened this meeting,”

EXPLANATORY
MEMORANDUM

Shareholders are referred to the explanatory
memorandum accompanying and forming part of
this notice of meeting.

Entitlement to vote

Snapshot time

It has been determined that under the
Corporations Regulations 7.11.37, for the
purposes of the annual general meeting, shares
will be taken to be held by the persons who
are the registered holders at 7 pm on Tuesday
30 August 2005. Accordingly, share transfers
registered after that time will be disregarded in
determining entitlernents to attend and vote at
the meeting.

PROXIES

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote has

a right to appoint a proxy to attend and vote
instead of the shareholder. A proxy need not be
a shareholder and can be either an individual or a
body corporate. if a shareholder appoints a body
corporate as a proxy, that body corporate will
need to ensure that it:

« appoints an individual as its corporate
representative to exercise its powers at the
meeting, in accordance with section 250D
of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth); and

« provides satisfactory evidence of
the appointment of its corporate
representative.

If such evidence is not received at least 48 hours
prior to the appointed time for the meeting, then
the body corporate (through its representative)
will not be permitted to act as a proxy.



A shareholder that is entitled to cast 2 or more votes may appoint 2 proxies and may specify the
proportion or number of votes each proxy is appointed to exercise. If no proportion or number is
specified, each proxy may exercise half of the shareholder's votes.

A Proxy Form accompanies this Notice and to be effective must be received at Metcash Trading's
corporate registry:

Registries Limited
PO Box R67

Royal Exchange
Sydney NSW 1223

OR by facsimile: +61 2 9279 0664

at least 48 hours before the appointed time of the meeting.

By Order of the Board
Dated: 28th July 2005

A

john Randall
Company Secretary



EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM TO SHAREHOLDERS

Please read the Notice and Explanatory Memorandum carefully.

If you are unable to attend the meeting please complete and return the
enclosed proxy form in accordance with the instructions.




This Explanatory
Memorandum has

been prepared to assist
shareholders to understand
the business to be put to
shareholders at the annual
general meeting.

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 Annual financial report
The Corporations Act requires :

» the reports of the directors and auditors; and

» the annual financial report, including the
financial statements of Metcash Trading for
the year ended 30 April 2005,

to be laid before the annual general meeting.
Neither the Corporations Act nor Metcash
Trading's constitution requires a vote of
shareholders on the reports or statements.
However, shareholders will be given ample
opportunity to raise questions or comments on
the reports and staterments at the meeting

Alsc, a reasonable opportunity will be given

to members as a whole at the meeting to ask
Metcash Trading's auditor questions relevant to
the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
centent of the auditor’s report.

2 Ordinary resolutions fo re-elect

directors who retire hy rotation
Edwin Jankelowitz, Dudley Rubin and Peter
Barnes each retire by rotation as directors

of Metcash Trading and offer themselves for
re-election as directors of Metcash Trading in
accordance with rule 7.1(d) of Metcash Trading's
constitution.

The experience, qualifications and other
information about each of Edwin Jankelowitz,
Dudley Rubin and Peter Barnes is set out below:

Edwin Jankelowitz

Mr Edwin Jankelowitz has been finance director
of the Metcash group since 1998. He has been
an Executive Director of Metcash Trading since
22 May 1998,

Mr Jankelowitz qualified as a chartered accountant
in South Africa in 1966. From July 1967 to
November 1979 he was with Adcock Ingram Ltd
in head office where he was promoted over time
to Group Company Secretary and then Finance
Director. From January 1980 to March 1983 he
was a consultant in business management and
tax. From 1983 to 1997 he was with Caxton

Ltd where he worked as Finance Director, then
Managing Director, then Chairman. He has
experience as Chairman of other publicly quoted
companies.

Mr Jankelowitz has spent over 3| years in
corporate offices of listed companies with
excellent corporate governance reputations. He
was a member of the Income Tax Special Court
in South Africa for 20 years (1977 — 1997).

Dudley Rubin

Mr Dudley Rubin has been a non-executive
director of Metcash Trading since 4 May
1998, He is a member of the Audit Risk and
Compliance Committee.

Mr Rubin is a director of Metoz Holdings
(formerly Metro Cash and Carry Limited), a
South African public company which, until April
this year was the Company's parent company.
In addition, he is a director of Metcash Trading
Africa (Proprietary) Limited, a company that
was owned by Metoz and that trades in twelve
countries across Africa and the Far East. He has
had 22 years' experience in the industry. Mr
Rubin is a resident of South Africa.

Peter Barnes

Mr Peter Barnes has been a Non-Executive
Director of Metcash Trading since |2 November
1999. He is a member of the Audit Risk &
Compliance Committee and the Remuneration
& Nomination Committee.

Mr Barnes is Chairman of Samuel Smith & Sons
Pty Ltd (Yalumba Wines), and a Director of News
Corporation and Ansell Ltd. (Both Samuel Smith
& Sons Pty Ltd and Ansell Ltd are suppliers to the
Metcash group. However, the level of purchases
involved is not considered material.) Mr Barnes
was formerly an executive with Philip Morris
International Inc where he held several senicr

management posttions in Australia and overseas
— including Managing Director of Lindeman
Holdings Ltd and President, Asia region, based
in Hong Kong.

Recommendation

The directors (Edwin Jankelowitz, Dudley Rubin
and Peter Barnes not participating) recommend
that shareholders vote in favour of the resolutions
to re-elect each of Edwin Jankelowitz, Dudley
Rubin and Peter Barnes as directors of Metcash
Trading.

3 Ordinary resolution to re-appoint

auditor

Ernst & Young (EY) has acted as auditor of
Metcash Trading since 1998 and is familiar with
the group’s business. EY acted as auditor in
refation 1o Metcash Trading’s 2005 accounts.
Section 327H of the Corporations Act provides
that an auditor of a public company that begins to
be controlled by a corporation must retire at the
next annual general meeting of the company but
is eligible for re-appointment.

Since the Capital Reorganisation in April 2005,
Metcash Limited has come to hold more than
50% of the issued ordinary shares of Metcash
Trading and accordingly, EY must retire as auditor
of the Company at this year's annual general
meeting but is eligible for re-appointment.

Metcash Limited as shareholder, has nominated
EY for re-appointment as auditor. A copy of the
letter of nomination is displayed in Annexure A
below.

EY has consented to continue to act as auditor of
Metcash Trading.

Recommendation

The directors recommend that shareholders vote
in favour of the re-appointment of EY as auditor.

Metcash Trading Limite



SPECIAL BUSINESS

4 Special resolution to approve
the giving of financial assistance
under section 2608(2) of the
Corparations Act

4.1 Background to and reasons for the
resolution

Under section 260B(2) of the Corporations

Act, if a company will be a subsidiary of a listed
domestic corporation (Listed Holding Company)
immediately after an acquisition of shares in

it or its holding company in respect of which

the company gives financial assistance (and
another exemption is not available to permit

the financial assistance to be given) then the
financial assistance must be approved by a special
resolution of the shareholders of the Listed
Holding Company.

Shareholders are asked to consider and, if
thought fit, pass the resolution in item 4 as a
special resolution under section 260B(2) 1o
permit Foodland and those of its subsidiaries
that become subsidiaries of Metcash Trading
to financially assist the Share Acquisitions as
described below.

4.2 The Share Acquisitions

On 7 February 2005 Metcash Trading (now 2
subsidiary of Metcash Limited (Metcash)) made
a takeover offer (Foodland Takeover) for all the
shares in Foodland. The consideration under the
Foodland Takeover was:

»  $7.18 cash or 2.44 Metcash A Shares; and
* | NZ Share,

per Foodland Share (Original Takeover
Consideration). On 3 May 2005 Metcash
Trading increased the consideration under the
Foodland Takeover to:

¢ $8.55 cash or 2.79 Metcash A Shares; and
* | NZ Share,
per Foodland Share.

On 25 May 2005 Metcash Trading, Foodland and
Woolworths Limited (Woolworths) announced
that an agreement had been reached between
them whereby Metcash Trading would acquire
Foodland's Australian business (other than

certain Action supermarkets which Woolworths
is to acquire) and Woolworths would acquire

Foodland's New Zealand business and certain
Action supermarket stores pursuant to court
approved schemes of arrangement. The
announced transaction is anticipated to involve
the following steps:

+ Foodland is to first undertake a reorganisation
of the Foodland group so that the assets
that Woolworths is to acquire (as described
above) will be held (either directly or
indirectly) by a newly formed holding
company (Focdland New Zealand) to be
owned by the shareholders in Foodland (the
Foodland Demerger);

* under a second scheme of arrangement
(Transfer Scheme):

= Metcash Trading is to acquire all the shares
in Foodland in consideration for the payment
or issue to Foodland shareholders of either
cash or Metcash Shares (the Scheme
Consideration); and

*  Woolworths is to acquire all the shares in
Foodland New Zealand in consideration for
the payment of cash and issue of shares by
Woolworths.

The Transfer Scheme is to be conditional on the
Foodland Demerger, but the Foodland Demerger
is not to be conditional on the Transfer Scheme.
The Transfer Scheme can only proceed in its
entirety (that is, the transfers to both Metcash
Trading and Woclworths must be approved at
the same time by Foodland shareholders). It is
anticipated that the Foodland Demerger and the
Transfer Scheme are each to be voted on by the
shareholders of Foodland in October 2005.

Foltowing the acquisition of shares in

Foodland, Metcash and/or Metcash Trading

may undertake (and may be required under

its financing arrangements to undertake)

certain reorganisations that may involve other
subsidiaries of Metcash Trading acquiring shares in
subsidiaries of Foodland.

4.3 Funding arrangements

If the Transfer Scheme is successful, the cash
component of the Scheme Consideration is
intended to be funded (in whole or in part) out
of a Syndicated Loan Facility to Metcash Trading
arranged and underwritten by Australia and New
Zealand Banking Group Limited (ANZ) (the
Syndicated Facility).

4.4 Financial assistance to be provided by
Foodland

Under the Syndicated Facility Metcash and/or
Metcash Trading will agree to procure Foodland
and (subject to certain exceptions) each of its
subsidiaries following implementation of the
Transfer Scheme to do certain acts and undertake
certain obligations will, amongst other things,
assist Metcash Trading to complete the Share
Acquisitions. The assistance may include Foodland
and its subsidiaries:

*  entering into a guarantee and indemnity in
respect of the Syndicated Facility;

* making various representations and
undertakings consistent with a facility of
this nature or as required by the financiers
due to the particular circumstances of this
transaction; and

= subordinating intercompany claims against,
transferring assets to, or assuming other
liabilties of, Metcash, Metcash Trading and
other Metcash subsidiaries and/or making
avaifable directly or indirectly their cash
flows or other resources (whether through
dividends, capital distributions, inter-company
loans or otherwise) in order to enable
Metcash Trading to comply with its payment
and other obligations in respect of the
Syndicated Facility.

By entering into the Syndicated Facility and by
giving the assistance described above, Foodland
and its subsidiaries may provide financial
assistance:

I to Metcash Trading to acquire shares in
Foodland; and

2 to subsidiaries of Metcash Trading to acquire
shares in subsidiaries of Foodland.

A resolution approving the provision of financial
assistance by Foodland and its subsidiaries to
Metcash Trading and its subsidiaries was approved
by the ordinary shareholders of Metcash Trading
on 22 March 2005. However, that approval
related only to financial assistance to be given

in connection with the Foodland Tekeover, the
Original Takeover Consideration and the existing
Syndicated Facility imit of $825 million. Since
that approval, the announcement cn 25 May
2005 has been made and as a result it has been
proposed that the amount of the Syndicated
Facility will be increased to $1,065 million to
permit the cash component of the Transfer
Scheme Consideration to be paid
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(if the Transfer Scheme is implemented) and that
the permitted uses of the Syndicated Facility will
also be amended to permit it to be drawn upon
to fund the payment of the cash component

of the Scheme Consideration (if the Transfer
Scheme is implemented). Approval for the
financial assistance is therefore being sought from
shareholders to permit the assistance to be given:

* notwithstanding the increase in the proposed
amount of the Syndicated Facility; and

= where the acquisition proceeds by way of
the Transfer Scheme.

4.5 Other financial assistance

As the Syndicated Facility was also used to
partially fund the Capital Reorganisation, Foodland
and its subsidiaries may, by acceding to the
Syndicated Facility as described above, also be
regarded as having financially assisted the share
acquisttions that took place as part of the Capital
Reorganisation. However, this financial assistance
was approved by the shareholders of Metcash
Trading on 22 March 2005 and accordingly

no further approval from Metcash Trading
shareholders is required. Further details regarding
such financial assistance are provided in Metcash
Trading's scheme booklet dated |1 February
2005 which was lodged with ASIC and sent to
Metcash Trading shareholders on |7 February
2005 and which is available on request to the
Company.

4.6 Other Approvals

The shareholders of Foodland and its subsidiaries
will need to unanimously pass resolutions
approving the giving of the financial assistance
described above. It is envisaged that the

passing of these resolutions will occur following
completion of the acquisition of Foodland by
Metcash Trading (by the Transfer Scheme), but
before the financial assistance is given. As Metcash
is also listed on the ASX, its shareholders will
also need to pass a section 260B8(2) resolution
approving the giving of financial assistance by
Foodland and its subsidiaries. The annual general
meeting of its members has been convened for

| September 2005 to, amongst other things,
consider, and if thought fit, pass this resolution.

4.7 Impact on Metcash’s financial position

As the financial assistance to be provided by
Foodland and its subsidiaries is in respect of
financial obligations for which Metcash Trading
and (subject to certain exceptions) its other
subsidiaries are (or will at the relevant time
be) already liable, the provision of that financial
assistance is not expected tc have any material
impact on Metcash Trading's financial position.

If the Transfer Scheme is implemented and the
financial assistance is not provided, Metcash
and/or Metcash Trading will be in default of its
obligations under its facilities and its financiers
may exercise their rights to require immediate
repayment of their facilities. As Metcash Trading
would not have sufficient cash reserves to
immediately repay these facilities, such action
weuld be expected to have a material adverse
effect on Metcash Trading's financial position.

4.8 Voting

The resolution in item 4 will be decided on a pol
and will be passed if 75% or more of the votes
cast by shareholders voting at the annual general
meeting (either in person or by proxy) are in
favour of the resolution.

All shareholders may vote either for or against
the resolution in item 4,

4.9 Defined Terms
In this item 4:

Capital Reorganisation means the capital
reorganisation that was effected by means of
the court-approved schemes of arrangement

of members of Metoz Holdings Limited and
Metcash Trading Limited which became effective
on 6 Aprit 2005 and 7 April 2005 respectively
and under which, amongst other things:

(a) Metcash acquired all of the Metcash Trading
shares held in exchange for the issue by
Metcash of Metcash Shares; and

(b) Metcash purchased all of the issued shares in
Metoz Holdings for cash.

Corporations Act means Corporations Act 2001
(Commonwealth).

Foodland means Foodland Asscciated Limited
(ABN 13 008 667 650).

Foodland Shares means fully paid ordinary
shares in Foodland.

Former Foodland Shareholders means a
Foodland shareholder that was issued Metcash A
Shares and/or NZ Shares.

Metcash A Shares means preference shares in
Metcash Trading which have a preferential right
to the same dividends as Metcash Trading Shares
and which are proposed to be issued by Metcash
Trading to Foodland Shareholders as part of

the consideration for the Foodland Takeover. if
the Foodland Takeover is successful then at the
time that Metcash becomes the holder of 100%
of Foodland (either directly or indirectly) the
Metcash A Shares will be exchanged for Metcash
Shares on a cone for one basis.

Metcash Shares means ordinary shares in
Metcash.

Metcash Trading means Metcash Trading Limited
(ABN 61 000 031 569).

NZ Holdco means NZ Holdco Limited (ACN
{12 196 077), which after completion of the
Foodland Takeover, the compulsory acquisition
by Metcash Trading of any outstanding minority
shares in Foodland and a reorganisation of
Foodland's operations in New Zealand, will be
the Australian holding company for Foodland's
operations in New Zealand.

NZ Shares means the preference shares which
have economic entitiements to the profits of
Foodland's operations in New Zealand and
which are proposed to be issued by Metcash
Trading to Foodland Shareholders as part of the
consideration for the Foodfand Takeover. If the
Foodiand Takeover is successful Metcash intends
to return ownership of Foodland's operations in
New Zealand to Former Foodland Shareholders
by way of capital reduction. As consideration for
the cancellation of NZ Shares, NZ shareholders
will receive shares in NZ Holdco, the proposed
holding company of Foodland's operations in
New Zealand.

Share Acquisitions means the acquisition of
shares in:

(a) Foodland by Metcash Trading; and

(b) subsidiaries of Foodland by subsidiaries of
Metcash.

4.10 Recommendation

The directors recommend that shareholders vote
in favour of the special resolution to approve the
giving of financial assistance.

Metcash Trading Limited Explan Memarandurs 4




ANNEXURE A — LETTER OF NOMINATION OF AUDITOR

Metcash Limited
ABN 32 112 073 480
4 Newington Road
Silverwater

NSW 2128 Austratia

PO Box 6226

Silverwater Business Centre
NSW 181 | Australia

Ph: 61 2 9741 3000

Fax: 61 2 9741 3999

22 july 2005

The Board of Directors
Metcash Trading Limited
4 Newington Road

Silverwater NSW 2128

Dear Sir
Appointment of auditor

In accordance with the provisions of section 328B(1) of the Corporations Act, Metcash Limited, being a member of
Metcash Trading Limited (the Company), hereby nominates Ernst & Young for appoirtment as auditor of the Company.

Yours faithfully
Metcash Limited

P R ,«”fs«:’f
o
] A Randall M | Wesslink
Secretary Director

Metcash Trading Limited £ femorgndunt B
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METCASH TRADING LIMITED
ABN 61 000 031 569

4 NEWINGTON ROAD
SILVERWATER

INSW 2128 AUSTRALIA

PO BOX 6226

SILVERWATER BUSINESS CENTRE
INSW 1811 AUSTRALIA

Ph: 61 2 9741 3000

Fax: 61 2 9741 3999

Web: wwaw.metcash.com

29 July 2005

Dear CULS holder

Metcash Trading Limited - annual report and notice of meeting

We are pleased to enclose for your information copies of:
° the annual report for Metcash Trading Limited (Metcash Trading) in respect of the 200472005 financial year; and

* the notice of meeting (including explanatory memorandum and sample proxy form) in respect of the annual general
meeting of Metcash Trading scheduled to be held on Thursday | September 2005 at 3.30 pm.

Please note that the enclosed documents are being provided to the holders of convertible unsecured subordinated
redeemable loan notes (CULS) in Metcash Trading for information purposes only.

Under the CULS terms of issue, CULS holders may attend general meetings of Metcash Trading but CULS do not
carry a right to vote at a general meeting of that company (unless provided for by the Corporations Act or the ASX
Listing Rules).

Please note that the Annual General Meeting of Metcash Limited will take place at 2.30 pm, prior to the Metcash
Trading Limited meeting. You are welcome to attend should you wish.

We look forward to welcoming you to the Metcash Trading AGM on | September at 3.30 pm.

Yours faithfully

le A K _Eon

J A Randall
Secretary

Camphells

AUSTRALIAN LI0UOR MARKETE



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

uncementRule 2.7, 3.10.3, 3.10.4, 3.10.5

Appendix 3B

New issue announcement,
application for quotation of additional securities
and agreement

Information or documents not available now must be given to ASX as soon as available. Information
and documents given to ASX become ASX’s property and may be made public.

Introduced 1/7/96. Qrigin: Appendix 5. Amended 1/7/98, 1/9/89, 1/7/2000, 30/9/2001, 11/3/2002, 1/1/2003.

Name of entity

Metcash Limited

ABN

32112 073 480

We (the entity) give ASX the following information.

Part 1 - All issues

You must complete the relevant sections (attach sheets if there is not enough space).

1 *Class of *securities issued or to | Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
be issued

2 Number of "securities issued or | 621,551 (MTS)
to be issued (if known) or
maximum number which may be (29,300) (MTSAI)
issued

3 Principal terms of the *securities
(eg, if options, exercise price and
expiry date; if partly paid

*securities, the amount
outstanding and due dates for
payment; if *convertible
securities, the conversion price S0 ©rg
and dates for conversion) . ey
L
3
—~

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Appendix 3B
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4 Do the *securities rank equally in | Yes
all respects from the date of
allotment with an existing *class
of quoted *securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

« the date from which they do

» the extent to which they
participate for the next
dividend, (in the case of a
trust, distribution) or interest
payment

¢ the extent to which they do
not rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,

distribution or interest
payment
5  Issue price or consideration $0.161 (4,000)
$1.00 (1)

$1.386 (510,000)
$1.268 (107,550)

6  Purpose of the issue 1 Founding share, issued prior to listing

(If issued as consideration for Exercise of employee Options
the acquisition of assets, clearly (621,550)

identify those assets)

Options cancelled (former employees)

7  Dates of entering *securities into | 1%t July 2005
uncertificated holdings or
despatch of certificates

Number *Class

8 Number and “class of all | 428,668,624 Ordinary (MTS)
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in
clause 2 if applicable)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Number *Class

9 Number and *class of all | 11,023,210 Options (MTSALI)
*securities not quoted on ASX
{(including the securities in
clause 2 if applicable)

10  Dividend policy (in the case of
a trust, distribution policy) on
the increased capital (interests)

Part 2 - Bonus issue or pro rata issue

11 Is security holder approval
required?

12 Is the issue renounceable or
non-renounceable?

13 Ratio in which the *securities will
be offered

14  *Class of *securities to which
the offer relates

16 *Record date to determine
entitlements

16 Will holdings on different
registers (or subregisters) be
aggregated for  calculating
entitlements?

17  Policy for deciding entitlements
in relation to fractions

18 Names of countries in which the
entity has *security holders who
will not be sent new issue
documents

Note: Security holders must be told how their
entitiements are to be dealt with.

Cross reference: rule 7.7.

19  Closing date for receipt of
acceptances or renunciations

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

Names of any underwriters

Amount of any underwriting fee
or commission

Names of any brokers to the
issue

Fee or commission payable to
the broker to the issue

Amount of any handling fee
payable to brokers who lodge
acceptances or renunciations on
behalf of *security holders

If the issue is contingent on
*security holders’ approval, the
date of the meeting

Date entitlement and
acceptance form and
prospectus or Product

Disclosure Statement will be
sent to persons entitled

If the entity has issued options,
and the terms entitle option
holders to participate on
exercise, the date on which
notices will be sent to option
holders

Date rights trading will begin (if
applicable)

Date rights trading will end (if
applicable)

How do *security holders sell
their entitlements in full through
a broker?

How do *security holders sell
part of their entitlements through
a broker and accept for the
balance?

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.

Appendix 3B Page 4

1/1/2003



Appendix 3B
New issue announcement

32 How do ‘*security holders
dispose of their entitlements
(except by sale through a
broker)?

33  *Despatch date

Part 3 - Quotation of securities

You need only complete this section if you are applying for quotation of securities

34  Type of securities

(tick one)
(a) Securities described in Part 1
{b) All other securities

Example: restricted securities at the end of the escrowed period, partly paid securities that become fully paid,
employee incentive share securities when restriction ends, securities issued on expiry or conversion of
convertible securities

Entities that have ticked box 34(a)

Additional securities forming a new class of securities

Tick to indicate you are providing the information or

documents

35 If the *securities are *equity securities, the names of the 20 largest holders of
the additional *securities, and the number and percentage of additional
*securities held by those holders

36 If the *securities are *equity securities, a distribution schedule of the additional
*securities setting out the number of holders in the categories
1-1,000
1,001 - 5,000
5,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 100,000
100,001 and over

37 A copy of any trust deed for the additional *securities

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Entities that have ticked box 34(b)

38 Number of securities for which
*quotation is sought

39 Class of *securities for which
quotation is sought

40 Do the *securities rank equally in
all respects from the date of
allotment with an existing *class
of quoted *securities?

If the additional securities do not

rank equally, please state:

» the date from which they do

o the extent to which they
participate for the next
dividend, (in the case of a
trust, distribution) or interest
payment

o the extent to which they do
not rank equally, other than in
relation to the next dividend,
distribution or interest
payment

41 Reason for request for quotation
now

Example: In the case of restricted securities,
end of restriction period

(if issued upon conversion of
another security, clearly identify
that other security)

Number *Class

42  Number and “class of all
*securities quoted on ASX
(including the securities in clause
38)

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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Quotation agreement

1

*Quotation of our additional *securities is in ASX's absolute discretion. ASX
may quote the *securities on any conditions it decides.

We warrant the following to ASX.

The issue of the *securities to be quoted complies with the law and is
not for an illegal purpose.

There is no reason why those *securities should not be granted
*quotation.

An offer of the *securities for sale within 12 months after their issue
will not require disclosure under section 707(3) or section 1012C(6)
of the Corporations Act.

Note: An entity may need to obtain appropriate warranties from subscribers for the securities in order to be
able to give this warranty

Section 724 or section 1016E of the Corporations Act does not apply
to any applications received by us in relation to any *securities to be
quoted and that no-one has any right to return any *securities to be
quocted under sections 737, 738 or 1016F of the Corporations Act at
the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

We warrant that if confirmation is required under section 1017F of
the Corporations Act in relation to the *securities to be quoted, it has
been provided at the time that we request that the *securities be
quoted.

If we are a trust, we warrant that no person has the right to return the
*securities to be quoted under section 1019B of the Corporations Act
at the time that we request that the *securities be quoted.

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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3 We will indemnify ASX to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any
claim, action or expense arising from or connected with any breach of the
warranties in this agreement.

4 We give ASX the information and documents required by this form. If any
information or document not available now, will give it to ASX before
*quotation of the *securities begins. We acknowledge that ASX is relying on
the information and documents. We warrant that they are (will be) true and
complete.

M '

Sign here: : Date: 8™ July 2005
(Birector/Company Secretary)
Print name: ... JOHN RANDALL...........

+ See chapter 19 for defined terms.
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